# Texas Medical Center Library DigitalCommons@The Texas Medical Center

UT GSBS Dissertations and Theses (Open Access)

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

5-2013

# Galectin-3 Enhances the Malignant Melanoma Phenotype by Regulating Autotaxin

Russell R. Braeuer

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs\_dissertations Part of the <u>Cancer Biology Commons</u>, and the <u>Medicine and Health Sciences Commons</u>

### **Recommended** Citation

Braeuer, Russell R., "Galectin-3 Enhances the Malignant Melanoma Phenotype by Regulating Autotaxin" (2013). UT GSBS Dissertations and Theses (Open Access). Paper 340.

This Dissertation (PhD) is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences at DigitalCommons@The Texas Medical Center. It has been accepted for inclusion in UT GSBS Dissertations and Theses (Open Access) by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@The Texas Medical Center. For more information, please contact laurel.sanders@library.tmc.edu.



# GALECTIN-3 ENHANCES THE MALIGNANT MELANOMA PHENOTYPE BY REGULATING AUTOTAXIN

Α

# DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of

The University of Texas

Health Science Center at Houston

And

The University of Texas

M.D. Anderson Cancer Center

Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements

For the Degree of

# **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

By

Russell R. Braeuer, B.S.

Houston, Texas

May 2013

## **GALECTIN-3 ENHANCES THE MALIGNANT MELANOMA**

# PHENOTYPE BY REGULATING AUTOTAXIN

By

## Russell R. Braeuer, B.S.

**APPROVED:** 

Sal-

Menashe Bar-Eli, Ph.D Supervisory Professor

Gary E. Gallick, Ph.D.

Jeffrey E. Gershenwald, M.D.

Dina Lev, M.D.

Steven E. Ullrich, Ph.D.

## **APPROVED:**

Dean, The University of Texas Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

# Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my mother, Sharon Newsom, for her unwavering support and my father, Ronald Braeuer, for instilling a strong work ethic into my life.

To my stepfather, Daniel Newsom, for his help, interest, and support in my life. To my stepmother, Rebecca Braeuer, for her friendship.

To my two sisters, my brother in law, niece, and nephew. Their love over the duration of my graduate career made life far more enjoyable and filled with endless laughter.

#### Acknowledgements

It is with great appreciation that I acknowledge and thank the people who have been involved in my research projects, as well as those who have made the time during my training and education a great experience.

I would like to express my upmost gratitude to my mentor and Ph.D. advisor, Dr. Menashe Bar-Eli. His patience, guidance, and encouragement allowed me to complete this dissertation. The amount of information I learned about melanoma, cancer, and the metastatic process is by far the most precious knowledge I have gained throughout the history of my education.

The members of my advisory, examining, and supervisory committees (Dr. Gary E. Gallick, Dr. Jeffrey E. Gershenwald, Dr. Dina Lev, Dr. Stephen E. Ullrich, Dr. Janet E. Price, Dr. Pierre D. McCrea, and Dr. Rosemarie Schmandt) are greatly appreciated for their guidance, support, and criticism which allowed me to become a better scientist. I would like to also thank Dr. Woonyoung Choi for her help with performing and analyzing the Illumina gene expression array and Donna Reynolds for her help and guidance with immunohistochemistry.

The mental support, experimental help, and guidance received, along with the friendships that were gained from the past and current lab members cannot be underestimated (Dr. Maya Zigler, Dr. Takafumi Kamiya, Dr. Andrey S. Dobroff, Li Huang, Dr. Aaron Mobley, Dr. Vladislava O. Melnikova, Einav Shoshan, Dr. Hua Wang, Mayra Vasquez, and Dr. Rendu Song). Their presence created a wonderful laboratory experience that will forever be cherished. I would also like to thank friends from the Smith Research Building (Dr. Mai Tran, Dr. Steven Reyes, Dr. Matt White, Dr. Goodwin Jinesh, and Dr. Xiaoxiao Hu) for the fun and memorable times shared.

Finally, I would like to thank all faculty members, students, and staff at the University of Texas Health Science Center and M.D. Anderson Cancer Center, especially those of the MDACC Cancer Biology Department.

# GALECTIN-3 ENHANCES THE MALIGNANT MELANOMA PHENOTYPE BY REGULATING AUTOTAXIN

Publication No.\_\_\_\_\_

Russell R. Braeuer, B.S.

Supervisory Professor: Menashe Bar-Eli, Ph.D.

In melanoma patient specimens and cell lines, the over expression of galectin-3 is associated with disease progression and metastatic potential. Herein, we have sought out to determine whether galectin-3 affects the malignant melanoma phenotype by regulating downstream target genes. To that end, galectin-3 was stably silenced by utilizing the lentivirus-incorporated small hairpin RNA in two metastatic melanoma cell lines, WM2664 and A375SM, and subjected to gene expression microarray analysis. We identified and validated the lysophospholipase D enzyme, autotaxin, a promoter of migration, invasion, and tumorigenesis, to be down regulated after silencing galectin-3. Silencing galectin-3 significantly reduced the promoter activity of autotaxin. Interestingly, we also found the transcription factor NFAT1 to have reduced protein expression after silencing galectin-3. Electrophoretic mobility shift assays from previous reports have shown that NFAT1 binds to the autotaxin promoter in two locations. ChIP analysis was performed, and we observed a complete loss of bound NFAT1 to the autotaxin promoter after silencing galectin-3 in melanoma cells. Mutation of the NFAT1 binding sites at either location reduces autotaxin promoter activity. Silencing NFAT1 reduces autotaxin

expression while over expressing NFAT1 in NFAT1 negative SB-2 melanoma cells induces autotaxin expression. These data suggest that galectin-3 silencing reduces autotaxin transcription by reducing the amount of NFAT1 protein expression. Rescue of galectin-3 rescues both NFAT1 and autotaxin. We also show that the re-expression of autotaxin in galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells rescues the angiogenic phenotype *in vivo*. Furthermore, we identify NFAT1 as a potent inducer of tumor growth and experimental lung metastasis. Our data elucidate a previously unidentified mechanism by which galectin-3 regulates autotaxin and assign a novel role for NFAT1 during melanoma progression.

Title Page	i
Signature Page	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Abstract	vi
Table of Contents	viii
List of Figures	xiii
List of Tables	xvi
CHAPTER 1: Introduction and Background	1
Melanoma Incidence	1
Clinical Staging and Survival	1
Melanoma Development	3
Genetic Alterations During Melanoma Progression	5
Status of Current Treatment Modalities for Metastatic Melanoma	12
Galectins	15
Structural Properties of Galectins	15
Galectin-1 and Galectin-9 in Cancer	16
Galectin-3 in Cancer	21
Cell Adhesion, Invasion, and Angiogenesis	21
Anti-Apoptotic Properties of Galectin-3	24
The Potential of Treating Cancer by Targeting Galectin-3	25
Galectin-3 in WNT/β-Catenin Signaling	27

# **Table of Contents**

Galectin-3 and its Regulation of Downstream Genes	
Specific Aims	31

(	CHAPTER 2: Materials and Methods	32
	Cell Culture	32
	Lentiviral shRNA and siRNA	32
	Nontargatable Galectin-3 Expression Vector	33
	Autotaxin and NFAT1 Expression Lentiviral Vector	34
	Western Blot Analysis	34
	Invasion and Migration Assays	35
	Soft Agar Colony Formation Assay	35
	Semi Quantitative RT-PCR	35
	mRNA Stability Assay	36
	Autotaxin Activity Assay	36
	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay	37
	Reporter Constructs and Luciferase Activity Analysis	37
	Nuclear Run-On Assay	38
	Immunoprecipitation of FLAG-tagged NFAT1	38
	Immunohistochemistry and Immunofluorescence	39
	Tumor Growth and Metastasis	39
	Expression Microarray	40
	Statistical Analysis	40

CHAPTER 3: Specific Aim 1	41
Determine the In Vitro Migratory, Invasive, and colony Formation Potential of	
Melanoma Cell Lines After Silencing Galectin-3 Expression with Lentiviral-	
Based shRNA	41
Introduction	41
Results	43
Expression Analysis of Galectin-3 in a Melanoma Cell Panel	43
Silencing Galectin-3 in WM2664 and A375SM Metastatic	
Melanoma Cell Lines	45
The In Vitro Migratory and Invasive Phenotype of Melanoma Cells	
After Silencing Galectin3	47
Soft Agar Colony Formation of Galectin-3 Silenced Melanoma Cells	52
Discussion	54

# CHAPTER 4: Specific Aim 2

Identification of Novel Downstream Target Genes of Galectin-3 that Contribute	to
the Metastatic Melanoma Phenotype	55
Sub-Aim 2.1: Galectin-3 as a Potential Regulator of Autotaxin Expression in	
Melanoma Cells	55
Introduction	55
Results	57
Silencing Galectin-3 Changes the Gene Expression Profile of WM2664	
Melanoma Cells	57

Autotaxin Expression and Activity is Reduced in Melanoma Cells
After Silencing Galectin-360
Autotaxin is Regulated by Galectin-3 at the Transcriptional Level
Silencing Galectin-3 Reduces the Protein Expression of the
Transcription Factor NFAT1, a Known Regulator of Autotaxin
NFAT1 Enhances the Promoter Activity and Expression of Autotaxin73
Rescue of Galectin-3 in Melanoma Cells Results with the Rescue of
NFAT1 and Autotaxin79
Galectin-3, NFAT1, and Autotaxin Expression are Positively
Correlated in Melanoma Cells81
Galectin-3 Maintains the Expression of NFAT1 at the Post-
Translational Level
Discussion
Sub-Aim 2.2: Autotaxin and NFAT1 Contribute to Melanoma Growth
and Metastasis94
Introduction94
Results
Over Expression of Autotaxin in Galectin-3 Silenced Cells Partially
Rescues Tumor Growth and Metastasis In Vivo95
NFAT1 Expression is Required for the Malignant Melanoma Phenotype106
Discussion110
Summary114
References117

# List of Figures

CHAPTE	R 1: Introduction and Background
Figure 1.	Molecular and Genetic Changes During Melanoma Progression11
Figure 2.	Carbohydrate Binding and Structural Properties of Galectin-3
	and its Family Members19
Figure 3.	The Contribution of Galectin-3 to Melanoma Growth and Metastasis
СНАРТЕ	R 3: Determine the In Vitro Migratory, Invasive, and Colony
Formatio	n Potential of Melanoma Cell Lines After Silencing Galectin-3
Expressio	on with Lentiviral-Based shRNA
Figure 4.	Galectin-3 is Expressed at Higher Levels in Metastatic
	Human Melanoma Cell Lines44
Figure 5.	Stable Transduction of Galectin-3 shRNA is Efficient at
	Reducing Galectin-3 Expression in both WM2664 and A375SM
	Melanoma Cell Lines
Figure 6.	The Migratory Phenotype of Melanoma Cells After Silencing
	Galectin-3
Figure 7.	The Invasive Potential of Melanoma Cells After Silencing Galectin-350
Figure 8.	Colony Formation of WM2664 and A375SM Melanoma Cells
	in 0.6% Agar

# **CHAPTER 4: Identification of Novel Downstream Target Genes of Galectin-3** that Contribute to the Metastatic Melanoma Phenotype Sub-Aim 2.1: Galectin-3 as a potential regulator of Autotaxin **Expression in Melanoma Cells** Figure 9. The Heat Map Comparing WM2664 NT shRNA with Figure 12. Silencing Galectin-3 Reduces mRNA Transcription as Observed by the Nuclear Run-On Assay ......67 Figure 13. Dual Luciferase Activity of the Autotaxin Promoter is Figure 14. NFAT1 Protein Expression is Reduced After Silencing Figure 15. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation of NFAT1 on the Autotaxin Promoter is Lost after Silencing Galectin-3 ......75 Figure 16. Dual Luciferase Promoter Activity is Reduced in the Presence of NFAT1 Binding Site Mutations......76 Figure 17. Silencing NFAT1 Decreases Autotaxin Expression in

Figure 18.	Silencing NFAT1 in A375SM Melanoma Cells Reduces	
	Autotaxin Expression and Activity	78

Figure 19.	The Rescue of Galectin-3 Rescues NFAT1 and Autotaxin
	Protein Expression
Figure 20.	The Expression of NFAT1 and Autotaxin in Melanoma Cell Lines
Figure 21.	NFAT1 is Degraded at the Protein Level After Silencing Galectin-386
Sub-Aim 2	2.2: Autotaxin and NFAT1 Contribute to Melanoma Growth
and Metas	itasis
Figure 22.	The Over Expression of Autotaxin is Confirmed in
	A375SM Melanoma Cells
Figure 23.	Re-Expression of Autotaxin in Galectin-3 Silenced
	Melanoma Cells Partially Rescues Tumor Growth
Figure 24.	Microvascular Density is Increased in Galectin-3 shRNA
	Tumors that Have Autotaxin Over Expression101
Figure 25.	VEGF Expression is Slightly Reduced After Silencing Galectin-3102
Figure 26.	The Number of TUNEL Positive Cells in A375SM Xenograft Tumors103
Figure 27.	Relative mRNA Expression of LPA Receptors in Melanoma Cell Lines104
Figure 28.	Reduced Lung Metastasis by Silencing Galectin-3 is Partially
	Rescued with the Re-Expression of Autotaxin105
Figure 29.	NFAT1 Increases the <i>in Vitro</i> Invasive Phenotype108
Figure 30.	Silencing NFAT1 in A375SM Melanoma Cells Reduces
	Tumor Growth and Experimental Lung Metastasis in Nude Mice109
Summary	
Figure 31.	Proposed Mechanism by Which Galectin-3 Contributes
	to Melanoma Progression

# List of Tables

CHAPTER 1: Introduction and Background
<b>Table 1.</b> Tumor Staging and Classification
CHAPTER 4: Identification of Novel Downstream Target Genes of Galectin-3
that Contribute to the Metastatic Melanoma Phenotype
Sub-Aim 2.1: Galectin-3 as a potential regulator of Autotaxin
Expression in Melanoma Cells
<b>Table 2.</b> Top Potential Genes Down Regulated after Silencing Galectin-3

# **CHAPTER 1:**

## **Introduction and Background**

### **Melanoma Incidence**

Melanoma is the deadliest form of skin cancer. In 2012 alone, it is estimated that another 76,250 individuals will acquire melanoma and 9,180 deaths will occur [1]. Cutaneous melanoma comprises for 5% of all new male cancer patients, and the fifth most prevalent following prostate, lung, colon, and urothelial cancer respectively. The incidence in women for 2012 is lower and comprises 4% of all cancer patients with only breast, lung, colon, uterine, and thyroid cancer being more prominent [1]. Cutaneous melanoma affects all races and ethnicities; however, in the U.S., Non-Hispanic whites are most likely to acquire the disease over their lifetime, followed by Hispanics, Native Americans, Asians, and African Americans. Interestingly, males have a higher incidence rate compared to females in all ethnicities [2].

### **Clinical Staging and Survival**

In the clinic, melanoma is classified into four distinct stages. The current staging system is based upon a few criteria; tumor thickness, number of lymph node metastasis involved, and the presence of distant metastasis [3]. Primary tumors with no identifiable metastasis are categorized in the first two stages; stage I and II. Patients with stage I melanoma are presented with primary tumors with a thickness of less than 2 mm. Stage I patients are further sub classified into IA and IB. IA tumors are less than 1 mm thick with no ulceration and have less than 1 mitotic cell per mm<sup>2</sup>. Although IB tumors are also classified as less than 1mm thick, these tumors are either ulcerated or have greater than 1 mitotic cell per mm<sup>2</sup>. Stage IB

includes T2a melanoma which is a tumor with a Breslow thickness of up to 2 mm; however, no ulceration is present. In these tumors, the mitotic rate has become a reliable predictor for patient survival with lower mitotic rates having a better prognosis [4]. Stage II melanoma patients are sub classified into IIA, IIB, and IIC. These sub-stages are classified based on the thickness of tumors ranging from 1mm to greater than 4mm, and whether ulceration is present (Table 1) [3]. The survival rate of patients with primary melanomas varies greatly. Stage IA and IB patients have a 10 year survival rate of greater than 80%. However, Stage II melanoma patients have a 10 year survival rate of approximately 40%-70% with the poorest prognosis being associated with ulcerated primary tumors that are greater than 4 mm thick [3]. Although tumor thickness could be seen as the likely cause for such variation in survival, the mitotic rate and the presence of ulceration are also important in predicting the outcome of patients and are both independent predictors of survival [3, 5]. In 't Hout et al. has reported that the Melanomaspecific 10 year survival rate of patients with or without ulceration is 62% and 81% respectively. Patients with ulcerations that are greater than 5 mm in diameter have a 33% chance of survival at 10 years as compared to 69% in ulcerated tumors less than 5mm wide. Interestingly, in their study, the mitotic rate was significantly associated with the presence of ulceration [5]. Stage III melanoma classifies patients with regional lymph node or in transit/ satellite metastasis. These patients are further subgrouped into stage IIIA, IIIB, and IIIC. The criteria for classification include the number of regional lymph nodes involved, the size of the lesion within the node (micro- vs. macrometastasis), and whether in transit metastasis is observed (Table 1). As expected, patients that have macrometastasis or multiple lymph nodes involved have a poorer 10 year survival rate of approximately 25-35% as compared to patients with one or two lymph nodes involved with micrometastasis (approximately 45-65%) [4].

Patients with Stage IV disease are presented with distant metastasis to organs such as the lung, liver, and brain. These patients have the worst prognosis with a 10 year survival rate of less than 20% [4].

### Melanoma Development

Melanoma is thought to develop in a stepwise manner. The initial event during this process is the proliferation of normal melanocytes. These benign nevi present slightly raised lesions in the skin with uniform coloration and histology specimens show an increase in the number of melanocytes laying near the basement membrane [6]. Next, aberrant uncontrolled growth of the benign nevus occurs to develop a dysplastic nevus with random atypia. Random atypia is generally classified as sporadic cells with enlarged and abnormal nuclei. Clinically these lesions can appear asymmetric with multiple colors [6]. The cells then acquire the ability to divide and spread throughout the epidermis called the radial-growth phase (RGP). The cells now show continuous atypia throughout the lesion, and clinically can sometimes be observed as raised lesions. Although a few cells can penetrate into the dermis, they fail to form colonies in soft agar in vitro [6]. However, as the tumor progresses, more cells invade into the dermis, proliferate, and form a lesion beyond the basement membrane border of the epidermis. This is termed the vertical-growth phase (VGP). These cells can grow in soft agar and are tumorigenic when implanted in nude mice [6]. The final step of the primary tumor is for melanoma cells to enter the lymphatic system and drain to local (sentinel) lymph nodes or intravasate into the vasculature and circulate, survive, and proliferate in distant organ sites termed metastasis.

Α.

								-		
Classification	Thickness (mm)	Ulceration Status/Mitoses		Clinical Staging		Pathologi		ologic Sta	c Staging	
Т				Т	N	M		Т	N	N
Tis	NA	NA	0	Tis	NO	Mo	0	Tis	NO	N
T1	≤ 1.00	a: Without ulceration and	IA	T1a	No	Mo	IA	T1a	NO	M
		mitosis < 1/mm <sup>e</sup>	IB	T1b	NO	MO	IB	T1b	NO	M
		mitoses ≥ 1/mm <sup>2</sup>		T2a	NO	Mo		T2a	NO	M
T2	1.01-2.00	a: Without ulceration	IIA	T2b	No	Mo	IIA	T2b	NO	M
		b: With ulceration		T3a	NO	Mo		T3a	NO	M
T3	2.01-4.00	a: Without ulceration	IIB	T3b	NO	Mo	IIВ	T3b	NO	M
		b: With ulceration		T4a	NO	Mo		T4a	NO	M
T4	> 4.00	a: Without ulceration	IIC	T4b	NO	Mo	ШС	T4b	NO	M
		b:With ulceration	UI.	Any T	N > NO	MO	IIIA	T1-4a	N1a	M
N	No. of Matastatic Nodae	Nodal Matastatic Rurdan						T1-4a	N2a	M
N	NO. OF MIELDSCALLE NOUES	Nodal Metastatic Builden					IIIB	11-4b	N1a	M
NO	0	NA						11-4b	N2a	M
N1	1	a: Micrometastasis						11-4a	N1b	IVIO
		b: Macrometastasis						T1-4a	NZD	IVI
N2	2-3	a: Micrometastasis						11-4a	NZC	IVI N.4
		b: Macrom etastasis					IIIC	T1 4b	ND	IVI M
		c: In transit metastases/satellites						T1.4b	N20	M
No		without metastatic nodes						Apy T	NI2	M
N3	4 + metastatic nodes, or matted nodes, or in		DV.	Δην Τ	AmrN	M1	D/	AnyT	Amy N	M
	transit		14	Any 1	Anyis	1911	14	Any i	Any is	191
	metastases/satellites									
	with metastatic nodes									
М	Site	Serum LDH								
Mo	No distant metastases	NA								
M1a	Distant skin, subcutaneous, or nodal metastases	Normal								
M1b	Lung metastases	Normal								
M1c	All oth er visceral metastases	Normal								
	Any distant metastasis	Elevated								

# Table 1. Tumor Staging and Classification

(A) The melanoma TNM categories are tumor thickness (T), lymph node involvement and size of metastasis (N), and location of metastasis (M). (B) Stages I-IV are classified based on the TNM categories. Adapted with permission from Balch CM et al, J Clin Oncol 2009.

### **Genetic Alterations during Melanoma Progression**

Throughout melanoma progression, multiple genetic and epigenetic events occur that allow for the development of cutaneous melanoma and ultimately metastasis. For example, the genetic alterations in genes such as BRAF, NRAS, PTEN, CDKN2A, and cyclin D1 have integral roles in the transition of benign nevi to premalignant lesions (Figure 1). BRAF is a member of the RAF family and acts on the map kinase (MAPK), RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK, pathway [7]. The V600E activating mutation within the kinase activation domain of BRAF occurs in approximately 40-60% of melanoma patients [8, 9]. This is the most prevalent mutation in melanoma and indicates an important role for the MAPK pathway in melanoma progression. Not surprisingly, NRAS, the upstream molecule which activates BRAF, is also mutated in melanoma patients. However, it is only mutated in approximately 20%-30% of melanoma patients [10, 11]. These two mutations are mutually exclusive from each other, and approximately 20-40% of patients do not have either BRAF or NRAS mutations. Although the MAPK pathway seems essential for melanoma development, reports have shown that mutations in BRAF occur in 80% of melanocytic nevi, yet, all of these nevi do not progress into primary melanomas [12]. It has also been reported that the introduction of BRAF<sup>v600E</sup> in melanocytes can induce cell senescence and apoptosis [13]. This is counterintuitive to the data that overwhelmingly implies  $BRAF^{V600E}$  is critical for melanoma progression. This can be explained by acknowledging that other molecules cooperate with BRAF to release cells from senescence and continue with uncontrolled growth. Indeed, the tumor suppressor gene cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (CDKN2A) has been found to inhibit BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> induced growth. Through alternative mRNA splicing, this gene encodes both p16<sup>Ink4A</sup>, an inhibitor of the cyclin D/CDK4 complex, and the alternate open reading frame p14<sup>ARF</sup>, an inhibitor of the p53 regulator MDM2 [7, 14, 15]. The levels of p16<sup>Ink4A</sup> expression in melanocytic nevi is greatly increased as compared to normal skin, therefore potentially responding to and restricting the proliferative effects of  $BRAF^{v600E}$  [16]. Mutations in the p16<sup>Ink4A</sup> gene have been reported in 7% of primary melanomas and 14% of metastatic lesions [17]. The CDKN2A gene is more frequently associated with mutations in patients with family history of melanoma, and sun exposure. Other genetic events involved in melanoma progression greatly influence their likelihood of developing the disease [18, 19]. These other genetic events could include BRAF and NRAS activating mutations. Without p16<sup>Ink4A</sup> acting as a "brake" in these patients to induce senescence, melanocytic nevi could potentially respond to MAPK activation and progress to melanoma. One report indicates that this is true in the clinic as promoter methylation of p16 correlated significantly with NRAS mutations [20]. However, another clinical study suggests that there is no correlation between CDNK2A gene deletion and BRAF/NRAS mutations [21]. Yet, the latter study did not indicate the presence of methylation or gene expression of CDNK2A in patients that did not have genetic deletion. Nonetheless, the release of MAPK induced senescence is most likely attributed to other genes as well as CDKN2A.

The development of melanoma has also been associated with the loss of PTEN. PTEN acts as a phosphatase to remove phosphates from lipids such as phosphatidylinositol phosphate (PIP<sub>3</sub>) which acts as an intracellular signal induced by growth factors or other extracellular stimuli [6, 22]. PIP<sub>3</sub> then recruits phosphoinositide-dependent kinase 1 (PDK1), which then phosphorylates the survival factor AKT [23]. PIP<sub>3</sub> (PtdIns(3,4,5)) is converted back to PIP<sub>2</sub> (PtdIns(4,5)) by PTEN, thus inactivating the AKT signaling cascade [22]. Initial studies identified that chromosomal deletion on 10q occurred in 30-50% of melanomas [24, 25]. Later

it was discovered that the tumor suppressor PTEN (hence its name; phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted from chromosome ten) was located within this region [26]. Further studies demonstrated that mutation/deletion rates of PTEN occur in 30-40% and 10% of cell lines and primary melanomas respectively [27, 28]. By using immunohistochemistry, it was observed that 90% of the melanomas with no PTEN expression had no mutation or deletion, indicating its loss of expression is also attributed to epigenetic regulation and transcriptional repression [29]. The effect of PTEN loss in melanoma contributes to cell survival and proliferation primarily through AKT activation. Three isoforms of AKT exist with >80% amino acid homology; AKT1, AKT2, AKT3 [30]. Phosphorylation of AKT is increased in the transition from dysplastic nevi to primary melanomas [30]. This phosphorylation affects multiple processes. The up-regulation of N-cadherin and its intracellular interaction with AKT can lead to the inactivation of the pro-apoptotic molecule BAD, thus promoting survival of melanoma cells [31].

The up regulation of NF $\kappa$ B is associated with AKT activation in melanoma. AKT phosphorylates and activates IKK $\beta$  which in turn phosphorylates the inhibitor of NF $\kappa$ B, I $\kappa$ B, to allow for NF $\kappa$ B transcriptional activation and subsequent transcription of pro-tumorigenic and angiogenic genes such as IL-8, VEGF, Cox-2, Bcl-2, and MMPs [32-34]. I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ -transfected melanoma cells decreased tumor size and experimental lung metastasis [35]. The microvascular density was reduced in these tumors as well as the expression of both IL-8 and VEGF [35].

During the transition from the RGP to the VGP, the acquisition of the metastatic melanoma phenotype correlates with the loss of the transcription factor activator protein 2 alpha (AP-2 $\alpha$ ). In less metastatic melanoma cells, AP-2 $\alpha$  is highly expressed, while its

7

expression is significantly reduced, if not completely lost, in metastatic melanoma cells [36]. The expression of a dominant negative AP-2 $\alpha$  in low-metastatic SB-2 cells increased tumor growth and MMP-2 expression *in vivo* and enhanced their migratory phenotype *in vitro* [37]. Its expression is inversely correlated with that of pro-tumorigenic genes such as the membrane adhesion molecule MCAM/MUC18 and the protease activated G-protein-coupled receptor PAR-1 [36, 38]. Indeed, AP-2 $\alpha$  binds to the promoters of both genes and suppresses their transcriptional activity [36, 38]. However, as melanoma progresses and the loss of AP-2a occurs, the expression of MCAM/MUC18 and PAR-1 expression increases. The cell adhesion molecule MCAM/MUC18 is an important mediator of melanoma progression and silencing MCAM/MUC18 expression by lentiviral shRNA has shown a significant reduction in melanoma cell migration, invasion, MMP-2 expression, and tumor growth and metastasis [39]. PAR-1 is an important inflammatory molecule that promotes normal platelet aggregation through its cleavage on the extracellular domain by thrombin which acts as a "tethered ligand". In melanoma, PAR-1 signaling is important for tumor growth and metastasis by enhancing vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and MMP-2 expression within the tumor microenvironment, and increasing the expression of another pro-tumorigenic gene, Connexin-43, while suppressing the tumor suppressor gene Maspin [40-42].

Another transcription factor that plays a crucial role during the transition from RGP to VGP is the transcription factor c-AMP response element-binding protein CREB (Figure 1). Although studies in our lab have shown that CREB protein expression does not change significantly in non-metastatic vs. metastatic cells, its phosphorylation and activation is increased in metastatic melanoma [43]. This could be due to multiple factors. One of these factors is the ability to respond to signals within the tumor microenvironment. CREB in the

highly metastatic A375SM cell line is phosphorylated in the presence of the platelet activating factor receptor (PAFR) ligand platelet activating factor (PAF) [44], while PAF did not increase CREB phosphorylation in low metastatic SB-2 cells [45]. PAFR levels were similar in both cell lines, suggesting that intermediate signaling proteins are absent in less metastatic cells which results in reduced CREB activity. Once activated, CREB induces the expression of multiple pro-tumorigenic genes including MUC18 and MMP-2 [46]. CREB also inhibits the expression of genes during melanoma progression. One of these genes is CYR61. Silencing CREB results in increased expression of CYR61 and reduced motility and invasion *in vitro* and tumor growth in metastasis in vivo. The over expression of CYR61 resulted in reduced invasion in vitro, and decreased tumor growth and metastasis in vivo [43]. CREB can act as a survival factor in melanoma as cell. Over expressing a dominant negative form of CREB increased melanoma cell susceptibility to apoptosis [47]. We have also shown that silencing CREB increases the cell cycle inhibitor p21<sup>waf1</sup>. Increased CREB activity during melanoma progression directly suppresses AP-2 $\alpha$  expression. AP-2 $\alpha$  is a known positive regulator of p21<sup>waf1</sup>. Therefore, CREB has a profound effect on melanoma cells by regulating other transcription factors that regulate multiple genes involved in melanoma progression [48].

Another member of the CREB family, activating transcription factor-2 (ATF-2), has been implicated in melanoma [49, 50]. Once activated, ATF-2 leads to the deregulation of c-Jun, cyclin A, and TGF $\beta$  to induce cell growth and melanoma progression [51-54]. Inhibiting ATF-2 can significantly reduce the tumorigenic and metastatic potential of melanoma cells [50].

The deregulation of the transcription factors SNAIL and SLUG also promote melanoma progression. These transcription factors are known to negatively regulate E-cadherin, a

molecule lost during melanoma progression, and their over expression in melanoma cell lines results in reduced levels of E-cadherin [55]. By using siRNA to target SLUG, it was demonstrated that the expression of SLUG is required for melanoma cell invasion [46]. Silencing SLUG also increases melanoma cell susceptibility to chemotherapeutic drugs such as cisplatin and fotemustine [56].



## Figure 1. Molecular and Genetic Changes during Melanoma Progression

The progression of melanoma is a stepwise process. From benign nevus to dysplastic nevus genetic mutations occur within the BRAF or NRAS genes. The loss of PTEN or p16<sup>INK4A/ARF</sup> expression are early events in a subset of melanomas. The tumor then grows radially throughout the epidermis termed the radial growth phase. The acquisition of multiple factors such as CREB and NFkB activation as well as enhanced expression of MCAM/MUC18, PAR1, II-8, MMP-2 and galectin-3 induce the degradation of the basement membrane and invasion of melanoma cells termed the vertical growth phase (VGP). Finally, a few select melanoma cells intravasate, circulate, and survive in distant organ sites where metastasis forms. Reproduced with permission from Miller AJ and Mihm MC Jr., N Engl J Med 2006, Copyright Massachusetts Medical Society, and Melnikova et al, Cancer Biol Ther 2008.

### **Status of Current Treatment Modalities for Metastatic Melanoma**

The first approved drug for the treatment of malignant melanoma was the DNA damaging compound dacarbazine (DTIC) in 1975 [57]. DTIC or its oral analogue temozolamide remains the standard of care for malignant melanoma. However, the response rate is low at approximately 5-12%. Long term response occurs in less than 2% of patients [58]. High dose IL-2 therapy is another Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved option for patients with inoperable disease. Unfortunately, only a 16% response rate is observed; however, 6% of the patients have a complete response [59]. The treatment of patients after all melanoma is surgically removed, termed adjuvant therapy, with stage II and III disease is another technique used to reduce the likelihood of disease progression. After primary tumor resection, thick tumors (>4mm) with no sentinel lymph node involvement (Stage II patients) may receive adjuvant therapy such as high dose interferon- $\alpha$  [59]. This therapy may include unwanted side effects. Therefore, the risk of metastasis, potential benefits, and side effects must be included in the decision process. If regional lymph node involvement is found, stage III patients undergo lymphadenectomy followed by consideration of adjuvant therapy.

Recently, clinical trials focusing on intratumoral T-cells and boosting their antitumor activity by targeting the T-lymphocyte associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) with the blocking antibody, ipilimumab, have shown promise. CTLA-4 expression on T-cells acts as a "break" by recognizing self and inhibiting the autoimmune response. Blocking CTLA-4 results in a more robust T-cell reaction towards melanoma cells [60]. A phase III clinical trial conducted with previously untreated stage IIIC and IV melanoma patients with ipilimumab plus DTIC increased two year survival rate to 28.5% as compared to 17.9% with DTIC alone [61]. These results have led to the FDA approval of ipilimumab for the treatment of advanced melanoma

[62]. Inhibiting another T-cell checkpoint molecule, PD-1, has shown promise in a phase I clinical trial that included melanoma, non-small-cell lung cancer, prostate, or colorectal cancer [63]. Treatment with the anti-PD-1 antibody BMS-936558 generated an objective response rate of 28% (26 of 94 patients). Of these 26 patients, 13 have had a sustained response for over 1 year [63]. Interestingly, the phase 1 study also showed that melanomas that do not express the PD-1 ligand on tumors, PD-L1, have no response to anti-PD-1. Only patients with the disruption of the PD-L1 ligand on tumors cells with PD-1 on T-cells had a response to therapy [63]. A small subset of patients qualify for this treatment regimen (PD-L1 expressing tumors), and according to the trial, only a small percentage of those patients have an objective response. Although modulation of the T-cells are showing modest responses, they are still a step in the right direction in regards to the immunotherapeutic potential for malignant melanoma treatment.

Recently, with the identification of mutated and activated genes in melanoma progression, compounds targeting specific molecules have found their way into clinical trials. Among the compounds garnering the greatest attention are those that target the mutant BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutation. In 2011 the FDA approved the first BRAF inhibitor, vemurafenib (PLX-4032), for the treatment of advanced metastatic melanoma [64]. In 2011, a study was conducted on unresectable stage III and distant metastatic stage IV patients. The response rate was 48% and a median progression free survival of 5.3 months as compared to 1.6 months with DTIC alone [65]. In a more recent study of patients with stage IV disease, vemurafenib had an overall response rate of 53%, progression free survival of 6.8 months, and the overall survival rate at 16 months was 50% [66].

Brain metastasis has been considered a terminal prognosis for melanoma patients with few treatment options. An intact blood-brain barrier would complicate the transfer of drugs into the metastatic lesion. Fortunately, for the treatment of melanoma brain metastasis, tumors tend to create a "leaky" vasculature. Indeed, using another BRAF inhibitor, dabrafenib, in a phase II trial, 20% of melanoma patients had an intracranial response with a duration of 20 and 28 weeks in previously untreated or previously treated brain metastasis patients respectively. Median overall survival of patients with brain metastasis was still rather low at 33 weeks [67]. Nonetheless, targeted therapy for brain metastasis is a promising method of treatment.

Resistance to BRAF inhibitors is almost certain. Usually this is due to the upregulation of the MAPK pathway by alternative means, such as c-RAF, increased activity of RAS, increased expression of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) like insulin like growth factor receptor (IGFR), or the increased activation of the pro-survival PI3K/AKT pathway [68, 69]. Furthermore, 50% of melanoma patients do not harbor the BRAF mutation, and these patients must not be ignored in regards to targeted therapy. BRAF resistance and non BRAF mutant melanomas have led to the development of MEK and AKT inhibitors. Although in their infancy, phase I trials targeting MEK and AKT are showing promise for the treatment of all melanoma patients [70]. Targeting up-regulated molecules in BRAF resistance will undoubtedly be the next step in the treatment of melanoma patients. The investigation of other molecules and their role in melanoma progression could also lead to new therapeutic targets. In our case we will focus on galectin-3 and further evaluate its effect on the metastatic melanoma phenotype.

## Galectins

### Structural Properties of Galectins

The evolutionarily conserved galectins share a unique structure termed the carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) [71] The CRD within the galectin family share characteristic amino acid sequences as well as an affinity for  $\beta$ -galactoside sugars (such as lactose), albeit, at a relatively weak affinity [72, 73]. Galectins bind to cell surface and extracellular matrix proteins at a much higher affinity due to the complex glycans present on proteins [73]. For example, galectin-3 preferentially binds to poly-N-acetyllactosamine-containing ([-3Gal $\beta$ 1– 4GlcNAc $\beta$ 1-]n) glycans which are processed by MGAT enzymes [73]. After the initial transfer of Glc3Man9GlcNAc2 by oligosaccharyltransferase in the endoplasmic reticulum, the glycoprotein is further processed sequentially by MGAT 1, 2, 4 and 5, with removal of mannose groups when needed by the mannosidase enzyme ManII. Finally, in the trans-Golgi,  $\beta$ galactosidases remove GlcNAc and add N-acetyllactosamine (Figure 2A) [74]. Galectin-3 binds well with glycans containing three to four repeating acetyllactosamines [73]. Other galectins recognize slightly different glycans. Galectin-1 binds to poly-N-acetyllactosamine as well, but requires a terminal  $\beta$ -galactose residue to bind at a high affinity. Although galectins have a similar CRD, the overall protein structure can vary. Therefore, they have been subdivided into three unique groups (Figure 2B). The prototypical galectins contain a single CRD and can form homodimers with itself. These galectins include galectin-1, 2, 7, 10, 13, and 14. Tandem-repeat galectins have two CRDs within the same protein. The CRDs are connected by a small peptide domain that can range from 5 to 50 amino acids in length. Galectin-4, 8, 9, and 12 are all members of the tandem-repeat galectins [73]. Interestingly, the two CRDs on the same protein can have different binding properties. In the case of galectin-8,

the amino-terminal CRD binds to sialylated glycans while the c-terminal CRD has no binding affinity to sialylated glycans [73]. The third group of galectins, the chimeric galectins, is unique in that it currently has only one known family member in vertebrates, galectin-3. The group name implies its protein structure; a molecule with multiple domains that represent different structures. The c-terminal end consists of the CRD domain that is present in all galectins; however, unlike other galectins, it also contains a proline rich collagen like domain, and at the n-terminal end can be post-translationally modified which alters its functional properties [75].

### Galectin-1 and Galectin-9 in Cancer

Although there are currently more than 15 galectin family members, relatively few galectins have been extensively studied in cancer. Those that have been studied have shown a variety of effects on tumor development. Besides galectin-3, galectin-1 might be the most studied galectin in cancer. Galectin-1 has been shown to enhance the progression of cervical, lung, ovarian cancer, glioma, and melanoma [76-80]. It can have an effect on tumor growth through intracellular mechanisms or by influencing the tumor stroma and microenvironment. For instance, galectin-1 binds to T-cell membrane glycoproteins. Binding of galectin-1 to the T-cell surface proteins CD7, CD43, and CD45 is necessary for galectin-1 induced apoptosis of activated T cells [81-84]. Silencing galectin-1 in B16F10 murine melanoma cells can significantly reduce tumor growth *in vivo* [85]. However, another group reported that tumor growth is not effected by galectin-1 expression in Rag<sup>-/-</sup> Jak<sup>-/-</sup> mice (mice that do not have B- or T-cells) suggesting that galectin-1 affects tumor growth through immunosuppression in this model [86]. Direct interaction with melanoma cells by galectin-1 has also been observed. This

induces melanoma cell aggregation by binding to the 90k/MAC-2BP glycoprotein [87]. Once aggregated, the outer layer of cells act as a barrier protecting this embolic unit in circulation from mechanical and immunological damage. These aggregated cells are more likely to survive and grow in the distant organ parenchyma [88]. Although galectin-1's primary function is carbohydrate binding dependent, intracellular roles have also been established. The interaction of galectn-1 with RAS molecules has been extensively studied by Yoel Kloog and others. For instance, the activated, GTP loaded HRAS briefly binds to galectin-1 at the cellular membrane creating nanoclusters of HRAS. This signal is then propagated to RAF and the downstream MAPK pathway [89]. Galectin-1 is essential for membrane localization of HRAS. Silencing galectin-1 with shRNA results in a dispersed HRAS throughout the cytoplasm and galectin-1 antisense reduced the number of HRAS transformed Rat-1 cells [90]. Although, this has significant implications in other cancers, these studies are less important in melanoma. NRAS is the RAS family member commonly deregulated during melanoma progression and it has been reported that this nanoclustering phenomenon does not occur with NRAS. Furthermore, with 50% of melanoma patients harboring an activating mutation in the downstream target of NRAS, BRAF, it is less likely that galectin-1 contributes to melanoma growth by this manner. Yet other roles such as cell aggregation, immune suppression, and cell survival have been established which could potentially enhance melanoma development and chemotherapeutic resistance. Interestingly, galectin-1 can be found in the nucleus where it binds to the spliceosome complex, and enhances splicing of mRNA substrates [91]. However, currently, no known specific pre-mRNA targets have been established. Identifying whether galectin-1 enhances the expression of pro-tumorigenic genes through mRNA splicing must be further studied in melanoma. Cell survival and the inhibition of apoptosis has become a critical problem in regards to chemotherapy. Silencing galectin-1 renders B16F10 cells more sensitive to temozolomide treatment *in vitro*, thus, targeting galectin-1 in melanoma could prove useful [92].

Not all galectins have a pro-tumorigenic effect. In melanoma, reduced galectin-9 expression significantly correlates with lymph node metastasis, and galectin-9 expressing primary tumors were less likely to metastasize [93]. Furthermore, the 5 year overall survival was significantly better in patients whose primary melanomas expressed high levels of galectin-9 [93, 94]. In vitro galectin-9 induces aggregation of melanoma cells through its CRD [93]. However, in vivo, galectin-9 secretion from melanoma cells reduced the number of experimental lung metastasis [93]. Intravenous injection of galectin-9 also resulted in fewer metastatic lung colonies of B16F10 melanoma cells [95]. In vitro the authors show that melanoma cell binding to the cell adhesion molecule commonly located on endothelial cells, VCAM-1, is reduced in the presence of exogenous galectin-9. This phenomenon is carbohydrate binding dependent as the melanoma cell binding to VCAM-1 is rescued with the addition of lactose [95]. Galectin-9 also inhibited melanoma cell adhesion to collagen I, IV, fibronectin, and laminin coated plates [95]. Therefore, galectin-9 might prohibit melanoma cell adhesion to endothelial membrane proteins and extracellular proteins rather than "bridge" them together, thus, inhibiting the migratory and metastatic phenotype of melanoma.



Β.



Figure 2
## Figure 2. Carbohydrate Binding and Structural Properties of Galectin-3 and its Family Members

(A) Oligosaccharyltransterase (OT) transfers the glycan to N-X-S/T motifs in the endoplasmic reticulum. The glycol protein is then transported to the Golgi where it is further modified in the cis-, medial- and trans- Golgi. The disassociation constant ( $K_d$ ) is shown for galectin-3 and the processed glycans. The lower the  $K_d$  in  $\mu$ M, the tighter the bond. (B) The three different types of galectins are shown with the corresponding galectins within each group. An example of each group and their functions are given. Prototypical galectins have one CRD and dimerize together. Tandem-repeat galectins have two CRD that are linked by short peptide. Galectin-3 belongs in the chimeric group in which it contains one CRD, a collagen like domain, and an N-terminal domain. Adapted from Lau KS and Dennis JW, Glycobiology 2008 and Braeuer RR et al, Pigment Cell and Melanoma Res 2012.

#### **Galectin-3 in Cancer**

#### Cell Adhesion, Invasion, and Angiogenesis

The glycosylation process by mannosyl (alpha-1,6-)-glycoprotein beta-1,6-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase (MGAT) enzymes is critical for galectin-3 binding to  $\beta$ -galactosides. Galectin-3 can either homodimerize with itself at the N-terminal domain, or can form a pentameric structure when binding to multiple glycans [94] Silencing MGAT1 in HeLa and PC-3 cells significantly reduced their migratory phenotype. MGAT1 shRNA also resulted in significant reduction of PC-3 orthotopic tumor growth and lung metastasis in nude mice [96]. MGAT5 silencing in PC-3 cells has shown a marked reduction in their invasive phenotype as well as reduced tumor growth after orthotopic injection in the prostate glands of mice [97]. Studies have shown that highly metastatic B16F10 murine melanoma cells have high levels of branched N-oligosacharides as compared to less metastatic B16F1 cells [98]. When incubated on lung tissue specimens, B16F10 melanoma cells adhered at a much higher affinity as compared to B16F1. The lung specimens also had higher levels of galectin-3, and the authors postulate that galectin-3 in the lung parenchyma is important for the attachment of melanoma cells to the lung endothelium [98]. This hypothesis is supported with galectin-3 knockout mice by which B16F10 lung metastasis is significantly reduced. They reported that host galectin-3 is required for melanoma cell extravasation into the lung and binding of B16F10 melanoma cells to tissue sections from Gal-3<sup>-/-</sup> mice was also less as compared to wild type mice [99]. Galectin-3 has a profound effect on immunosurveillance of tumor cells. Exogenous galectin-3 can induce T-cell apoptosis [100]. CD45 expression on the surface of T-cells increases the apoptotic sensitivity [101]. Galectin-3 also binds to and reduces the association of T-cell receptors (TCR) with CD4 or CD8 co-receptors. The inhibition of galectin-3 with modified citrus pectin increased the expression of IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) by tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) (Figure 3) [102].

The expression of galectin-3 is not limited to the stromal tissue. Its expression is also found in tumor cells. High levels of immunohistochemical staining have been correlated with the progression of melanoma, glioma, breast, colon, and thyroid cancer [103-106], and its expression in melanoma tumors isolated from patients can be found in both the cytoplasm and nuclear compartments [103]. Galectin-3 has a prominent role in cancer cell motility. Silencing galectin-3 in B16F10 murine melanoma, and pancreatic cancer cell lines significantly reduces their migratory phenotype as analyzed by the *in vitro* wound healing scratch assay [107, 108]. The overexpression of galectin-3 in colon cancer DLD-1 cells increased motility, lamellipodia formation, and the rate of wound closure as observed by the scratch assay [109]. MAPK phosphorylation was increased in a KRAS dependent manner in DLD-1 cells when galectin-3 is overexpressed. Silencing KRAS reduced the motility of galectin-3 overexpressed DLD-1 cells [109]. The link between KRAS mediated motility and galectin-3 is not surprising. Galectin-1 has already been shown to nanocluster HRAS and galectin-3 has been reported by the same group to bind with KRAS [110]. The CRD of galectin-3 could potentially bind to the farnesyl group of KRAS. Changing this hydrophobic pocket with a V125A substitution rendered the over expression of galectin-3 ineffective on KRAS nanoclustering. More interestingly, silencing of galectin-3 reduced the amount GTP loaded KRAS [111]. This could be a significant finding for cancers such as thyroid, colon, and pancreatic cancer. However, like galectin-1, galectin-3 has far less of an effect on NRAS nanoclustering [112]. Its effect on motility is not only attributed by RAS signaling. Galectin-3 co-localizes with N-cadherin in cancer cells, and this lattice structure is blocked with the addiction of lactose or MGAT5 siRNA [113]. Therefore, extracellular galectin-3 contributes to N-cadherin localization at lipid rafts and could contribute to N-cadherin turnover and migration [113].

The transition from the radial growth phase to the vertical growth phase requires more than just a migratory phenotype. The cells must degrade the basement membrane and the extracellular matrix in order to invade through the tissue and extravasate into the vasculature. Indeed, galectin-3 has been shown to affect the expression of matrix metalloproteinases, proteins involved in breaking down the extracellular matrix. Silencing galectin-3 in B16F10 melanoma cells reduces MMP-1 expression and results in decreased invasion through Matrigel [107]. Another matrix metalloproteinase, MMP-2, has reduced activity in galectin-3 silenced C8161 melanoma cells as observed by the zymography assay [114].

Interestingly, the collagen like domain of galectin-3 can be cleaved by MMP-2 between  $G^{32}$ - $A^{33}$  and  $A^{62}$ - $Y^{63}$  resulting in 27 and 22 kDa peptides. This has been considered as a potential tool for distinguishing between pro- or active MMP-2 in patient specimens by staining for cleaved galectin-3 [115]. Moreover, cleavage of galectin-3 by MMP-2 is functionally relevant in tumor growth. Cleavage resistant galectin-3 transfected BT-549 cells resulted in reduced tumor growth and angiogenesis *in vivo* compared to BT-549 with cleavable galectin-3 [115]. The authors identified that cleaved galectin-3, specifically peptides 1-62 and 33-250, acts as a migratory chemoattractant for endothelial cells [116]. Thus, cleavage of galectin-3 might contribute to angiogenesis. Others have shown that exogenous galectin-3 can induce VEGF expression in an AKT dependent manner and this contributes to tube like formation *in vitro*. However, they did not analyze whether whole or cleaved galectin-3 is responsible, nor is the mechanism by which galectin-3 contributes to AKT activity investigated [117]. It has also been suggested that galectin-3 binds to VEGFR2 on endothelial cells to prolong VEGF

signaling and enhance angiogenesis [118]. Galectin-3 can also enhance VEGF and bFGF mediated tube like formation of HUVEC cells *in vitro* by binding to integrin  $\alpha v\beta 3$  in a carbohydrate dependent manner. Blocking integrin  $\alpha v\beta 3$  or galectins-3 with lactose reduces the effect of VEGF and bFGF on angiogenesis [119]. Galectin-3 can also affect tube like formation of melanoma cells. As shown with C8161 cells, silencing galectin-3 results in reduced tube like formation on Matrigel coated wells [114].

#### Anti-Apoptotic Properties of Galectin-3

Targeting cancer cells by cytotoxic drug can be an effective chemotherapeutic approach to treating cancer patients. Unfortunately, the results are temporary or ineffective due to the inhibition of cancer cell apoptosis by various molecules. The intrinsic apoptotic pathway results in increased cytochrome-c release from the mitochondria. Cytochrome-c then binds with APAF1 to generate an apoptosome. Caspase-9 activation occurs and subsequent caspase-3 cleavage initiates cell death [120, 121]. This cell death pathway can be prevented by the inhibition of cytochrome-c release. The BCL-2 family of proteins are known to act as "gatekeepers" to prevent cytochrome-c release from the mitochondria [122]. Galectin-3 shares a similar NWGR motif that is located on the BH1 domain of the BCL-2 family [123, 124]. Phosphorylation of galectin-3 by casein kinase I at Ser6 has a significant effect on its glycan binding and apoptotic properties. Once phosphorylated, galectin-3 binds at a much lower affinity to extracellular proteins [125], and increases its anti-apoptotic function [126]. Under chemotherapeutic stress, endogenous galectin-3 in breast cancer cells is transported from the nucleus to the cytoplasm to inhibit apoptosis, however, Ser6 mutants remained within the nucleus and did not promote cell survival [127]. Phosphorylation at Ser6 is required for export from the nucleus and into the cytoplasm where it can act as an anti-apoptotic molecule [128]. This suggests that post-translational modification of galectin-3 has a profound effect on its functional role and cellular localization during cancer progression. Galectin-3 located at the surface can also enhance cell survival by inhibiting TRAIL-induced caspase-8 activation. TRAIL resistant cells have higher levels of galectin-3 that co-localize with TRAIL receptors at the plasma membrane [129]. In response to TRAIL, the receptors DR4 and DR5 are internalized. In the presence of galectin-3, the receptors remain located on the cell surface with the addition of TRAIL and apoptosis is less likely to occur [129]. Whether galectin-3 inhibits the initial activation of the death receptors by blocking TRAIL binding or through glycan branching of DR4 and DR5 thus preventing internalization remains unknown. More studies must be performed to identify how galectin-3 inhibits TRAIL induced cell death.

#### The Potential of Treating Cancer by Targeting Galectin-3

As galectin-3 acts as a pro-tumorigenic molecule, it seems advantageous to develop compounds that selectively target galectin-3 for potential cancer treatment. Targeting extracellular galectin-3 can be achieved by simply sequestering the CRD binding domain with polysaccharides rich in galactoside residues. These polysaccharides include modified citrus pectin (MCP) and okra pectin [130]. Modified citrus pectin, a soluble fiber from citrus fruit, is a non-toxic pectin that can be given orally [131]. MCP has been shown to reduce B16F10 cell aggregation and lung metastasis [130]. Oral delivery of MCP significantly reduced the number of spontaneous lung metastasis in a prostate cancer murine model [131]. The direct binding of galectin-3 to breast cancer cells is drastically reduced in the presence of MCP. MCP can also directly affect angiogenesis by blocking galectin-3 binding to endothelial cells which was

shown to reduce chemotaxic migration of HUVEC cells *in vitro* [132]. The okra pectin, rhamnogalacturonan, has also been shown to bind to galectin-3, and the addition of okra pectin in B16F10 cells induced apoptosis [133]. These non-toxic polysaccharides could prove useful for stage II patients who have no clinical evidence of metastatic lesions, but would prefer a safe adjuvant treatment after resection of the primary tumors with no unwanted side effects. However, this hypothesis need to be further evaluated.

Small peptides have also been found to have an affinity for the galectin-3 CRD [134]. A more promising therapeutic option is using these peptides as homing devices for galectin-3 expressing tumors. Conjugating galectin-3 targeting peptides to "packaged" liposomes containing cytotoxic drugs or siRNA could prove useful. One group has already shown that radiolabeled peptides targeting galectin-3 specifically bind to galectin-3 expressing tumors *in vivo* [135]. However, peptide uptake into the liver and kidneys is currently an obstacle that must be cleared before these treatment modalities could be considered safe and efficient.

Targeting galectin-3 with large molecules like pectins and peptides could however limit their therapeutic potential. These molecules do not readily pass through the plasma membrane, and therefore, they cannot inhibit intracellular galectin-3 functions. However, small molecule inhibitors could be developed to target both intracellular and extracellular functions of galectin-3 with one drug. The amino acid G182A mutation on galectin-3, located in the "NWGR" antideath domain of the CRD region has been shown to reduce cell survival as well as the carbohydrate binding to Gal $\beta$ 1-3glcNAc located on cell surface molecules [136]. Therefore, targeting amino acid G182 and the surrounding structure with a small molecule could potentially inhibit cell survival as well as prevent cell adhesion mediated metastasis.

#### Galectin-3 in WNT/β-Catenin Signaling

The canonical Wnt signaling pathway begins with a Wnt family ligand binding to the frizzled receptor. The frizzled receptor then recruits dishevelled to the membrane for activation. Once activated, dishevelled blocks GSK3 $\beta$  from phosphorylating  $\beta$ -catenin. This results in stable  $\beta$ -catenin and allows for its translocation from the cytoplasm to the nucleus to transcribe target genes [137]. The role that the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway plays in malignant This pathway has been reported to promote or antagonize melanoma is controversial. melanoma progression depending on the cells, patient samples used, or context of the genes involved [138]. Studies have shown that nuclear beta catenin correlates with improved survival and benign melanoma express higher levels of  $\beta$ -catenin as compared to metastatic melanomas [139-142]. Another report indicates that  $\beta$ -catenin expression in melanocytes inhibited their migratory phenotype, but the over expression of  $\beta$ -catenin in melanoma cells increased the number of experimental lung metastasis [143].  $\beta$ -catenin independent Wnt signaling by ligands such as WNT5A are associated with melanoma metastasis [144]. Galectin-3 is a binding partner of  $\beta$ -catenin and contains a GSK3 $\beta$  phosphorylation consensus sequence of S<sub>92</sub>XXXS<sub>96</sub> Indeed GSK3β phosphorylates galectin-3 [145, 146]. Casein kinase I (CK1) is also implicated in the WNT/Beta catenin pathway and CK1 mediated phosphorylation at Ser6 of galectin-3 occurs. However, unlike proteasomal degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin, phosphorylation of galectin-3 might have different effects such as nuclear localization or biological functions. Nevertheless, this implicates galectin-3 within the WNT signaling pathway. Its role on cancer progression has not been fully understood beyond the anti-apoptotic properties and nuclear localization resulting from phosphorylation at Ser6 by CK1.

#### Galectin-3 and its Regulation of Downstream Genes

Galectin-3 can affect multiple pathways by performing different functions such as carbohydrate binding on cell surface proteins, intracellular protein binding, and nuclear localization. These functions can have a profound effect on signaling pathways that affect the expression of multiple genes that could enhance tumor progression. Early research on galectin-3 identified the cell proliferation gene cyclin D1 as a downstream transcriptional target of galectin-3. Initial studies showed that the over expression of galectin-3 in breast epithelial cells enhanced the promoter activity of cyclin D1 [147]. Later, it was found that galectin-3 can bind directly with  $\beta$ -catenin and colocalize together within the nucleus. This resulted in up regulation of cyclin D1 and c-Myc in the breast BT549 epithelial cell line [145]. Interestingly, another group overexpressed galectin-3 in BT549 cells and observed the same increased expression of cyclin D1. Furthermore, by gene expression array, they identified a large group of genes that are deregulated when galectin-3 is over expressed and confirmed the up regulation of cyclin D1, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 5, protease serine 3, and dual specificity phosphatase 6 by western blot [148]. The over expression of galectins-3 with a Ser6 mutation to Glu did not have the same effects, showing the important nature of phosphorylation at Ser6 to induce the expression of select genes [148]. Moreover, injection of BT549 cells with the galectin-3 expression vector in nude mice generated tumors while the empty vector and Ser6 galectin-3 mutant remained tumor free for greater than 40 days [148].

Our lab has also reported that galectins-3 can differentially regulate genes that promote melanoma progression. Silencing galectin-3 in A375SM and C8161 results in reduced expression of the inflammatory cytokine interleukin-8 (IL-8) and fibronectin-1 [114]. The endothelia cell adhesion molecule VE-cadherin is highly expressed in C8161 melanoma cells.

Silencing galectin-3 in this cell line resulted in ~70% reduction of VE-cadherin. The transcription factor EGR-1 was found to bind to both the IL-8 and VE-cadherin promoter after silencing galectin-3. Over expressing EGR-1 significantly reduced VE-cadherin and IL-8 protein expression [114]. Therefore, it is likely that galectins-3 suppresses EGR-1 activity during melanoma progression. Galectin-3 silenced C8161 melanoma cells were injected into mice and showed а significant reduction in tumor growth and metastasis. Immunohistochemical staining confirmed the down regulation of IL-8, VE-cadherin, and MMP-2, and less vasculature was observed by CD31 staining [114]. Although, the expression of MMP-2 is significantly reduced in galectin-3 silenced C8161 cells, there was no observed change in A375SM cells. Therefore, galectin-3 regulation of select genes could be cell line dependent. These data clearly indicate that galectin-3 could regulate multiple genes during melanoma progression. Yet, the majority of the genes have yet been identified, and how they enhance the metastatic melanoma phenotype will have to be elucidated.



#### Figure 3. The Contribution of Galectin-3 to Melanoma Growth and Metastasis

Galectin-3 expression can enhance tumor cell binding with endothelial cells and potentially enhance melanoma cell extravasation. Galectin-3 inhibits immunosurveillance by inhibiting T-cell receptor and either CD4 or CD8 activation. In CD8 T-cells, this results in reduced IL-2, INF- $\gamma$ , and TNF levels. Binding of galectin-3 on CD45 in T-cells activates T-cell apoptosis. Intracellular galectin-3 can induce the expression of metastatic genes such as IL-8 and VE-cadherin. Adapted from Braeuer RR et al, Pigment Cell and Melanoma Res 2012.

#### **Specific Aims**

Galectin-3 is highly expressed in primary and metastatic melanoma patient specimens as compared to benign nevi [103]. Others have shown that galectin-3 increases the metastatic phenotype of B16F10 murine melanoma cells. We have previously shown that silencing galectin-3 can differentially regulate specific genes such as IL-8, VE-cadherin, and fibronectin [114]. In breast epithelial cells galectin-3 drastically changed their gene expression profile. Therefore, in melanoma, it is likely that novel, previously unidentified genes could be deregulated by galectin-3 in malignant melanoma cells. Our study will identify these novel downstream targets, characterize their regulation by galectin-3, and evaluate their role during melanoma progression.

### Therefore, we hypothesize that galectin-3 differentially regulates the expression of genes that promote the metastatic melanoma phenotype.

To test this hypothesis we developed the following aims:

- 1. Determine the *In Vitro* Migratory, Invasive, and Colony Formation Potential of Melanoma Cell Lines after Silencing Galectin-3 Expression with Lentiviral-Based shRNA
- 2. Identification of Novel Downstream Target Genes of Galectin-3 that Contribute to the Metastatic Melanoma Phenotype
  - 2.1. Galectin-3 as a Potential Regulator of Autotaxin Expression in Melanoma Cells
  - 2.2. Autotaxin and NFAT1 Contribute to Melanoma Growth and Metastasis

#### **CHAPTER 2:** Materials and Methods

#### Cell Culture

The A375SM melanoma cell line was established through intravenous injection of A375-P in which the pooled lung metastasis were collected and grown [149]. The WM2664 melanoma cell line was purchased from the American Type Culture Collection, and are highly metastatic in nude mice [150]. The SB-2 melanoma cell line was isolated from a primary cutaneous lesion and is non-metastatic and poorly tumorigenic in mice [151]. All cell lines except WM902B were cultured in Eagles minimum essential media (MEM) supplemented with 10% FBS. WM902B was culture in RPMI-1640 with 5% FBS. The human embryonic kidney cells (293FT) used for lentiviral shRNA and over expression vectors were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS.

#### Lentiviral shRNA and siRNA

Galectin-3 targeting shRNA 5'-GTACAATCATCGGGTTAAA-3' and Non Targeting shRNA 5'-TTCTCCGAACGTGTCACGT-3' were designed with a hairpin and inserted into a pLVTHm lentiviral vector. The lentivirus was then produced by transfecting 293FT cells with the pLVTHm vector containing either the Galectin-3 or NT shRNA sequence, the packaging plasmid (MD2G), and the envelop plasmid (PAX2) to produce a viable virus. The NT shRNA has no homology to any known human genes. The supernatant was collected containing a mature virus and was concentrated 10x. WM2664 and A375SM cells were plated at 70% confluence on a six well plate and were transduced with 500ul MEM / 500ul of supernatant containing the virus and were incubated overnight. The cells were then grown and the top 30%

GFP expressing cells were cell sorted by FACS. NFAT1 siRNA was purchased from Sigma and transfected into WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells by using HiPerFect Transfection Reagent (QIAGEN) according to the manufacturer's instruction. The siRNA sequence from Sigma targeting 5'-CTGATGAGCGGATCCTTAA-3' was used to stably silence NFAT1 by inserting it or NT shRNA into a PcDH vector and packaged within the lentiviral system as described above.

#### Nontargetable Galectin-3 Expression Vector

The Galectin-3 gene was amplified from A375SM cDNA with the following primers; gal-3AsclF- TTGGCGCGCCAAATGGCAGACAATTTTTCGCTCC and gal-3EcoR1R-CGGAATTCCGTTATATCATGGTATATGAAGCAC, cut with AscI and EcoR1 restriction enzymes, and inserted into the OG2 puromycin resistant vector. The Galectin-3 shRNA targeting site was mutated to <u>ATATAACCACCGTGTCAA</u> (underlined nucleotide designates mutated sites) with the following primers; gal-3mutF-GAATGATGCTCACTTGTTG-CAATATAACCACCGTGTCAAAAAACTCAATGAAATCAGC and gal-3mutR- GCTG-ATTTCATTGAGTTTTTTGACACGGTGGTTATATTGCAACAAGTGAGCATCATTC. The virus was then produced with the OG2 Empty vector or OG2-Gal-3 Rescue, MD2G, and PAX2 plasmids as previously described. WM2664 and A375SM Gal-3 shRNA cell lines were then transduced with 800ul MEM / 200ul supernatant containing virus overnight and were selected with MEM containing 1ug/ml puromycin.

#### Autotaxin and NFAT1 Expression Lentiviral Vector

Autotaxin and NFAT1 genes were cloned from A375SM cDNA. Autotaxin was cloned with the following primers; ATXXbaIF-TGCTCTAGAGCCACCATGGCAAGGAGGAGCTC-GTTCC and ATXBamHIR- CGGGATCCTTAAATCTCGCTCTCATATG. NFAT1 was cloned with the following primers; NFAT1XbaIF-GCTCTAGAGCCACCATGCAGAGA-GAGGCTGCGTTCAG and NFAT1NotIR-ATAAGAATGCGGCCGCTCATAATATGTTTT-GTATCCAG. Either gene was cut with the designated restriction enzymes, inserted into a PcDH vector and packaged in a lentiviral virus as previously described.

#### Western Blot Analysis

To detect Galectin-3 and NFAT1, 20ug of whole cell protein lysate was loaded on SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membranes. To detect Autotaxin protein expression, 1.5 million cells were plated in a 10cm dish and were incubated with 8ml of serum free MEM for 48hrs. The supernatant from cell culture was concentrated to 100ul, was protein precipitated as previously described, and resuspended in 6M urea lysis buffer [43]. A total of 10ug of protein from the supernatant was loaded onto SDS-PAGE. Blots were incubated with primary antibodies rabbit polyclonal anti-Galectin-3; anti-NFAT1 Santa Cruz Biotechnology; anti-Autotaxin Abcam. To confirm equal loading of the supernatant, the membrane was coomassie blue stained and destained with 40% methanol, 50% water, and 10% acetic acid until protein bands were visible.

#### Invasion and Migration Assays

Matrigel invasion assays were performed with Biocoat Matrigel invasion chambers (BD Biosciences) as previously described [43]. Boyden chambers were plated and assayed in the same manner. Wells were repeated in triplicate and the invaded/migrated cells were quantified per field of view and statistically analyzed.

#### Soft Agar Colony Formation Assay

A 0.6% agar in MEM bottom layer is plated in 6 well plates and allowed to solidify. The cells are then suspended in 0.8% agar/MEM and plated at  $5 \times 10^3$  cells per well in triplicate. Following 30 days incubation, the number of colonies is quantified in triplicate wells.

#### Semi Quantitative RT-PCR

Isolation of RNA was performed with the RNAqueous kit (Ambion) and reverse transcribed with the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems). Real time PCR was performed with the Autotaxin Taqman Gene Expression Assay and standardized to 18s (Applied Biosystems). LPAR1-6 Taqman Gene Expression Assays were acquired from Applied Biosystems. All six receptors were detectable by qRT-PCR and standardized to one with the SB-2 melanoma cell line. Autotaxin and NFAT1 Taqman Gene Expression Assays were acquired from Applied Biosystems and qRT-PCR was performed on WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells. Each probe was standardized to one with NT shRNA.

#### mRNA Stability Assay

Melanoma cells were subjected to 2, 4, 6, 8, or 12 hours of actinomycin D treatment at 10 ug/ul concentration followed by RNA isolation by the RNAqueous kit (Ambion). cDNA was generated and qRT-PCR for autotaxin was performed.

#### Autotaxin Activity Assay

To analyze Autotaxin lysophospholipase D activity, the fluorescent compound FS-3 (L-2000; Echelon) was used as previously described [152]. Briefly, cells were plated for supernatant collection as described previously. The supernatant was then concentrated to a volume of 250ul. A total of 50ul of supernatant from WM2664 and A375SM NT and Gal-3 shRNA cell lines were plated in triplicate in a clear bottom white walled plate. The volume for each well was brought up to 100ul with reaction buffer (Final concentrations in the assay: 140 mM NaCl, 5 mM KCl, 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 50 mM Tris, pH 8.0), and 5 μM FS-3. Serum Free MEM was used as a control to confirm that there is no lysophosholipase D activity within unconditioned media (data not shown). The plate was then placed in the Spectra Max Gemini EM (Molecular Devices) fluorescence reader at 37°C and read every two minutes for six hours with an excitation at 485 nm and emissions reading at 538 nm. A volume of 25 ul supernatant and 25 ul 2x loading buffer for each sample were run on SDS-PAGE and silver stained with Silverquest<sup>TM</sup> Silver Staining Kit (LC6070; Invitrogen) to confirm equal total protein concentration.

#### Chromatin Immunoprecipitation Assay

ChIP assays were performed with the ChIP-IT Express Enzymatic kit (53009; Active Motive) according to the manufacturer's protocol and as previously described [43]. Fixed protein DNA complexes were pulled down with anti-NFAT1 antibody (sc-7296; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), were Protein-DNA reverse cross-linked, and prepared for PCR. PCR was performed surrounding both NFAT1 binding sites with the following primers; NFATF-GCTCAAACTGCCAGCAAAAT and NFATR- CACAGGGTGTTCACAAATCG. The PCR product was run in a 1.5% agarose gel.

#### Reporter Constructs and Luciferase Activity Analysis

The Autotaxin promoter was cloned from A375SM melanoma cells to encompass 930 base pairs upstream of the transcriptional initiation site with the following primers; 930KPN1F-GGGGTACCCCCACAATAGCCTCAAAGG and 50BgHIR-GAAGATCTTCTCTTTGCCTT-CACGGAG. PGL-3 basic was cut with kpn1 and bgHI restriction enzymes and the Autotaxin promoter was inserted. Direct site mutagenesis of NFAT1 binding sites were carried out using QuikChange II XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene) according to manufacturer's instructions. Cells were plated in a 24 well plate with 2.0 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/ well. After 48 hours, transfection with Lipofectin (Invitrogen) was performed according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, each well was transfected with 0.8 µg of the basic pGL3 expression vector with no promoter sequence or with 0.8 µg of pGL3 with the inserted Autotaxin promoter, single mutation, or double NFAT1 mutation sites. As a control, 2.5 ng of cytomegalovirus (CMV) driven renilla luciferase construct (pRL-CMV, Promega) was included per well. Each group was plated in replicates of six. After 48 hours the cells were lysed, and luciferase activity was assayed with the Dual Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The ratio of PGL3 firefly to CMV-driven renilla luciferase activity was used to normalize each sample.

#### Nuclear Run-On Assay

Nuclear run-on was performed as previously described [153]. Briefly, the nuclei fractions of A375SM NT shRNA and Galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells was collected and RNA synthesis was performed *in vitro* with ATP, CTP, GTP, and biotin-16-UTP. Reaction was stopped after 30 minutes and 50ul of Dynabeads M-280 (Invitrogen) were added to capture biotin labeled RNA. The beads were then washed with 2x standard saline citrate and resuspended in H<sub>2</sub>O. RNA was synthesized into cDNA with the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit, and qRT-PCR was performed with SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems). Freshly transcribed Autotaxin was amplified in triplicate with ATXF-GTTCACTTTTGCCG-TTGGAG and ATXR-ACCTTCCTCCCATCCTTCTG and standardized to GAPDH primers; GapdhF- AAGGTCATCCCTGAGCTGAA and GapdhR- AGGTCCACCACTGACACGTT. The Rq Max is shown.

#### Immunoprecipitation of FLAG-tagged NFAT1

NFAT1 was inserted into the pFLAG CMV 5.1 plasmid. WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells with either NT shRNA or galectin-3 shRNA were plated into a 10cm dish. After 24 hrs, the pFLAG-NFAT1 CMV5.1 plasmid was transfected with FuGENE 6 (Roche). The proteasome inhibitor Bortezomib at 20 nM was added to the media. Following 24hrs, the cells were lysed and FLAG immunoprecipitated with the FLAG Immunoprecipitation Kit (Sigma)

according to the manufacturer's instructions. Western blot analysis of NFAT1 with anti-NFAT1 was then performed. Parental cells were used as a negative control for immunoprecipitation of FLAG.

#### Immunohistochemistry and Immunofluorescence

Mice were sacrificed and tumors were removed. Half of each tumor was formalin fixed and paraffin embedded while the other half was placed in optimum cutting temperature and frozen at -80°C. Mouse anti-Galectin-3 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) was used in combination with citrus buffer antigen retrieval and mouse anti-Autotaxin (Abcam) and anti-VEGF (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) with pepsin antigen retrieval in paraffin sections. Fragment blocking was performed overnight prior to addition of secondary HRP conjugated antibody. Anti-CD31 staining was used in mouse frozen sections to identify tumor blood vessels. TUNEL staining was performed using the DeadEnd Fluoremetric TUNEL system (Promega) with paraffin sections according to manufacturer's instructions.

#### Tumor Growth and Metastasis

Female Athymic Balb/c nude mice were purchased from Tanomics and were housed in pathogen free conditions. All studies were approved and supervised by The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). For the tumor growth model,  $1 \times 10^6$  cells were injected subcutaneously and tumor size was monitored twice a week for 27 days for Galectin-3 shRNA and 32 days for NFAT1 shRNA studies. Ten mice per group and eight mice per group for Galectin-3 and NFAT1 *in vivo* studies respectively were used. Mice were then sacrificed and tumors were collected. For

experimental lung metastasis, eight mice per group were sacrificed four weeks after  $5 \times 10^5$  cells were injected intravenously as previously described [43].

#### Expression Microarray

Total RNA was isolated from WM2664 NT and Galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells. RNA was converted into cRNA using the Illumina TotalPrep Amplificatin Kit (Ambion) and hybridized in triplicate to the HT-12 Version 3 Illumina chip. Gene expression analysis was performed between the two samples.

#### Statistical analysis

Student's t-test was performed for the analysis of *in vitro* assays. The Mann-Whitney U test was performed for statistical analysis of the *in vivo* tumor growth and metastasis results.

#### CHAPTER 3: Specific Aim 1

## Determine the *In Vitro* Migratory, Invasive, and Colony Formation Potential of Melanoma Cell Lines after Silencing Galectin-3 Expression with Lentiviral-Based shRNA

#### Introduction

During the transition from the RGP to VGP, melanoma cells must acquire the ability to invade through the basement membrane and migrate into the dermis where they enter the vasculature and travel to distant sites of metastasis. Galectin-3 could be a critical gene involved in this phenotype. Previous studies have shown that the addition of carbohydrate recognition domain competitors such as lactose or MCP can reduce the motility and invasion of breast cancer cells [154, 155]. Interestingly, in the murine B16F10 melanoma cell line, MCP reduced their ability to grow in soft agar [156]. Our lab has previously silenced galectin-3 in C8161 cells and showed a significant reduction in their ability to invade through Matrigel coated membranes, and silencing galectin-3 reduced the activity of MMP-2 [114]. Other labs have over expressed galectin-3 in non-cancerous cells and have shown increased invasive and migratory properties [157]. Furthermore, imunohistochemical analysis of patients' specimens identified galectin-3 to be highly overexpressed in primary and metastatic lesions as compared to benign nevi [103]. By evaluating previous evidence, we hypothesize that galectin-3 is a key player in the migratory and invasive phenotype of melanoma cells. Therefore, we stably

silenced galectin-3 with a lentiviral construct to determine the *in vitro* effect on migration, invasion, and soft agar colony formation.

#### Results

#### **Expression Analysis of Galectin-3 in a Melanoma Cell Panel**

We sought to determine the expression pattern of galectin-3 in our melanoma cell lines. We confirm that our more metastatic cell lines expressed higher levels of galectin-3 as compared to the less tumorigenic and metastatic melanoma cells. As displayed in figure 4, our highly metastatic cell lines (TXM18, WM2664, WM902B, 451-Lu, and A375SM) express higher levels of galectin-3 as compared to the less tumorigenic and metastatic melanoma cells (SB2, DX3, and DM4). Interestingly, C8161 melanoma cells, which are highly metastatic, invasive cells, express low levels of galectin-3. Although lower than other metastatic cells, its expression was enough to deregulate IL-8, VE-cadherin, and fibronectin as our lab has previously shown. Why galectin-3 is expressed less in c8161 is not completely understood. However, one brief study was performed. Our cell panel can potentially be separated into three groups. Those with NRAS, BRAF<sup>V600E/D</sup>, or other BRAF mutations. If analyzed in this manner, a striking observation was found. BRAF<sup>V600E/D</sup> mutant melanoma cells had higher levels of galectin-3. However, this is only preliminary data. A much larger scale analysis of galectin-3 corresponding to mutational status should be performed. Therefore, this observation could be due to our panel lacking enough highly tumorigenic NRAs and non BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> mutant cell lines.



## Figure 4. Galectin-3 is Expressed at Higher Levels in Metastatic Human Melanoma Cell Lines

Western blot analysis in melanoma cell lines was performed. The less tumorigenic DX3, SB2, and DM4 melanoma cell lines express far less galectin-3 than the more tumorigenic and metastatic TXM-18, WM2664, A375SM, WM902B, and 451-Lu cells. C8161 melanoma cells express less galectin-3; however, are still highly metastatic melanoma cells. The NRAS and BRAF mutation status is shown for each cell line.

#### Silencing Galectin-3 in WM2664 and A375SM Metastatic Melanoma Cell Lines

To establish the role that galectin-3 melanoma cells have on melanoma progression, we chose to stably silence galectin-3 in two metastatic and invasive melanoma cell lines that have high levels of galectin-3 expression. Of our cell panel, the cells that met these criteria were the WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cell lines. The two melanoma cell lines were then stably transduced with non-targetable (NT) or galectin-3 shRNA packaged lentivirus. The non-targeting shRNA sequence has no known homology to any known human gene, and will be used as a control throughout the study. The packaged vector utilizes the green fluorescent protein (GFP) based lentiviral system. After transduction, the cells for both NT and galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells were sorted for the top thirty percent of GFP fluorescence (based of GFP expression) by Fluorescent Activated Cell Sorting (FACS).

After cell sorting, both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cell lines transduced with NT or galectin-3 shRNA were grown. Western blot analysis was performed to determine the silencing efficiency of galectin-3 shRNA. By utilizing densitometry to normalize galectin-3 with actin, it was observed that both melanoma cell lines with galectin-3 shRNA have almost a complete knock down in galectin-3 expression as compared to the NT shRNA control (Figure 5). These cells were then used for our studies.



## Figure 5. Stable Transduction of Galectin-3 shRNA is Efficient at Reducing Galectin-3 Expression in both WM2664 and A375SM Melanoma Cell Lines

Galectin-3 expression is almost completely lost in both melanoma cell lines with the stable lentiviral based transduction of galectin-3 shRNA. Densitometry analysis for WM2664 cells confirms that approximately 90% of galectin-3 expression is lost. For A375SM cells, galectin-3 expression is almost completely lost.

## The *In Vitro* Migratory and Invasive Phenotype of Melanoma Cells After Silencing Galectin-3

To corroborate that galectin-3 reduces the migratory phenotype of melanoma cell lines, galectin-3 silenced WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells were subjected to the modified Boyden chamber migration assay. The cells were plated with serum free media in the top chamber and were incubated for 24 hours. The bottom chamber contained MEM media with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS) to act as a chemoattractant. The number of migrated cells through the Boyden chamber was then evaluated. A significant reduction in the number of migrated melanoma cells was observed after silencing galectin-3 in both WM2664 and A375SM cell lines,\*p < 0.01 (Figure 6). A more than 5 fold reduction is observed in WM2664 cells and more than 2 fold reduction with A375SM.

The lab has previously shown that silencing galectin-3 in C8161 cell lines reduce their invasive phenotype and reduced MMP-2 activity is observed [114]. To confirm that galectin-3 plays a role in the invasive potential of both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells were plated in Matrigel invasion chambers with serum free media. As with the migration assay, 20% FBS was used as a chemoattractant. As seen in Figure 7, the invasive capacity of melanoma cells is significantly reduced after silencing galectin-3, p < 0.01, with more than a 10 fold reduction in WM2664 and 3 fold reduction in A375SM. Therefore, our data supports the idea that galectin-3 is critical for the invasive phenotype of malignant melanoma cell lines.



Β.



Figure 6

A.

#### Figure 6. The Migratory Phenotype of Melanoma Cells after Silencing Galectin-3

The migratory phenotype of melanoma cells were analyzed by the Boyden chamber assay. (A) The number of migrated cells was counted per field. Silencing galectin-3 in both melanoma cell lines significantly reduced the number of migrated cells as compared to NT shRNA (\*P < 0.01). (B) Representative images are shown for the number of migrated cells for each cell line transduced with NT or galectin-3 shRNA.



Β.

Α.



Figure 7

#### Figure 7. The Invasive Potential of Melanoma Cells after Silencing Galectin-3

(A) The number of invaded cells through Matrigel is significantly reduced after silencing galectin-3 in both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells as compared to NT shRNA (\*P < 0.001). (B) A representative image for each cell line with either NT or galectin-3 shRNA is shown.

#### Soft Agar Colony Formation of Galectin-3 Silenced Melanoma Cells

The soft agar colony assay is a stringent method that has been widely used for the identification of anchorage independent growth and transformed cancers cells. This method has also been used to isolate circulating melanoma cells from periphery blood samples of patients with metastatic disease [158]. Studies with murine fibrosarcoma cells identified that metastatic cell clones were able to grow colonies in 0.6% soft agar while non-metastatic clones were almost completely restricted in growth [159]. Selection of breast cancer cells in 0.9% agar created cell clones that were very similar in their molecular phenotype as those from *in vivo* brain metastasis [160]. This method could give us a good indication on whether galectin-3 affects anchorage independent growth, a key indicator for the metastatic potential of melanoma cells. To that end, WM2664 and A375SM NT and galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells were mixed with 0.6% soft agar and plated. After thirty days of incubation, the number of soft agar colonies formed in soft agar from from 191 to 50 in WM2664 and from 131 to 40 in A375SM cells (P < 0.001).



Figure 8. Colony Formation of WM2664 and A375SM Melanoma Cells in 0.6% Agar

After incubation in soft agar for 30 days, the mean number of colonies was counted in triplicate. Silencing galectin-3 in WM2664 melanoma cells significantly reduced the number of soft agar colonies by more than threefold, while a greater than two fold reduction in the number of colony formation was observed in A375SM cells (\*P < 0.001).

#### Discussion

Herein, we report that silencing galectin-3 in WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells significantly reduces their migratory and invasive potential. Galectin-3 has previously been shown to induce the migratory and invasive phenotype of cancer cells. For example, silencing galectin-3 in B16F10 murine melanoma cells reduced MMP-1 expression and *in vitro* migration and invasion [107]. In sarcoma cells, galectin-3 increases the migratory phenotype in a carbohydrate dependent manner by activating PI3K and disrupting adhesion plaques [161]. The exogenous expression of  $\beta$ 1 integrin increases galectin-3 expression and the epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) phenotype in GE11 cells [162]. We have previously shown that silencing galectin-3 in C8161 melanoma cells reduces their ability to invade through Matrigel coated membranes [114]. Therefore, our data corroborate previous studies.

The metastatic potential of melanoma cells relies heavily on the ability for cells to survive and proliferate in anchorage independent conditions. The survival of melanoma cells is dependent on their ability to withstand the harsh microenvironment of the metastatic site. The soft agar assay is a good prognostic tool for identifying the metastatic potential of melanoma cells as it too represents a harsh microenvironment in which the cells must survive and grow in an anchorage independent manner. Guo et al have even suggested that the ability of cancer cells to grow in increasingly higher concentrations of soft agar, from 0.3% to 0.9% selects for more invasive breast cancer cells that are more likely to metastasize and grow in 0.6% soft agar as compared to non-metastatic clones [159]. Silencing galectin-3 in both metastatic melanoma cell lines significantly reduced their ability to grow in 0.6% soft agar. Therefore, we can predict that silencing galectin-3 reduces the metastatic potential of melanoma cells.

#### CHAPTER 4: Specific Aim 2

## Identification of Novel Downstream Target Genes of Galectin-3 that Contribute to the Metastatic Melanoma Phenotype

# Sub-Aim 2.1: Galectin-3 as a potential regulator of Autotaxin Expression in Melanoma Cells

#### Introduction

Previous data has indicated that galectin-3 can have a profound effect on the transcriptional regulation of genes. The overexpression of galectin-3 in breast epithelia cell lines changed the genomic signature that included genes such as cyclin D1. The change in expression of these unique genes caused cell transformation of BT549 breast epithelial cells [148]. Our lab has previously identified IL-8, VE-cadherin, and fibronectin as downstream targets of galectin-3 [114].

In aim 2, we sought out to identify novel downstream molecules regulated by galectin-3 that contribute to melanoma growth and metastasis. To further evaluate the effect galectin-3 has on the gene expression profile of melanoma cells, a gene expression microarray was performed (Illumina). Our microarray identified many potential targets including autotaxin (*ENPP2*). The regulation of autotaxin by galectin-3 was previously unknown. Therefore, we chose to elucidate this mechanism and identify how the interplay between these two molecules enhances melanoma progression.
Autotaxin was first identified as a pro migratory molecule in A2058 melanoma cells. However, the mechanism by which autotaxin enhanced their motility was unclear [163]. Although secreted, autotaxin was not considered a ligand for any known receptors. Only later was it realized that autotaxin contains a phosphodiesterase catalytic site that is required for the migratory phenotype [164]. Further evaluation matched the structure of autotaxin with a lysophospholipase D enzyme purified from fetal bovine serum which catalyzes lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) to the bioactive lipid, lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) [165]. LPA then acts as ligand for two types of G-protein-coupled receptors. This includes three from the endothelial differentiation gene (EDG) receptor family termed LPA1, LPA2, and LPA3. Three other receptors that respond to LPA are structurally similar to the purinergic receptor family and are termed LPA4, LPA5, and LPA6 [166, 167]. Activation of LPA receptors enhances Gprotein signaling and downstream targets such as PI3K/AKT, PKC, cAMP, and Ca+ influx [167]. This results in enhanced chemotaxis, migration, invasion, angiogenesis, and tumorigenesis in mice [168-170].

## Results

#### Silencing Galectin-3 Changes the Gene Expression Profile of WM26644 Melanoma Cells

To identify novel downstream targets of galectin-3, a cRNA microarray was performed with the Illumina HT-12 Version 3 chip. RNA from three separate 10cm dishes for both WMM2664 NT shRNA and galectin-3 shRNA cells were used to confirm reproducibility. The gene expression profile was randomly grouped. As expected, the three NT shRNA samples grouped with each other while the three galectin-3 shRNA samples generated another group with a similar gene expression profile (Figure 9). Our initial data suggest that silencing galectin-3 does indeed deregulate multiple genes in melanoma cells. We then analyzed our data to identify the genes with the greatest fold change in gene expression. We focused our attention on genes down regulated after silencing galectin-3 as they could likely be tumor promoting genes. The top identified genes were then sorted with ingenuity software based on their phenotypic function such as invasion, cell cycle, and tumor malignancy. The top potential candidate genes are shown in Table 2. Many pro-tumor genes such as endothelin receptor B, cathepsin K and B, cyclin dependent kinases, and l-plastin had reduced expression after silencing galectin-3 according to the gene microarray. Of the several potential genes, we focused our attention on autotaxin. Autotaxin was chosen due to previously published data that suggest autotaxin can enhance invasion, migration, and tumorigenicity. These same phenotypes are observed with galectin-3. Therefore, we hypothesize that galectin-3 might contribute to melanoma progression through its regulation of autotaxin.



# Figure 9. The Heat Map Comparing WM2664 NT shRNA with Galectin-3 shRNA Transduced Melanoma Cells

Total mRNA was isolated from three separate 10cm dishes for both WM2664 NT shRNA and galectin-3 shRNA. The cRNA from each sample was hybridized on an HT12 chip, Illumina. The three NT shRNA grouped together in a distinctly different gene expression profile from the galectin-3 silenced melanoma cells.

		Fold
Phenotype	Gene	Decrease
Invasion	Autotaxin (ENPP2)	2.33
	Osteopontin (SPP1)	2.05
Malignancy	Galectin-3 (Igals3)	7.14
	Stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD)	4.07
	Osteopontin (SPP1)	2.05
	Endothelin receptor B (EDNRB)	2.00
Cell Cycle	Cyclin A2 (CCNA2)	1.88
	Cyclin C (CCNC)	1.66
	CDC25B	1.90
Other	L-plastin (LCP1)	4.506
	Endothelin receptor like b	2.08
	Cathepsin B	1.59
	Cathepsin k	1.93
	MAPKKK1	1.74
	HIF-2α (EPAS1)	1.57

# Table 2. Top Potential Genes Down Regulated after Silencing Galectin-3

The top potential candidate genes are shown. These genes were down regulated after silencing galectin-3 in WM2664 melanoma cells as compared to the non-targeting (NT) control. The candidate genes were further subgrouped by ingenuity pathway analysis into known phenotypes caused by each gene. Note that our gene expression array confirmed that galectin-3 was silenced by more than seven fold. Autotaxin was reduced by more than 2 fold.

# Autotaxin Expression and Activity is Reduced in Melanoma Cells after Silencing Galectin-3

To corroborate our initial gene expression microarray, qRT-PCR and Western blot analysis was performed to measure autotaxin expression in WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells transduced with NT or Galectin-3 shRNA. Indeed, the mRNA expression of autotaxin was reduced by more than two fold after silencing galectin-3 in both melanoma cell lines (Figure 10A). Interestingly, intracellular autotaxin protein expression by whole cell lysis was unidentifiable. However, autotaxin is primarily secreted from cells were it performs its biological function. Therefore, the supernatant of melanoma cells was collected from nontargetable or galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells after 48hr incubation in serum free media. After methanol precipitation and isolation of the protein within the supernatant, a western blot was performed to identify the amount of autotaxin. As shown in Figure 10B, silencing galectin-3 drastically reduces the amount of autotaxin within the supernatant by more than tenfold. The disparity between mRNA and protein expression is not fully understood. One possibility is that silencing galectin-3 additionally reduces the translation rate or protein stability of autotaxin by unknown mechanisms. Another is that our method of precipitation and isolation of the supernatant results in low yields of protein. Five to ten µg of total lysate is loaded per well. Our autotaxin antibody might not be able to read such low levels of autotaxin expression in our gal-3 shRNA cells and thus, the amount of protein between groups appears greater. Nevertheless, these data confirm our initial microarray studies by which autotaxin expression is reduced after silencing galectin-3.

Although we identified that autotaxin protein levels are indeed reduced, we have yet to determine whether this has any relevance on tumor cell biology. Our foremost objective was to

determine whether autotaxin from our melanoma cells is indeed enzymatically active within the supernatant. To that end, we generated a protocol based on the autotaxin activity assay from Echelon. In this assay, the compound FS-3 is used. FS-3 is similar in structure as the endogenous lipid LPC. However, FS-3 contains a quencher where choline is located on LPC, and a fluorescent labeled R group (Figure 11A). If autotaxin is present in the system, it will cleave the quencher in the same manner it cleaves choline from LPC. This results in a fluorescent signal that is quantified by a fluorescent plate reader. To analyze FS-3 fluorescence in our study,  $1 \times 10^6$  melanoma cells were grown over a 24 hour period in serum free conditions followed by concentrating the supernatant to a total volume of 200ul. The media was then split into triplicate wells (50ul per well) with 50ul of 2x reaction buffer containing FS-3. As shown in Figure 11B, the amount of fluorescence is increased over a period of six hours in both WM2664 and A375SM NT shRNA melanoma cells. However, after silencing galectin-3, the rate of fluorescent activity is significantly reduced in both cell lines (Figure 11B). Autotaxin is the primary lysophospholipase D enzyme that converts LPC to LPA, and FS-3, and LPC analog, is considered to have a high affinity for autotaxin. Therefore, we conclude that the reduced rate of FS-3 activity is contributed by reduced levels of autotaxin. This can be translated to the biological system. Lower levels of autotaxin should result in lower levels of LPC conversion to the active LPA. Less LPA results in lower LPA receptor signaling.



Figure 10. Autotaxin Expression after Silencing Galectin-3

(A) The mRNA expression of autotaxin was analyzed after silencing galectin-3. A more than two fold reduction was observed in both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells. The error bar represents the Rq-Max of triplicate reactions. (B) The supernatant is collected from NT shRNA and Gal-3 shRNA transduced WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells, concentrated, methanol precipitated, and suspended in 6M urea lysis buffer. By western blot analysis, we observe a reduction of autotaxin expression after silencing galectin-3 by approximately tenfold in both cell lines. Coomassie blue membrane staining was used as a loading control.



Β.





Figure 11

# Figure 11. Autotaxin Activity After Silencing Galectin-3

(A) FS-3 is composed of both a quencher and fluorescent tag. The quencher mimics the choline site on LPC while the fluorescent tag replaces the R group. A fluorescent reading is achieved when cleavage of the quencher occurs by autotaxin. Adapted from Ferguson CG et al, Organic Letters 2006. (B) Mean fluorescence is plotted for each sample every two minutes for six hours (360 min). WM2664 and A375SM NT shRNA cell lines have a higher rate of fluorescent activity as compared to galectin-3 shRNA transduced cells. Equal volumes of the supernatant were run on a gel and silver stained to confirm equal protein loading.

### Autotaxin is Regulated by Galectin-3 at the Transcriptional Level

Our initial microarray and qRT-PCR studies confirm that galectin-3 regulates autotaxin However, we have yet to elucidate whether this is expression at the mRNA level. transcriptional or post-transcriptional regulation. To that end, we adopted the nuclear run-on method from Patron et al [153]. The intact nucleus is collected and incubated with ATP, GTP, CTP, and biotinylated UTP. The final mRNA transcript is transcribed by RNA polymerase II with the incorporation of biotinylated UTP. Pull down of the freshly transcribed mRNA by streptavidin beads, followed by qRT-PCR allowed us to identify real time transcription of autotaxin from A375SM NT shRNA and galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells. As observed by qRT-PCR, the amount of autotaxin mRNA that was actively transcribed in galectin-3 silenced A375SM melanoma cells was reduced by more than threefold (Figure 12A). MicroRNA's can have a profound effect on mRNA expression. We have yet to rule out that galectin-3 could differentially regulate genes such as microRNAs that could post-transcriptionally regulate autotaxin. To rule out any added post-transcriptional regulation of autotaxin by galectin-3, the rate of mRNA degradation was analyzed after the addition of actinomycin D, an inhibitor of mRNA synthesis. After standardizing both samples to one at time zero, there was no significant change in the degradation rate of mRNA (Figure 12B). Therefore, the reduced levels of autotaxin after silencing galectin-3 is through its transcriptional regulation and our data suggest that microRNAs are not involved.

With the nuclear run-on assay we were able to determine that autotaxin is regulated at the transcriptional level. However, it was still unclear how silencing galectin-3 results in transcriptional repression. To that end, the first 988 base pairs of the promoter prior to the autotaxin mRNA start site (~1Kb) were cloned and inserted in front of the luciferase gene in the PGL3 vector. After transfection of the PGL3 vectors in WM2664 and A375SM NT or galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells, luciferase activity was analyzed. Luciferase activity was significantly reduced in both melanoma cell lines after silencing galectin-3 (Figure 13). The 1Kb promoter in front of the luciferase gene is less active in galectin-3 shRNA transduced melanoma cells. Our data now confirm that the transcriptional regulation of autotaxin occurs within 1Kb of the mRNA start site.



Figure 12. Silencing Galectin-3 Reduces mRNA Transcription as Observed by the Nuclear Run-On Assay

A375SM melanoma cells tranduced with NT or Galectin-3 shRNA were used to confirm that silencing galectin-3 reudces the transcriptional activation of autottaxin. (A) The nuclear run-on assay was used with biotin labeld UTP. Pull down of biotinylated mRNA follwed by qRT-PCR shows a reduced amount of freshly transcribed autotaxin mRNA by aproximately 3 fold. (B) The rate of mRNA degradation is shown in the presense of actinomycin D over 12 hours. Time zero was standardized to one for both A375SM NT and galectin-3 shRNA samples. The rate of degradation does not change after silencng galectin-3. A drop at 4 hours is noticed in NT shRNA cells, however, this appears to be an outlier in our data.



# Figure 13. Dual Luciferase Activity of the Autotaxin Promoter is Reduced After Silencing Galectin-3

PGL-3 basic (no promoter) or the autotaxin 1Kb-PGL-3 vector were transfected into (A) WM2664 or (B) A375SM melanoma cells. Silencing Galectin-3 resulted in a significant reduction of luciferase activity in WM2664 melanoma cells (p<0.05) and was almost significant (p=0.06) in A375SM cells.

# Silencing Galectin-3 Reduces the Protein Expression of the Transcription Factor NFAT1,

## a Known Regulator of Autotaxin

Galectin-3 is not considered to have a direct effect on transcriptional activation. In our system, it is likely that galectin-3 affects a signaling pathway that leads to the increased activation of specific transcription factors that enhance autotaxin expression. Therefore, we analyzed the first 1Kb of the autotaxin promoter to identify potential transcription factor binding sites. Through online Genomatix promoter analysis, more than 300 candidate transcription factors binding sites were found. Two of these binding sites were for the transcription factor Nuclear Factor of Activated T-Cells 1 (NFAT1). Both locations were within 500bp of the autotaxin mRNA site (Figure 14A).

NFAT1 belongs to the NFAT family of proteins that include NFAT1, 2, 3, 4, and 5. The DNA binding domain is highly conserved within the NFAT1 family which can interact with Fos/Jun to initiate transcriptional activation [171]. NFAT1 was originally identified in T-cells as an inducible transcription factor that bound to the antigen receptor response element (ARRE-2) of the interleukin-2 (IL-2) promoter [172]. NFAT1 was found to be a downstream transcription factor of the canonical calcium signaling pathway and is tightly regulated by the Ser/Thr phosphatase calcineurin. Once  $Ca^{2+}$  is released within the cytoplasm from compartments such as the endoplasmic reticulum,  $Ca^{2+}$  and the protein calmodulin bind to the calcineurin regulatory domain. This generates a conformation shift to activate phosphatase activity. Calcineurin then binds to NFAT1 and dephosphorylates it's nuclear localization sequence (NLS). "Unmasking" the NLS of NFAT1 enhances its transport into the nucleus and increases transcriptional activity of target genes [171, 173]. NFAT1 activation by calcium influx can be blocked with calcineurin inhibitors such as cyclosporine A (CsA) and tacrolimus

(FK506) [174]. Inhibition of Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization by removing the stimulus or using calcineurin inhibition results in re-phosphorylation of NFAT1 within 5-15 min [175, 176]. Interestingly, this phenomenon in NFAT proteins can be repeated many times with the addition and removal of inhibitors. This suggests that constant regulation of NFAT by calcineurin and active kinases maintains the homeostatic balance in T-cells [175, 177].

NFAT1 expression has also been implicated in cancer. In breast cancer patient specimens, high expression of NFAT1 was identified in primary tumors and lymph node metastasis as compared to normal adjacent tissue [178]. Another group identified that NFAT1 enhances breast cancer cell invasion by up regulating the pro-inflammatory gene cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) [179]. The forced expression of integrin  $\alpha$ 6 $\beta$ 4 in breast cancer cells has been shown to activate NFAT1. This resulted in increased binding of NFAT1 to the autotaxin promoter as observed by the electrophoretic mobility shift assay and increased cellular motility of breast cancer cells[180]. Little is known about NFAT1 in melanoma. However, both NFAT2 and NFAT5 activity are increased in a BRAF<sup>V600E</sup>-dependent mechanism in melanoma [181], and interestingly, NFAT1 knockout mice have fewer metastatic lesions when injected with B16F10 murine melanoma cells [182]. Recently, it has been reported that silencing NFAT1 or adding CsA resulted in increased cleaved caspase-3 and the number of apoptotic cells [183].

Previous evidence connecting NFAT1 with autotaxin expression and cancer progression caused us to generate the hypothesis that galectin-3 regulates autotaxin potentially by regulating NFAT1. Our initial study was to first identify the protein expression status of NFAT1 in our melanoma cells before and after silencing galectin-3. To our surprise, a significant reduction in NFAT1 protein expression is observed when galectin-3 is silenced in both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells (Figure 14B). Therefore, it is likely that galectin-3 regulates autotaxin expression through NFAT1.



Α.

Β.

Figure 14. NFAT1 Protein Expression is Reduced After Silencing Galectin-3 in Melanoma Cells

(A) Two NFAT1 binding sites are located on the autotaxin promoter, both of which located within 300 bp of the transcriptional start site. (B) The protein expression of NFAT1 was analyzed. A significant reduction in NFAT1 was observed after silencing galectin-3 in both WME2664 and A375SM melanoma cells.

### NFAT1 Enhances the Promoter Activity and Expression of Autotaxin

We expect that reduced NFAT1 protein expression after silencing galectin-3 will result in less bound NFAT1 to the autotaxin promoter. To that end, we next tested whether galectin-3 silencing affects the binding of NFAT1 by utilizing the chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assay. We used an anti-NFAT1 antibody to IP DNA-NFAT1 complexes in melanoma cells. End point PCR was performed surrounding both NFAT1 binding sites. As shown in Figure 15, NFAT1 binds to the promoter of autotaxin in both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells. When galectin-3 is silenced, no NFAT1 was bound to the autotaxin promoter in both melanoma cell lines (Figure 15).

Chromatin immunoprecipitation confirms that NFAT1 binds to the autotaxin promoter. NFAT1 binding is lost after silencing galectin-3. However, it is unclear whether bound NFAT1 on the promoter has an effect on transcriptional activation. To further establish the role NFAT1 has, the dual luciferase promoter assay was used with mutations in the autotaxin promoter at site 209, 290, or dual mutation. Silencing galectin-3 results in an ~50% reduction of luciferase activity with the wild type promoter (Figure 16) corroborating our initial luciferase assay (Figure13). When the mutated promoters are inserted into NT shRNA melanoma cells, the luciferase activity is also reduced to ~50% of the wild type promoter. The mutations have no effect on luciferase activity in galectin-3 silenced melanoma cells as compared to the wild type promoter (Figure 16). Therefore, it is likely that our reduced promoter activity after silencing galectin-3 is a direct result of reduced NFAT1 protein expression and binding to the autotaxin promoter. Interestingly, the dual mutation did not have an additive effect. This result suggests that both sites are equally critical for transcription.

Whether NFAT1 affects endogenous autotaxin expression has yet to be determined. Thus, we sought to test whether silencing NFAT1 reduces autotaxin expression in melanoma. To that end, NFAT1 was transiently silenced with NFAT1 siRNA in WM2664 and A375SM cell lines. After 48 hours incubation in serum free media, total cell lysate was collected and the supernatant was concentrated, methanol precipitated, and suspended in 6M urea lysis buffer. As shown in Figure 17A, transient NFAT1 siRNA efficiently knocks down NFAT1 expression in the total protein lysate, and this resulted in reduced autotaxin expression within the supernatant. The overexpression of NFAT1 in SB-2 (low metastatic, NFAT1 negative) melanoma cells resulted in a significant increase of autotaxin expression within the supernatant (Figure 17B). However, there are two bands present when probed for autotaxin. The larger band consists of isoform 1. It is likely that the lower molecular weight band is another isoform of autotaxin (isoform 2 or 3), or is a non-specific band. Interestingly, this band is not seen in our more metastatic cell lines. These data concluded that the transcription factor NFAT1 drives autotaxin expression in melanoma.

A more efficient, stable knockdown of NFAT1 was achieved in A375SM with lentiviral shRNA targeting NFAT1 (Figure 18A). Autotaxin expression within the supernatant was significantly reduced, corroborating our siRNA results (Figure 18A). Since the conversion of LPC to LPA is the primary function of autotaxin, the autotaxin activity assay was performed with the compound FS-3 to determine whether reduced expression of NFAT1 results in less FS-3 fluorescence *in vitro*. Indeed, A375SM melanoma cells with stable NFAT1 silencing results in a reduced rate of fluorescent activity (Figure 18B).



# Figure 15. Chromatin Immunoprecipitation of NFAT1 on the Autotaxin Promoter is Lost after Silencing Galectin-3

Endpoint PCR was performed surrounding both NFAT1 binding sites on the autotaxin promoter. Chromatin immunoprecipitation of NFAT1 with anti-NFAT identifies a PCR product in NT shRNA transduced WM2664 and A375SM cells. No PCR product is amplified in galectin-3 shRNA transduced melanoma cells. Nonspecific IgG was used as a negative control. Sheered chromatin prior to immunoprecipitation was used as a positive control.



# Figure 16. Dual Luciferase Promoter Activity is Reduced in the Presence of NFAT1 Binding Site Mutations

Silencing galectin-3 in both WM2664 and A375SM significantly reduced the luciferase promoter activity of the wild type promoter by approximately 40% (white bar,) as compared to NT shRNA (black bar); \*\*P < 0.01 and \*P < 0.05 respectively. Mutating either NFAT1 binding site at location 209 or 290 resulted in reduced promoter activity to approximately 50% of the wild type promoter; \*\*P < 0.01 and \*P < 0.05. Dual mutations were not significantly different from single mutations.



# Figure 17. Silencing NFAT1 Decreases Autotaxin Expression in Melanoma Cells

(A) The addition of NFAT1 siRNA effectively reduces NFAT1 expression in both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cell lines. The resulted in approximately a 70% reduction of autotaxin expression within the supernatant in WM2664 and a 40% reduction of autotaxin in A375SM cells. Coomassie blue staining of the membrane was used to confirm equal loading of the supernatant. (B) Over expression of NFAT1 in low metastatic non NFAT1 expressing melanoma cells increases the expression of two bands around the same molecular weight as autotaxin by 9.7 fold. The upper band likely isoform 1 and the lower band potentially being one of the smaller isoforms 2 or 3.



# Figure 18. Silencing NFAT1 in A375SM Melanoma Cells Reduces Autotaxin Expression

# and Activity

(A) Stable knockdown of NFAT1 was achieved with lentiviral base NFAT1 shRNA as shown in whole cell lysate. NFAT1 shRNA effectively reduces autotaxin expression isolated from the cell culture supernatant. Coomassie blue staining of the membrane is shown for equal loading of the supernatant. (B) The fluorescent readout of FS-3 was obtained every two minutes for 6 hours (360 min). A375SM melanoma cells transduced with NFAT1 shRNA cleaved FS-3 at a lower rate than NT shRNA transduced A375SM cells. Silver staining of a gel with equal volumes of the supernatant that were used for the autotaxin activity assay were ran to confirm equal loading.

# Rescue of Galectin-3 in Melanoma Cells Results with the Rescue of NFAT1 and Autotaxin.

Lentiviral based shRNA is a powerful tool for silencing the expression of target genes. However, this method can cause unwanted, nonspecific effects due to targeting the wrong genes or by causing an antiviral response to double stranded mRNA. To rule out these effects, galectin-3 was rescued in both WM2664 and A375SM galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells. We were able to rescue galectin-3 in A375SM melanoma cells and partially rescue galectin-3 in WM2664. This resulted in the re-expression of NFAT1 and autotaxin in both melanoma cell lines while the empty vector control had no effect (Figure 19). Therefore, the deregulation of autotaxin and NFAT1 is not generated by off target effects of galectin-3 shRNA. These downstream events occur through galectin-3.



Figure 19. The Rescue of Galectin-3 Rescues NFAT1 and Autotaxin Protein Expression

The Rescue of Galectin-3 is shown for both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma Cells. An increased expression of NFAT1 is observed after rescuing galectin-3 expression as compared to Galectin-3 shRNA cells transduced with an empty vector. The amount of autotaxin expressed in the supernatant of melanoma cells is also increased in galectin-3 rescued cells. The membrane with the supernatant is Coomassie blue stained and shown as an equal loading control.

# Galectin-3, NFAT1, and Autotaxin Expression are Positively Correlated in Melanoma Cells

To our knowledge, the expression of NFAT1 has not been established in melanoma. Therefore, we analyzed the expression of NFAT1 by western blot in a panel of melanoma cell lines (Figure 20A). The first observation is that the less tumorigenic and metastatic cell lines (SB-2, DM4, and DX3) express far less NFAT1 than the more metastatic cells (A375SM, WM2664). Second, there is a positive correlation between galectin-3 expression and NFAT1, although, it is not a complete correlation. This is evident in DX3 and 451-Lu melanoma cells. Although low levels of galectin-3 are observed, there is still a slight amount of NFAT1 expression in DX-3 cells. The opposite holds true for 451-Lu. These cells express high levels of galectin-3, however, low levels of NFAT1 are observed.

We then analyzed autotaxin mRNA expression in the same cell panel (Figure 20B). Melanoma cells that express high levels of galectin-3 and NFAT1 express autotaxin. The cells that express low levels of galectin-3 and no NFAT1 do not express autotaxin. What is identified with the DX-3 and 451-Lu cells might shed some light between the correlation of NFAT1 and Galectin-3. Although DX3 cells express a low amount of NFAT1, very low levels of autotaxin are observed. In 451-Lu, there are higher levels of autotaxin mRNA. These cell lines have comparable levels of NFAT1. However, since higher levels of galectin-3 are present in 451-Lu, perhaps galectin-3 enhances the activity of NFAT1 as well as its expression.



Β.

A.



Figure 20

# Figure 20. The Expression of NFAT1 and Autotaxin in Melanoma Cell Lines

(A) The protein expression of NFAT1 and Galectin-3 was analyzed by western blot in multiple melanoma cell lines. Low expression of galectin-3 correlated with low levels of NFAT1 protein expression. High levels of galectin-3 correlated with high levels of NFAT1 protein expression. The exception to this observation was 451-Lu, as it had high levels of galectin-3 but low levels of NFAT1. (B) The mRNA expression profile of autotaxin was compared between the same melanoma cell lines. High levels of galectin-3 correlated with high levels of autotaxin. Relative expression was standardized to 1 with the 451-Lu melanoma cells. The relative expression of DX3, SB-2, DM4, and C8161 are all less than 0.10.

#### **Galectin-3 Maintains the Expression of NFAT1 at the Post-Translational Level**

The mechanism by which galectin-3 regulates NFAT1 remains elusive. We first investigated the mRNA expression of NFAT1 after galectin-3 knockdown. Interestingly, mRNA levels remained the same (Figure 21A). This brought us back to what is observed with the cell panel. The high galectin-3 expressing but with low expression of NFAT1 451-Lu cell line expresses autotaxin while the low galectin-3 expressing DX3 cells have 10 fold lower Autotaxin levels with the same amount of NFAT1. This raises the possibility that galectin-3 might affect NFAT1 activity as well as expression. Perhaps in our melanoma cells, silencing galectin-3 results in reduced activity of NFAT1 which then leads to its degradation. This is a bold hypothesis, however one experiment might suggest this to be correct. NFAT activity can be analyzed by a simple western blot. When NFAT1 is active, it becomes dephosphorylated. The dephosphorylated band is slightly lower in molecular weight. This can even be seen in figure 20A, although the bands are so close they appear as one single band. We therefore tested whether silencing galectin-3 increased NFAT1 protein stability. To that end, we added the protease inhibitor to our cells 6 hours after transfection of a FLAG-tagged NFAT1 vector in WM2664 and A375SM NT and galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells. The cells were lysed 24 hours later followed by immunoprecipitation with an anti-Flag antibody. A western blot was performed targeting NFAT1. What was observed was striking. Transfection of FLAG-NFAT1 at equal amounts with no protease inhibitor in both NT and galectin-3 shRNA had significant differences in protein expression when lysed 24 hours later (Figure 21B). However, with the addition of Bortezomib, a proteasome inhibitor, NFAT1 levels in galectin-3 silenced cells were higher than without inhibition of the proteasome. However, when protein expression is rescued with the proteasome inhibitor, the lower band representing active NFAT1 is still greatly reduced in galectin-3 silenced cells. This suggests that galectin-3 drives NFAT1 activity. The loss of galectin-3 results in reduced transcriptionally active NFAT1. Our data suggest that less active NFAT1 might lead to rapid degradation. Further studies identifying how degradation of NFAT1 in this context occurs must be performed (ubiquitilation?, phosphorylation?, etc.).



Β.

A.



Figure 21

# Figure 21. NFAT1 is Degraded at the Protein Level After Silencing Galectin-3

(A) The mRNA expression of NFAT1 in WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells after silencing galectin-3. NFAT1 expression is similar in WM2664 melanoma cells and is minimally reduced after silencing galectin-3 in A375SM cells. (B) Melanoma cells were transfected with FLAG-NFAT1 and immunoprecipitated with anti-FLAG. Western blot against NFAT1 was performed. Rapid loss of NFAT1 occurs in galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells as compared to NT shRNA. The addition of the proteasome inhibitor Bortezomib at 20nM inhibits the loss of NFAT1 protein; however, it does not rescue its de-phosphorylation state (lower band). WM2664 uptake higher levels of NFAT1 as compared to A375SM.

# Discussion

Out of the galectin family of proteins, galectin-3 could potentially be the most diverse in its function. It can affect biological functions through its carbohydrate binding properties that all galectins possess. However, its unique chimeric protein structure that includes phosphorylation sites at the N-terminal end, a collagen like domain, and an NWGR "antideath" motif generate a dynamic molecule that performs non-carbohydrate binding functions as It has been well established that galectin-3 can modulate the expression of genes well. involved in cancer progression, whether that be cyclin-D1, insulin like growth factor binding protein 5, IL-8, fibronectin, or VE-cadherin [114, 147, 148]. Phosphorylation of Ser6 on galectin-3 appears to be required for genetic transcription of cyclin-D1 and insulin like growth factor binding protein 5. However, how Ser6 phosphorylation transcriptionally activates these genes remains unclear. Reducing the total expression of galectin-3 has proven to reduce the expression of IL-8, fibronectin, and VE-cadherin. In the present study, we sought to determine novel downstream targets of galectin-3 that have previously been unidentified. By comparing the gene expression profile by cRNA microarray of WM2664 melanoma cells transduced with either NT shRNA or galectin-3 shRNA, we were able to confirm a specific gene expression profile of melanoma cells that is regulated by galectin-3. More importantly, we identified multiple pro-tumorigenic genes that are down regulated after silencing galectin-3. Therefore, galectin-3 might promote the metastatic melanoma phenotype by regulating these genes. Lplastin, osteopontin, autotaxin, hif- $2\alpha$ , and cathepsins B and K have all been implicated in the migratory, invasive or angiogenic phenotype [170, 184-187]. Endothelin receptor B and endothelin like receptor B were also identified in our microarray. Endothelin receptor B stimulation by its ligand endothelin 3 (ET3) induces cell proliferation of A375 melanoma cells,

and endothelin receptor B antagonists can reduce cell viability in both A375 and WM35 cell lines [188, 189]. These are all ideal targets to further study. However, our identified genes are only at the microarray level and must be further confirmed at the mRNA or protein level by qRT-PCR or western blot respectively.

Of these genes, we singled out and validated autotaxin. Our choice to selectively focus on the deregulation of autotaxin by galectin-3 is due to a variety of reasons. First, autotaxin was identified as a motility factor for melanoma cells [163]. In our melanoma cells, we see a significant reduction in cell migration after silencing galectin-3. Therefore, these two molecules could be intertwined in regards to the migratory phenotype. Second, autotaxin is a lysophospholipase D enzyme secreted within the tumor microenvironment where it can produce the bioactive ligand LPA from LPC. LPA can have significant effects on cancer cells as well as the surrounding tumor microenvironment. For example, LPA can directly increase cancer cell invasion *in vitro* or can activate lymphatic and endothelial cells to induce tumor lymphangiogenesis and angiogenesis in vivo [190-192]. LPA production is the primary function of autotaxin. Autotaxin itself does not directly bind to or activate any known pathways. The phenotypic relevance of autotaxin is linked to LPA production. Genetic instability of melanoma cells does not guarantee that an overexpressed gene is biologically functional. Therefore, we tested the activity of autotaxin in melanoma cells. High autotaxin activity was observed, and silencing galectin-3 in two melanoma cell lines significantly reduced the amount of autotaxin activity in vitro. This confirms that autotaxin is functional in our melanoma cells, and galectin-3 could potentially increase the metastatic phenotype by regulating autotaxin.

However, the mechanism by which galectin-3 regulates autotaxin must be elucidated. The nuclear run-on assay was a critical experiment as it can confirm the endogenous transcription rate of autotaxin without the use of artificial promoters. Artificial promoters can be misleading since upstream and downstream transcriptional activators that are required could be eliminated from the inserted promoter. Our nuclear run-on assay suggested that autotaxin expression is reduced at the transcriptional level after silencing galectin-3. The dual luciferase promoter assay in both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells confirmed this initial observation. Due to previous publications that identify NFAT1 as a transcriptional activator that binds to the autotaxin promoter, we initially focused on this transcription factor. To our surprise, silencing galectin-3 results in a dramatic reduction of NFAT1 protein expression. ChIP showed that bound NFAT1 to the autotaxin promoter is lost after silencing galectin-3. Mutations at both NFAT1 binding sites within the autotaxin luciferase promoter confirmed that both NFAT1 binding sites are equally critical for autotaxin transcription. Mutating the NFAT1 binding sites reduced promoter activity to that of galectin-3 shRNA cells. These data confirm that reduced levels of NFAT1 after silencing galectin-3 is the main contributing factor to decreased autotaxin expression.

We further investigated the effect of NFAT1 on autotaxin expression by transiently silencing NFAT1 in A375SM and WM2664. This resulted in reduced autotaxin expression within the supernatant. Overexpression of NFAT1 in SB-2 cells up-regulated autotaxin expression. Stably silencing NFAT1 in A375SM melanoma cells not only resulted in the loss of autotaxin expression but also the amount of autotaxin activity within the supernatant as observed by the autotaxin activity assy. The rescue of galectin-3 in WM2664 and A375SM

melanoma cells rescued both autotaxin and NFAT1. Taken together, these data confirm that galectin-3 regulates autotaxin expression via NFAT1.

What remains elusive in our study is the mechanism by which galectin-3 regulates NFAT1 protein expression. We first reviewed our cRNA microarray; however, NFAT1 was not identified as a deregulated gene. This made us lean towards the possibility that NFAT1 is regulated at the protein level. Our results that show little change in mRNA expression of NFAT1 after silencing galectin-3 confirm our hypothesis. Therefore, we sought out to identify how galectin-3 regulates the protein stability of NFAT1. One of our first experiments was to immunoprecipitate NFAT1 and probe for ubiquitin, the posttranslational modification that leads to proteasome targeted degradation. However, our western blots for ubiquitin showed no changes, although, this could have been due to a poorly exposed blot (data not shown). We could not conclude that this was due to our technique or if this was biologically correct. A different approach was then considered. That was to add the proteasome inhibitor, immunoprecipitate NFAT1, and determine whether the proteasome inhibitor rescues the protein expression of NFAT1. By this method, NFAT1 expression was rescued in galectin-3 silenced melanoma cells. This result suggests that NFAT1 is sent for proteasome degradation at a higher rate when galectin-3 is silenced. We also identified another phenomenon with this technique. Even though we rescue NFAT1 protein expression, the dephosphorylation of NFAT1 is not rescued. This is especially evident in A375SM melanoma cell line. We therefore hypothesize that galectin-3 is required for activation of NFAT1, which requires dephosphorylation of the N-terminal regulatory domain. A domain that is tightly regulated by calcineurin, casein kinase 1(CK1), and GSK3β. What immediately stands out is that both CK1 and GSK3 $\beta$  can phosphorylate galectin-3 as well. It must be determined whether this is of
random coincidence or if these molecules are connected within a similar pathway. Galectin-3 binds to and is phosphorylated by GSK3β. Although GSK3β is thought to inactivate NFAT1, Yoeli-Lerner et al. have shown that GSK3ß is required to maintain NFAT1 protein stability and its transcriptional activity [193]. GSK3β might play a complex dual role in regulating NFAT1 under certain conditions. The fact that over 14 phosphorylation sites on NFAT1 on the nuclear localization sequence indicate that this could be so. GSK3ß could require galectin-3 as a scaffold type protein for its phosphorylation of NFAT1. Immunoprecipitation of galectin-3 followed by blotting for NFAT1 did not identify NFAT1 on the membrane, suggesting that galectin-3 and NFAT1 do not form a complex (data not shown). However, our buffers and antibodies might not be used under the right conditions. Protein stability of NFAT1 by GSK3β requires AKT mediated phosphorylation of GSK3 at Ser9 [193]. Interestingly, silencing galectin-3 has been shown to reduce the phosphorylation of both AKT and GSK3β. This reduced the invasive phenotype of pancreatic cancer cells [108]. Therefore, it is possible that galectin-3 enhances the protein stability of NFAT1 through AKT/GSK3β. Our microarray also identified GSK3 to be down regulated after silencing galectin-3. However, very little change in GSK3 $\beta$  expression was observed at the protein level (data not shown). Casein kinase 1 phosphorylates both NFAT1 and galectin-3. Galectin-3 is highly expressed in our melanoma cell lines that express NFAT1 as compared to those that have no to little NFAT1 expression. Galectin-3 might be the primary phosphorylating partner of casein kinase 1. Silencing galectin-3 then could allow for casein kinase to phosphorylate and inactive other molecules such as NFAT1. However, this is a hypothetical conclusion with no evidence to suggest this occurs. Currently, no conclusive data has been collected to identify the mechanism by which galectin-3 regulates NFAT1 protein expression.

The positive correlation between galectin-3, autotaxin, and NFAT1 is highly prominent in mutant BRAF<sup>V600E/D</sup> melanoma cell lines as compared NRAS mutants and other BRAF mutations (Figures 4 and 20A from the same western blot). Although this is only correlative, it could be hypothesized that constitutively active BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> plays a role in driving the expression of galectin-3 and NFAT1 in melanoma. Galectin-3 seems to regulate NFAT1 at the protein level; however, BRAF<sup>V600E/D</sup> activating mutation could be required for the transcription of NFAT1. If this is the case, then galectin-3 mediated protein stability of NFAT1 would be highly relevant in BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> melanoma patients, but would have little significance in patients with WT BRAF<sup>V600E</sup>. Observing the promoter activity of NFAT1 in the presence of inhibitors of BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> could determine whether these pathways are connected. Further, a human tissue microarray comparing NFAT1 and galectin-3 expression in conjunction with the mutation status of BRAF will determine whether there is indeed a correlation between these three molecules in melanoma. Comparing NFAT1 expression in A375 (a low metastatic cell line in mice) with the highly metastatic cell line A375SM will also determine whether NFAT expression is an early event or reliant on a more aggressive metastatic phenotype. Our cell panel contains only a small cohort of melanoma cell lines. Future experiments performing the experiments discussed above will elucidate the contribution of BRAF<sup>V600E</sup> to the galectin-3/NFAT1/autotaxin pathway.

# Sub-Aim 2.2: Autotaxin and NFAT1 Contribute to Melanoma Growth and Metastasis

#### Introduction

Galectin-3 has been implicated in tumor cell migration, invasion, angiogenesis, tumor growth, and metastasis. Herein, we identify a novel molecule, autotaxin, regulated by galectin-3 via the transcription factor NFAT1. We next sought out to determine whether galectin-3 contributes to the metastatic melanoma phenotype by regulating autotaxin. Autotaxin expression was first identified as a motility and invasive factor for melanoma cells [163]. The conversion of LPC to LPA by autotaxin is a powerful inducer of angiogenesis [194]. In this aim, we will elucidate whether galectin-3 enhances tumor growth, experimental lung metastasis, and angiogenesis in A375SM melanoma xenograft tumors due to its regulation of autotaxin.

The transcription factor NFAT1 is also identified as a novel downstream target of galectin-3. Recently, NFAT1 has been found as a survival factor for melanoma cells under the pressure of MEK and BRAF inhibitors. However, no studies have been conducted in regards to its role in the melanoma invasive and the metastatic phenotype. Therefore, we analyzed the contribution of NFAT1 to the invasive phenotype *in vitro*, and tumor growth and experimental lung metastasis *in vivo*.

### Results

### The Over Expression of Autotaxin in Galectin-3 Silenced Cells Partially Rescues Tumor Growth and Metastasis *In Vivo*.

To validate the role autotaxin has in melanoma growth and metastasis, rescued autotaxin in our A375SM galectin-3 silenced melanoma cells. We were able to generate a stable cell line with high levels of autotaxin expression and this translated to increased autotaxin activity (Figure 22 A and B). These cells (A375SM galectin-3 shRNA / Autotaxin Rescue) were then injected subcutaneously in nude mice in parallel with A375SM NT shRNA and galectin-3 shRNA / empty vector. Tumor volume was measured for 28 days and the rate of growth was compared between A375SM NT shRNA, galectin-3 shRNA / empty vector, and galectin-3 shRNA/autotaxin rescue. Galectin-3 shRNA / empty vector tumors were significantly smaller than NT shRNA tumors (Figure 23). Immunohistochemistry confirmed that indeed autotaxin expression is increased in vivo in autotaxin overexpressing cells and galectin-3 remains silenced (Figure 23). The rescue of autotaxin expression in galectin-3 silenced tumors significantly increased tumor volume as compared galectin-3 shRNA / empty vector xenograft tumors (Figure 23). However, the rescue of autotaxin in galectin-3 silenced melanoma cells did not completely restore tumor growth as compared to NT shRNA. Therefore, autotaxin expression is only one contributing factor. Other factors by galectin-3 most likely affect the remaining difference between tumor growth, such as its anti-apoptotic function and potential regulation of other pro-tumorigenic genes.

Autotaxin and galectin-3 are both reported to enhance angiogenesis [194, 195]. To corroborate those claims, immunohistochemistry was performed on A375SM xenograft tumors with anti-CD31, a marker for blood vessels. NT shRNA melanoma cells have a high number of

blood vessels as compared to galectin-3 shRNA / empty vector. The overexpression of autotaxin in galectin-3 silenced melanoma cells rescued this phenotype (Figure 24). This suggests that reduced angiogenesis after silencing galectin-3 is attributed to the loss of autotaxin. VEGF was also stained within these tumors. A slight reduction in VEGF staining was observed after silencing galectin-3; however, this was only a modest change (Figure 25). Circulating autotaxin is a strong inducer of angiogenesis as well [196]. Therefore we tested whether circulating autotaxin was reduced after silencing galectin-3. Blood serum from tumor bearing mice was taken prior to sacrificing. The autotaxin assay was then used to identify the amount of circulating autotaxin within the blood. Unfortunately, no detectable levels of autotaxin were observed (data not shown). This could have been due to poor isolation of plasma, the majority of autotaxin secreted by the tumor cells stayed within the tumor microenvironment, or the protein was degraded quickly. We also analyzed the number of dead melanoma cells within the tumors by the TUNEL assay. The number of positively stained, dead tumor cells was significantly increased in galectin-3 silenced tumors. The overexpression of autotaxin partially reduced the number of apoptotic cells (Figure 26). This could be attributed by enhanced angiogenesis and access to nutrients and oxygen. Another potential mechanism is that enhanced LPA synthesis in the tumor microenvironment could potentially activate LPA receptors on melanoma cells to increase cell survival. The mRNA expression of six LPA receptors in A375SM melanoma cells were analyzed and compared with WM2664 and SB-2 melanoma cells. High levels of LPAR1 were identified in both A375SM and WM2664 as compared to SB-2 (Figure 27). Therefore, the autocrine loop of autotaxin secretion, LPA production, and LPA receptor signaling is likely to occur within the xenograft tumors.

A375SM melanoma cells transduced with either NT shRNA, galectin-3 shRNA/ EV, or galectin-3 shRNA/Autotaxin over expression were injected intravenously and the number of metastatic lung colonies were counted. Galectin-3 shRNA / EV tumors produced significantly fewer metastatic lesions, 9, as compared to NT shRNA, 68. The re-expression of autotaxin slightly rescued the number of metastatic colonies, 29 (Figure 28). Therefore, the regulation of autotaxin by galectin-3 is an important contributor to the metastatic phenotype. However, the re-expression of autotaxin does not completely rescue the number of experimental lung metastasis. The carbohydrate binding and anti-apoptotic properties of galectin-3 or other metastasis associated genes regulated by galectin-3 likely contribute to the remaining metastatic potential.



Figure 22. The Over Expression of Autotaxin is Confirmed in A375SM Melanoma Cells

(A) Autotaxin is stably over expressed in A375SM melanoma cells with galectin-3 shRNA. The membrane is stained with coomassie blue for a loading control. (B) The cleavage of FS-3 rapidly occurs after overexpressing autotaxin. Therefore, we a capable of over expressing a functional autotaxin enzyme in A375SM galectin-3 shRNA transduced cells. A silver stain of equal loading supernatant was performed to confirm equal loading.



Β.



Figure 23

## Figure 23. Re-Expression of Autotaxin in Galectin-3 Silenced Melanoma Cells Partially Rescues Tumor Growth

(A) A375SM melanoma cells with NT shRNA, galectin-3 shRNA / Empty vector, or galectin-3 shRNA / Autotaxin were injected subcutaneously in nude mice. Induced expression of autotaxin partially rescues tumor growth in galectin-3 silenced melanoma cells as compared to the empty vector control, \*P < 0.01. However, the rescue of autotaxin does not completely rescue tumor growth as compared to the NT shRNA transduced cells. (B) Galectin-3 remains silenced in the xenograft tumors. Autotaxin re-expression is confirmed in galectin-3 shRNA / autotaxin tumors.



## Figure 24. Microvascular Density is Increased in Galectin-3 shRNA Tumors that Have Autotaxin Over Expression

A representative image of the number of CD31 positive endothelial cells is shown from xenograft A375SM tumors. Silencing galectin-3 reduces the number of CD31 stained blood vessels within the tumor. The re-expression of autotaxin in galectin-3 shRNA tumors rescues the microvascular density (MVD), \*P < 0.05.



### Figure 25. VEGF Expression is Slightly Reduced After Silencing Galectin-3

Immunohistochemistry for VEGF was performed. Silencing galectin-3 slightly reduces the amount of staining for VEGF. The rescue of autotaxin does not rescue VEGF expression within the tumor microenvironment.



Figure 26. The Number of TUNEL Positive Cells in A375SM Xenograft Tumors

Silencing galectin-3 significantly increases the number of apoptotic TUNEL positive cells within the subcutaneous tumor, \*P < 0.01. The rescue of autotaxin within these tumors significantly reduces the number of apoptotic cells, \*\*P < 0.05.



### Figure 27. Relative mRNA Expression of LPA Receptors in Melanoma Cell Lines

Six LPA receptors were analyzed by qRT-PCR and standardized to one with the low tumorigenic SB-2 cell line. High levels of LPA1 are expressed in both WM2664 and A375SM as compared to SB-2 melanoma cells. High levels of LPA1, 2, 4, 5, and 6 were seen in WM2664. A375SM only express high levels of LPA1. SB-2 melanoma expressed more LPA3 than both WM2664 and A375SM melanoma cells.



A375SM -	Experimental Lung Metastasis		
	Median	Range	Incidence
NT shRNA	68	42-97	8/8
Gal-3 shRNA / EV	9	3-28	8/8
Gal-3 shRNA / ATX	29	10-61	6/6

### Figure 28. Reduced Lung Metastasis by Silencing Galectin-3 is Partially Rescued with the Re-Expression of Autotaxin

A375SM melanoma cells transduced with NT shRNA, galectin-3 shRNA / Empty vector, or galectin-3 shRNA / autotaxin were injected intravenously in nude mice. The number of metastatic lung colonies were then quantified. (A) The number of experimental lung metastasis is reduced after silencing galectin-3 as compared to NT shRNA. The re-expression of autotaxin partially rescues the metastatic phenotype of melanoma cells, \*P < 0.01. (B) The median number of metastatic colonies in the NT shRNA group was 68. Silencing galectin-3 reduced the median to 9 metastatic colonies, while re-expression of autotaxin increased the median number of metastatic colonies to 29.

#### NFAT1 Expression is Required for the Malignant Melanoma Phenotype

Interestingly one group reported that B16F10 cells generate fewer lung metastasis in NFAT1 knockout mice, thus, NFAT1 could play a critical role in the tumor microenvironment [182]. However, how NFAT1 expression within melanoma cells contributes to the malignant phenotype has not yet been studied. In breast cancer NFAT1 expression has been shown to enhance invasion through Matrigel [179]. To test whether the same phenotype is observed in melanoma, our SB-2 melanoma cells transduced with either an empty expression vector or NFAT1 from sub-aim 2.1 were subjected to the Matrigel invasion assay. Interestingly, the overexpression of NFAT1 significantly increased the number of invaded SB-2 cells as compared to the empty vector control (Figure 29). This invasive phenotype is contributed by many factors. One of them is the induction of autotaxin expression (Figure 17) which has previously been shown as a pro-invasive molecule [197]. Other factors are most likely contributed to other downstream target genes that NFAT1 regulates. These potential genes are now being investigated in our lab.

The *in vitro* invasive phenotype suggests that NFAT1 can contribute to a more aggressive and metastatic tumor. However, the role of NFAT1 on melanoma growth and metastasis has not yet been established. Therefore, we decided to inject our highly metastatic A375SM melanoma cells stably transduced with NT or NFAT1 shRNA into nude mice (Figure 30). Tumor volume was measured for 32 days after subcutaneous injections of A375SM NT or NFAT1shRNA melanoma cells. Indeed, silencing NFAT1 significantly reduced tumor growth *in vivo*, \*P <0.05 (Figure 30A). To analyze the metastatic phenotype after silencing NFAT1, A375SM melanoma cells were injected intravenously. A375SM melanoma cells transduced

with NFAT1 shRNA had a dramatic and significantly fewer lung metastasis than the NT shRNA control, \*P < 0.05 (Figure 30B).



Figure 29. NFAT1 Increases the *in Vitro* Invasive Phenotype

SB-2 melanoma cells were stably transduced with an NFAT1 or empty vector (EV) expression lentivirus (see figure 17). They were then subjected to the Matrigel invasion assay. Expressing NFAT1 significantly increased the number of invaded cells through the Matrigel coated membrane, \*P < 0.001)



### Figure 30. Silencing NFAT1 in A375SM Melanoma Cells Reduces Tumor Growth and Experimental Lung Metastasis in Nude Mice

A375SM melanoma cells were (A) injected subcutaneously in nude mice and tumor growth was monitored for 32 days. Tumor growth was significantly reduce after silencing NFAT1 at day 24, 28, and day 32 (\*P < 0.001). (B) Six weeks after intravenous injection of A375SM cells, nude mice were sacrificed and the number of lung metastasis were counted. Silencing NFAT1 significantly reduced the number of experimental lung metastasis (P\* < 0.001).

### Discussion

Our lab has previously shown that silencing galectin-3 in C8161 melanoma cells could reduce tumor growth and metastasis. In our study we corroborate those results with the A375SM melanoma cell line. We also identify autotaxin as a downstream target of galectin-3. However, we have yet to confirm whether galectin-3 contributes to tumor growth and metastasis through its regulation of autotaxin. To that end, we stably expressed autotaxin in galectin-3 silenced A375SM melanoma cells and injected these cells subcutaneously. Tumor growth was compared with A375SM NT shRNA and galectin-3 shRNA / empty vector transduced melanoma cells. Partial rescue of tumor growth was observed. Interestingly, the microvascular density as shown by CD31 staining was completely rescued in galectin-3 silenced / autotaxin re-expressed melanoma xenograft tumors. Autotaxin is a powerful angiogenic factor. In zebrafish, normal vascular development during embryogenesis requires the expression of autotaxin and LPA receptors [198]. Purified autotaxin mixed with Matrigel plugs generated new blood vessels to the same extent as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Only a few blood vessels formed in Matrigel without VEGF or autotaxin [199]. Interestingly, VEGF can stimulate autotaxin expression in endothelial cells [200]. Expression of autotaxin can then increase the migratory phenotype of HUVEC cells. This is highly reliant on the conversion of LPC to LPA. The addition of LPC stimulates HUVEC motility; however, silencing autotaxin eliminates the number of migrated endothelial cells in the presence of LPC [200]. Furthermore, silencing autotaxin in HUVEC cells reduced the expression of the VEGF receptor VEGFR2 [200]. This implicates both VEGF and autotaxin in a positive feedback loop by which VEGF induces autotaxin expression, and conversion of LPC to LPA led to the activation of LPA receptors which would promote VEGFR2 expression [199, 200]. In a chick embryo model however, LPA receptor antagonists did not reduce VEGF mediated angiogenesis while it significantly reduced LPA mediated angiogenesis [192]. Therefore, these two pathways are not completely reliant on each other to induce the angiogenic phenotype.

Our data suggest that autotaxin/VEGF cross talk is not as prominent. Only a slight reduction in VEGF expression is observed after silencing galectin-3, and the amount of VEGF is slightly rescued when autotaxin is overexpressed in our galectin-3 shRNA melanoma cells. VEGF might play a small role in inducing angiogenesis in A375SM xenograft tumors. Most likely, galectin-3 contributes to angiogenesis in A375SM xenograft tumors by inducing autotaxin expression and LPA production. Immunohistochemistry identified decreased expression of autotaxin in A375SM galectin-3 shRNA / empty vector tumors as compared to NT shRNA xenografts. In cell culture, silencing galectin-3 resulted in reduced autotaxin activity within the supernatant as observed by our autotaxin activity assay. Reduced levels of autotaxin are likely to contribute to our reduced autotaxin activity readout. This is expected. Less autotaxin will result in less cleaved LPC to make LPA. Although this is in vitro, we can expect this to occur in vivo as well. Furthermore, LPA production within the tumor microenvironment can directly bind to melanoma cells and induce cell survival, proliferation, and chemotherapeutic resistance.

Silencing galectin-3 significantly increased the number of TUNEL positive, apoptotic cells. This could be due the reduced number of blood vessels and hence less oxygen and nutrients supplied within the tumor. Melanoma cells express LPA receptors and A375SM cells express high levels of LPA1. Therefore, autotaxin can enhance cell growth and survival by directly affecting melanoma cells. Autotaxin has been shown to increase chemotherapeutic resistance and cell survival of ovarian cancer cells [201]. Autotaxin expression can increase

the proliferation and motility of melanoma cells *in vitro* [165]. Autotaxin can induce the migratory phenotype through LPA activation of PI3k $\gamma$  [202]. LPA can also enhance migration through p-21 activated kinase 1 (PAK1) phosphorylation and consequent focal adhesion kinase (FAK) activation [203]. Moreover, LPA receptor activation can lead to protein kinase C (PKC), NF- $\kappa$ B, phosphatidylinositol 3 kinase (PI3K), RAC, and RhoA activation. All of which can contribute to cancer progression [200, 204-207]. The re-expression of autotaxin did not completely rescue cell survival. Therefore, galectin-3 contributes to cell survival by potentially regulating other unidentified genes. Also, it is well known that galectin-3 contains the NWGR antideath motif. Galectin-3 can thus inhibit cell death by directly inhibiting cytochrome C release and cancer cell apoptosis [208]. This mechanism and other factors could be the remaining contributing factors by which galectin-3 increases cell survival.

We have also identified the transcription factor NFAT1 to be regulated by galectin-3. NFAT1 has not been intensively studied in melanoma. Only two publications, excluding our report, have discussed the role of NFAT1 in melanoma. The first implicates NFAT1 as an important transcription factor in the stroma for the formation of a favorable metastatic niche. This was shown with NFAT1 knockout mice. When B16F10 murine melanoma cells are injected in NFAT<sup>-/-</sup> mice fewer lung metastasis are formed as compared to wild type [182]. A similar phenotype was observed with galectin-3 knockout mice [99]. The other manuscript reports that silencing NFAT1 in combination with MEK or BRAF inhibitors sensitizes melanoma cells to apoptosis [183]. Yet, the role NFAT1 plays on the malignant melanoma phenotype has previously not been described. Herein, we show that over expressing NFAT1 in low metastatic SB-2 melanoma cells increases their invasive phenotype. In breast cancer, NFAT1 has already been established as a pro invasive transcription factor by inducing the

expression of COX-2 [179]. We did not determine whether COX-2 expression was affected in SB-2 melanoma cells after over expressing NFAT1. However, autotaxin is significantly increased, and previous reports indicate that autotaxin enhances the invasive phenotype [209]. Our data is the first report to show the importance of NFAT1 on the invasive phenotype of melanoma cells. Other molecules besides autotaxin that are regulated by NFAT1 could contribute to the invasive phenotype as well.

The tumorigenic potential of NFAT1 on melanoma cells has remained elusive. Therefore, we sought to elucidate the potential NFAT1 has on tumor growth and metastasis of melanoma cells. Silencing NFAT1 significantly reduces tumor growth and experimental lung metastasis. This could be due to the regulation of autotaxin by NFAT1. Other genes regulated by NFAT1 could also contribute to tumor growth and metastasis. Future studies need to be conducted to elucidate whether they contribute to the malignant melanoma phenotype.

#### Summary

In our study, we further establish the contribution by which galectin-3 promotes the metastatic melanoma phenotype. We revealed the following novel findings which are summarized:

- Silencing galectin-3 by lentiviral shRNA in two metastatic melanoma cell lines significantly reduces their migratory and invasive potential *in vitro*. Silencing galectin-3 significantly reduces the ability of melanoma cells to survive and proliferate in an anchorage independent manner in soft agar.
- 2. Galectin-3 positively regulates the expression of Autotaxin and NFAT1.
- 3. Silencing galectin-3 reduces the transcriptional expression of autotaxin via down regulating the protein expression of the transcription factor NFAT1.
- 4. Galectin-3 promotes Lysophospholipase D enzyme activity as observed by the FS-3 autotaxin assay by regulating autotaxin expression.
- The rescue of galectin-3 in galectin-3 silenced cells restores the protein expression of both NFAT1 and autotaxin. This confirms that our results are not an off-target effect of galectin-3 silencing.
- 6. Silencing galectin-3 reduces the tumor growth and metastasis of A375SM melanoma cells. The re-expression partially rescues the proliferative and metastatic properties, indicating that the regulation of autotaxin by galectin-3 contributes to the malignant melanoma phenotype. Angiogenesis is almost completely rescued with the re-expression of autotaxin; therefore, galectin-3 mediated angiogenesis is reliant on its regulation of autotaxin.

7. NFAT1 induces the invasive phenotype *in vitro* and silencing NFAT1 in melanoma cells significantly reduces tumor growth and metastasis.

Taken together, our study identifies a previously unknown role by which galectin-3 promotes melanoma growth and metastasis. We have identified a novel pathway regulated by galectin-3. Galectin-3 positively regulates the protein expression of the transcription factor NFAT1, which in turn, induces the transcription of autotaxin. Autotaxin is then secreted within the supernatant where it performs its lysophospholipase D enzyme activity to convert LPC to LPA. LPA within the tumor microenvironment acts as a ligand for LPA receptors located on both melanoma cells and stroma to induce tumor growth, invasion, angiogenesis, and ultimately metastasis. Figure 31 depicts our model described in this study.

The carbohydrate binding function of galectin-3 and its role in metastasis has previously been established. These studies where the first to implicate galectin-3 with cancer and metastasis. Over time, the intracellular properties of galectin-3 were discovered. Furthermore, these properties have just as significant of a role in tumor progression as do the carbohydrate binding properties of galectin-3. For instance, the anti-apoptotic function of galectin-3 can act as a pro-survival factor under chemotherapeutic stress. The regulation of genes such as cyclin D, IL-8, and VE-cadherin identify an intracellular signaling role by which galectin-3 contributes to cell proliferation, tumor growth, and vasculogenic mimicry. It is easy to understand how galectin-3 earns the chimeric name in both its protein structure and its multiple biological functions. Our study adds another layer to the intracellular network and how galectin-3 mediates its signaling. However, we have yet to fully

understand how galectin-3 regulates NFAT1 protein expression. Whether galectin-3 acts a scaffold protein, dominant negative for casein kinase 1 phosphorylation, or other unknown mechanisms will need to be established.

Therapies targeting galectin-3 and autotaxin have long been studied. Throughout our study, we identify a novel molecule in melanoma, NFAT1, that promotes the malignant phenotype. Targeting NFAT1 could be another potential therapeutic tool. Therapy directed at NFAT1 is clinically feasible as shown with cyclosporine A to inhibit T-cell mediated organ transplant rejection [210]. However, in melanoma, immunotherapy and immunesurveillance promoted by T-cells are considered methods for melanoma treatment. Therefore, systemic therapy directed towards NFAT1 in melanoma could be counterintuitive by reducing T-cell activity. Yet, not all T-cells have anti-tumor function. Regulatory T-cells (Treg) can reduce the immune response towards tumors, and it's been shown that NFAT1 enhances Treg activity as well (Reviewed in [211, 212]). The multiple roles of NFAT1 within the tumor microenvironment create a "double edged sword" in regards to its therapeutic potential. Therefore, directing therapy towards galectin-3 instead of NFAT1 might be the most promising of all these treatments. Modified citrus pectin directly targets galectin-3, reduces metastasis of B16F1 melanoma cells in immunocompetent mice with no toxicity, and potentially could inhibit downstream targets [213, 214]. Whether MCP can target intracellular galectin-3 or reduce the downstream functions, such as NFAT1/Autotaxin has not been studied. The development of a small molecule inhibitor that targets the carbohydrate binding, anti-apoptotic, and cell signaling functions of galectin-3 could be a promising treatment modality for stage II or III melanoma.



### Figure 31. Proposed Mechanism by Which Galectin-3 Contributes to Melanoma progression

Galectin-3 stabilizes NFAT1 protein expression. NFAT1 binds to the promoter at both 209 and 290 bp upstream of the transcription start site of autotaxin and induces its expression. Autotaxin is then secreted into the tumor microenvironment where it converts lysophosphatidylcholine into lysophosphatidic acid (LPA). LPA binds to the LPA receptors located on melanoma cells to induce the metastatic melanoma phenotype. In our melanoma cells, LPA1 is the most likely receptor. LPA binds to endothelial cells and induces angiogenesis.

#### References

- Siegel, R., D. Naishadham, and A. Jemal, *Cancer statistics*, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin, 2012. 62(1): p. 10-29.
- Wu, X.C., M.J. Eide, J. King, M. Saraiya, Y. Huang, C. Wiggins, J.S. Barnholtz-Sloan, N. Martin, V. Cokkinides, J. Miller, P. Patel, D.U. Ekwueme, and J. Kim, *Racial and ethnic variations in incidence and survival of cutaneous melanoma in the United States,* 1999-2006. J Am Acad Dermatol, 2011. 65(5 Suppl 1): p. S26-37.
- 3. Gershenwald, J.E., S.J. Soong, and C.M. Balch, 2010 TNM staging system for cutaneous melanoma...and beyond. Ann Surg Oncol, 2010. **17**(6): p. 1475-7.
- Balch, C.M., J.E. Gershenwald, S.J. Soong, J.F. Thompson, M.B. Atkins, D.R. Byrd, A.C. Buzaid, A.J. Cochran, D.G. Coit, S. Ding, A.M. Eggermont, K.T. Flaherty, P.A. Gimotty, J.M. Kirkwood, K.M. McMasters, M.C. Mihm, Jr., D.L. Morton, M.I. Ross, A.J. Sober, and V.K. Sondak, *Final version of 2009 AJCC melanoma staging and classification*. J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(36): p. 6199-206.
- 5. In 't Hout, F.E., L.E. Haydu, R. Murali, J.J. Bonenkamp, J.F. Thompson, and R.A. Scolyer, *Prognostic importance of the extent of ulceration in patients with clinically localized cutaneous melanoma*. Ann Surg, 2011. **255**(6): p. 1165-70.
- 6. Miller, A.J. and M.C. Mihm, Jr., *Melanoma*. N Engl J Med, 2006. **355**(1): p. 51-65.
- 7. Pollock, P.M. and P.S. Meltzer, *A genome-based strategy uncovers frequent BRAF mutations in melanoma*. Cancer Cell, 2002. **2**(1): p. 5-7.
- Gorden, A., I. Osman, W. Gai, D. He, W. Huang, A. Davidson, A.N. Houghton, K. Busam, and D. Polsky, *Analysis of BRAF and N-RAS mutations in metastatic melanoma tissues*. Cancer Res, 2003. 63(14): p. 3955-7.

- Davies, H., G.R. Bignell, C. Cox, P. Stephens, S. Edkins, S. Clegg, J. Teague, H. Woffendin, M.J. Garnett, W. Bottomley, N. Davis, E. Dicks, R. Ewing, Y. Floyd, K. Gray, S. Hall, R. Hawes, J. Hughes, V. Kosmidou, A. Menzies, C. Mould, A. Parker, C. Stevens, S. Watt, S. Hooper, R. Wilson, H. Jayatilake, B.A. Gusterson, C. Cooper, J. Shipley, D. Hargrave, K. Pritchard-Jones, N. Maitland, G. Chenevix-Trench, G.J. Riggins, D.D. Bigner, G. Palmieri, A. Cossu, A. Flanagan, A. Nicholson, J.W. Ho, S.Y. Leung, S.T. Yuen, B.L. Weber, H.F. Seigler, T.L. Darrow, H. Paterson, R. Marais, C.J. Marshall, R. Wooster, M.R. Stratton, and P.A. Futreal, *Mutations of the BRAF gene in human cancer*. Nature, 2002. 417(6892): p. 949-54.
- 10. Omholt, K., A. Platz, L. Kanter, U. Ringborg, and J. Hansson, *NRAS and BRAF mutations arise early during melanoma pathogenesis and are preserved throughout tumor progression*. Clin Cancer Res, 2003. **9**(17): p. 6483-8.
- van 't Veer, L.J., B.M. Burgering, R. Versteeg, A.J. Boot, D.J. Ruiter, S. Osanto, P.I. Schrier, and J.L. Bos, *N-ras mutations in human cutaneous melanoma from sunexposed body sites*. Mol Cell Biol, 1989. **9**(7): p. 3114-6.
- Pollock, P.M., U.L. Harper, K.S. Hansen, L.M. Yudt, M. Stark, C.M. Robbins, T.Y. Moses, G. Hostetter, U. Wagner, J. Kakareka, G. Salem, T. Pohida, P. Heenan, P. Duray, O. Kallioniemi, N.K. Hayward, J.M. Trent, and P.S. Meltzer, *High frequency of BRAF mutations in nevi*. Nat Genet, 2003. 33(1): p. 19-20.
- 13. Wajapeyee, N., R.W. Serra, X. Zhu, M. Mahalingam, and M.R. Green, *Oncogenic BRAF induces senescence and apoptosis through pathways mediated by the secreted protein IGFBP7*. Cell, 2008. **132**(3): p. 363-74.

- 14. Li, Y., M.A. Nichols, J.W. Shay, and Y. Xiong, *Transcriptional repression of the Dtype cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p16 by the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene product pRb.* Cancer Res, 1994. **54**(23): p. 6078-82.
- 15. Zhang, Y., Y. Xiong, and W.G. Yarbrough, *ARF promotes MDM2 degradation and stabilizes p53: ARF-INK4a locus deletion impairs both the Rb and p53 tumor suppression pathways.* Cell, 1998. **92**(6): p. 725-34.
- Michaloglou, C., L.C. Vredeveld, M.S. Soengas, C. Denoyelle, T. Kuilman, C.M. van der Horst, D.M. Majoor, J.W. Shay, W.J. Mooi, and D.S. Peeper, *BRAFE600associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi*. Nature, 2005. 436(7051): p. 720-4.
- Colombino, M., M. Capone, A. Lissia, A. Cossu, C. Rubino, V. De Giorgi, D. Massi, E. Fonsatti, S. Staibano, O. Nappi, E. Pagani, M. Casula, A. Manca, M. Sini, R. Franco, G. Botti, C. Caraco, N. Mozzillo, P.A. Ascierto, and G. Palmieri, *BRAF/NRAS mutation frequencies among primary tumors and metastases in patients with melanoma*. J Clin Oncol, 2012. **30**(20): p. 2522-9.
- Palmieri, G., M. Capone, M.L. Ascierto, G. Gentilcore, D.F. Stroncek, M. Casula, M.C. Sini, M. Palla, N. Mozzillo, and P.A. Ascierto, *Main roads to melanoma*. J Transl Med, 2009. 7: p. 86.
- Eliason, M.J., C.B. Hansen, M. Hart, P. Porter-Gill, W. Chen, R.A. Sturm, G. Bowen, S.R. Florell, R.M. Harris, L.A. Cannon-Albright, L. Swinyer, and S.A. Leachman, *Multiple primary melanomas in a CDKN2A mutation carrier exposed to ionizing radiation*. Arch Dermatol, 2007. **143**(11): p. 1409-12.

- Jonsson, A., R. Tuominen, E. Grafstrom, J. Hansson, and S. Egyhazi, *High frequency of p16(INK4A) promoter methylation in NRAS-mutated cutaneous melanoma*. J Invest Dermatol, 2010. 130(12): p. 2809-17.
- Conway, C., S. Beswick, F. Elliott, Y.M. Chang, J. Randerson-Moor, M. Harland, P. Affleck, J. Marsden, D.S. Sanders, A. Boon, M.A. Knowles, D.T. Bishop, and J.A. Newton-Bishop, *Deletion at chromosome arm 9p in relation to BRAF/NRAS mutations and prognostic significance for primary melanoma*. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, 2010. **49**(5): p. 425-38.
- Aguissa-Toure, A.H. and G. Li, *Genetic alterations of PTEN in human melanoma*. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2012. 69(9): p. 1475-91.
- 23. Carnero, A., *The PKB/AKT pathway in cancer*. Curr Pharm Des, 2010. **16**(1): p. 34-44.
- Herbst, R.A., J. Weiss, A. Ehnis, W.K. Cavenee, and K.C. Arden, Loss of heterozygosity for 10q22-10qter in malignant melanoma progression. Cancer Res, 1994. 54(12): p. 3111-4.
- 25. Healy, E., I. Rehman, B. Angus, and J.L. Rees, *Loss of heterozygosity in sporadic primary cutaneous melanoma*. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, 1995. **12**(2): p. 152-6.
- Li, J., C. Yen, D. Liaw, K. Podsypanina, S. Bose, S.I. Wang, J. Puc, C. Miliaresis, L. Rodgers, R. McCombie, S.H. Bigner, B.C. Giovanella, M. Ittmann, B. Tycko, H. Hibshoosh, M.H. Wigler, and R. Parsons, *PTEN, a putative protein tyrosine phosphatase gene mutated in human brain, breast, and prostate cancer.* Science, 1997. 275(5308): p. 1943-7.

- 27. Guldberg, P., P. thor Straten, A. Birck, V. Ahrenkiel, A.F. Kirkin, and J. Zeuthen, Disruption of the MMAC1/PTEN gene by deletion or mutation is a frequent event in malignant melanoma. Cancer Res, 1997. 57(17): p. 3660-3.
- Tsao, H., X. Zhang, E. Benoit, and F.G. Haluska, *Identification of PTEN/MMAC1* alterations in uncultured melanomas and melanoma cell lines. Oncogene, 1998. 16(26): p. 3397-402.
- Zhou, X.P., O. Gimm, H. Hampel, T. Niemann, M.J. Walker, and C. Eng, *Epigenetic PTEN silencing in malignant melanomas without PTEN mutation*. Am J Pathol, 2000.
   157(4): p. 1123-8.
- 30. Madhunapantula, S.V. and G.P. Robertson, *The PTEN-AKT3 signaling cascade as a therapeutic target in melanoma*. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res, 2009. **22**(4): p. 400-19.
- Li, G., K. Satyamoorthy, and M. Herlyn, *N-cadherin-mediated intercellular interactions* promote survival and migration of melanoma cells. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(9): p. 3819-25.
- Roebuck, K.A., *Regulation of interleukin-8 gene expression*. J Interferon Cytokine Res, 1999. 19(5): p. 429-38.
- 33. Suboj, P., S. Babykutty, D.R. Valiyaparambil Gopi, R.S. Nair, P. Srinivas, and S. Gopala, *Aloe emodin inhibits colon cancer cell migration/angiogenesis by downregulating MMP-2/9, RhoB and VEGF via reduced DNA binding activity of NF-kappaB.* Eur J Pharm Sci, 2012. **45**(5): p. 581-91.
- 34. Chen, J., M. Zhao, R. Rao, H. Inoue, and C.M. Hao, C/EBP{beta} and its binding element are required for NF{kappa}B-induced COX2 expression following hypertonic stress. J Biol Chem, 2005. 280(16): p. 16354-9.

- 35. Huang, S., A. DeGuzman, C.D. Bucana, and I.J. Fidler, *Nuclear factor-kappaB activity correlates with growth, angiogenesis, and metastasis of human melanoma cells in nude mice.* Clin Cancer Res, 2000. **6**(6): p. 2573-81.
- 36. Jean, D., J.E. Gershenwald, S. Huang, M. Luca, M.J. Hudson, M.A. Tainsky, and M. Bar-Eli, Loss of AP-2 results in up-regulation of MCAM/MUC18 and an increase in tumor growth and metastasis of human melanoma cells. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(26): p. 16501-8.
- 37. Gershenwald, J.E., W. Sumner, T. Calderone, Z. Wang, S. Huang, and M. Bar-Eli, *Dominant-negative transcription factor AP-2 augments SB-2 melanoma tumor growth in vivo.* Oncogene, 2001. **20**(26): p. 3363-75.
- 38. Tellez, C., M. McCarty, M. Ruiz, and M. Bar-Eli, *Loss of activator protein-2alpha results in overexpression of protease-activated receptor-1 and correlates with the malignant phenotype of human melanoma.* J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(47): p. 46632-42.
- Zigler, M., G.J. Villares, A.S. Dobroff, H. Wang, L. Huang, R.R. Braeuer, T. Kamiya,
   V.O. Melnikova, R. Song, R. Friedman, R.M. Alani, and M. Bar-Eli, *Expression of Id-1 is regulated by MCAM/MUC18: a missing link in melanoma progression.* Cancer Res,
   2011. **71**(10): p. 3494-504.
- 40. Villares, G.J., M. Zigler, H. Wang, V.O. Melnikova, H. Wu, R. Friedman, M.C. Leslie, P.E. Vivas-Mejia, G. Lopez-Berestein, A.K. Sood, and M. Bar-Eli, *Targeting melanoma growth and metastasis with systemic delivery of liposome-incorporated protease-activated receptor-1 small interfering RNA*. Cancer Res, 2008. **68**(21): p. 9078-86.

- 41. Villares, G.J., A.S. Dobroff, H. Wang, M. Zigler, V.O. Melnikova, L. Huang, and M. Bar-Eli, *Overexpression of protease-activated receptor-1 contributes to melanoma metastasis via regulation of connexin 43*. Cancer Res, 2009. **69**(16): p. 6730-7.
- Villares, G.J., M. Zigler, A.S. Dobroff, H. Wang, R. Song, V.O. Melnikova, L. Huang, R.R. Braeuer, and M. Bar-Eli, *Protease activated receptor-1 inhibits the Maspin tumor-suppressor gene to determine the melanoma metastatic phenotype*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. 108(2): p. 626-31.
- 43. Dobroff, A.S., H. Wang, V.O. Melnikova, G.J. Villares, M. Zigler, L. Huang, and M. Bar-Eli, *Silencing cAMP-response element-binding protein (CREB) identifies CYR61 as a tumor suppressor gene in melanoma*. J Biol Chem, 2009. **284**(38): p. 26194-206.
- 44. Melnikova, V. and M. Bar-Eli, *Inflammation and melanoma growth and metastasis: the role of platelet-activating factor (PAF) and its receptor*. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 2007.
  26(3-4): p. 359-71.
- 45. Melnikova, V.O., A.A. Mourad-Zeidan, D.C. Lev, and M. Bar-Eli, *Platelet-activating* factor mediates MMP-2 expression and activation via phosphorylation of cAMPresponse element-binding protein and contributes to melanoma metastasis. J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(5): p. 2911-22.
- 46. Melnikova, V.O. and M. Bar-Eli, *Transcriptional control of the melanoma malignant phenotype*. Cancer Biol Ther, 2008. **7**(7): p. 997-1003.
- 47. Jean, D., M. Harbison, D.J. McConkey, Z. Ronai, and M. Bar-Eli, *CREB and its associated proteins act as survival factors for human melanoma cells*. J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(38): p. 24884-90.

- Melnikova, V.O., A.S. Dobroff, M. Zigler, G.J. Villares, R.R. Braeuer, H. Wang, L. Huang, and M. Bar-Eli, *CREB inhibits AP-2alpha expression to regulate the malignant phenotype of melanoma*. PLoS One, 2010. 5(8): p. e12452.
- 49. Berger, A.J., H.M. Kluger, N. Li, E. Kielhorn, R. Halaban, Z. Ronai, and D.L. Rimm, Subcellular localization of activating transcription factor 2 in melanoma specimens predicts patient survival. Cancer Res, 2003. 63(23): p. 8103-7.
- 50. Bhoumik, A., V. Ivanov, and Z. Ronai, *Activating transcription factor 2-derived peptides alter resistance of human tumor cell lines to ultraviolet irradiation and chemical treatment.* Clin Cancer Res, 2001. **7**(2): p. 331-42.
- 51. Gupta, S., D. Campbell, B. Derijard, and R.J. Davis, *Transcription factor ATF2 regulation by the JNK signal transduction pathway*. Science, 1995. 267(5196): p. 389-93.
- 52. Kim, S.J., S. Wagner, F. Liu, M.A. O'Reilly, P.D. Robbins, and M.R. Green, *Retinoblastoma gene product activates expression of the human TGF-beta 2 gene through transcription factor ATF-2.* Nature, 1992. **358**(6384): p. 331-4.
- 53. Shimizu, M., Y. Nomura, H. Suzuki, E. Ichikawa, A. Takeuchi, M. Suzuki, T. Nakamura, T. Nakajima, and K. Oda, *Activation of the rat cyclin A promoter by ATF2 and Jun family members and its suppression by ATF4*. Exp Cell Res, 1998. **239**(1): p. 93-103.
- 54. Ivanov, V.N. and Z. Ronai, *Down-regulation of tumor necrosis factor alpha expression* by activating transcription factor 2 increases UVC-induced apoptosis of late-stage melanoma cells. J Biol Chem, 1999. **274**(20): p. 14079-89.

- 55. Poser, I., D. Dominguez, A.G. de Herreros, A. Varnai, R. Buettner, and A.K. Bosserhoff, *Loss of E-cadherin expression in melanoma cells involves up-regulation of the transcriptional repressor Snail.* J Biol Chem, 2001. **276**(27): p. 24661-6.
- 56. Vannini, I., M. Bonafe, A. Tesei, M. Rosetti, F. Fabbri, G. Storci, P. Ulivi, G. Brigliadori, D. Amadori, and W. Zoli, *Short interfering RNA directed against the SLUG gene increases cell death induction in human melanoma cell lines exposed to cisplatin and fotemustine*. Cell Oncol, 2007. 29(4): p. 279-87.
- 57. Wolchok, J., *How recent advances in immunotherapy are changing the standard of care for patients with metastatic melanoma*. Ann Oncol, 2012. **23 Suppl 8**: p. viii15-viii21.
- 58. Garbe, C., T.K. Eigentler, U. Keilholz, A. Hauschild, and J.M. Kirkwood, Systematic review of medical treatment in melanoma: current status and future prospects. Oncologist, 2011. 16(1): p. 5-24.
- 59. Davar, D. and J.M. Kirkwood, *New therapies in the treatment of melanoma*. Expert Opin Investig Drugs, 2012. **21**(11): p. 1643-59.
- 60. O'Day, S.J., O. Hamid, and W.J. Urba, *Targeting cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4* (*CTLA-4*): a novel strategy for the treatment of melanoma and other malignancies. Cancer, 2007. **110**(12): p. 2614-27.
- Robert, C., L. Thomas, I. Bondarenko, S. O'Day, D.J. M, C. Garbe, C. Lebbe, J.F. Baurain, A. Testori, J.J. Grob, N. Davidson, J. Richards, M. Maio, A. Hauschild, W.H. Miller, Jr., P. Gascon, M. Lotem, K. Harmankaya, R. Ibrahim, S. Francis, T.T. Chen, R. Humphrey, A. Hoos, and J.D. Wolchok, *Ipilimumab plus dacarbazine for previously untreated metastatic melanoma*. N Engl J Med, 2011. **364**(26): p. 2517-26.

- 62. Schadendorf, D., J. Vaubel, E. Livingstone, and L. Zimmer, *Advances and perspectives in immunotherapy of melanoma*. Ann Oncol, 2012. **23 Suppl 10**: p. x104-8.
- 63. Topalian, S.L., F.S. Hodi, J.R. Brahmer, S.N. Gettinger, D.C. Smith, D.F. McDermott, J.D. Powderly, R.D. Carvajal, J.A. Sosman, M.B. Atkins, P.D. Leming, D.R. Spigel, S.J. Antonia, L. Horn, C.G. Drake, D.M. Pardoll, L. Chen, W.H. Sharfman, R.A. Anders, J.M. Taube, T.L. McMiller, H. Xu, A.J. Korman, M. Jure-Kunkel, S. Agrawal, D. McDonald, G.D. Kollia, A. Gupta, J.M. Wigginton, and M. Sznol, *Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer*. N Engl J Med, 2012. 366(26): p. 2443-54.
- 64. Bollag, G., J. Tsai, J. Zhang, C. Zhang, P. Ibrahim, K. Nolop, and P. Hirth, *Vemurafenib: the first drug approved for BRAF-mutant cancer*. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2012.
- Chapman, P.B., A. Hauschild, C. Robert, J.B. Haanen, P. Ascierto, J. Larkin, R. Dummer, C. Garbe, A. Testori, M. Maio, D. Hogg, P. Lorigan, C. Lebbe, T. Jouary, D. Schadendorf, A. Ribas, S.J. O'Day, J.A. Sosman, J.M. Kirkwood, A.M.M. Eggermont, B. Dreno, K. Nolop, J. Li, B. Nelson, J. Hou, R.J. Lee, K.T. Flaherty, G.A. McArthur, and B.-S. Grp, *Improved Survival with Vemurafenib in Melanoma with BRAF V600E Mutation*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2011. 364(26): p. 2507-2516.
- Sosman, J.A., K.B. Kim, L. Schuchter, R. Gonzalez, A.C. Pavlick, J.S. Weber, G.A. McArthur, T.E. Hutson, S.J. Moschos, K.T. Flaherty, P. Hersey, R. Kefford, D. Lawrence, I. Puzanov, K.D. Lewis, R.K. Amaravadi, B. Chmielowski, H.J. Lawrence, Y. Shyr, F. Ye, J. Li, K.B. Nolop, R.J. Lee, A.K. Joe, and A. Ribas, *Survival in BRAF*
*V600-Mutant Advanced Melanoma Treated with Vemurafenib.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2012. **366**(8): p. 707-714.

- Azer, M., A. Menzies, L. Haydu, R. Kefford, and G. Long, *Patterns of Progression in Patients with V600 Braf-Mutated Melanoma Metastatic to the Brain Treated with Dabrafenib (Gsk2118436)*. Asia-Pacific Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2012. 8: p. 48-48.
- 68. Villanueva, J., A. Vultur, J.T. Lee, R. Somasundaram, M. Fukunaga-Kalabis, A.K. Cipolla, B. Wubbenhorst, X. Xu, P.A. Gimotty, D. Kee, A.E. Santiago-Walker, R. Letrero, K. D'Andrea, A. Pushparajan, J.E. Hayden, K.D. Brown, S. Laquerre, G.A. McArthur, J.A. Sosman, K.L. Nathanson, and M. Herlyn, *Acquired resistance to BRAF inhibitors mediated by a RAF kinase switch in melanoma can be overcome by cotargeting MEK and IGF-1R/PI3K*. Cancer Cell, 2010. **18**(6): p. 683-95.
- Su, F., W.D. Bradley, Q. Wang, H. Yang, L. Xu, B. Higgins, K. Kolinsky, K. Packman, M.J. Kim, K. Trunzer, R.J. Lee, K. Schostack, J. Carter, T. Albert, S. Germer, J. Rosinski, M. Martin, M.E. Simcox, B. Lestini, D. Heimbrook, and G. Bollag, *Resistance to selective BRAF inhibition can be mediated by modest upstream pathway activation.* Cancer Res, 2012. **72**(4): p. 969-78.
- 70. Shimizu, T., A.W. Tolcher, K.P. Papadopoulos, M. Beeram, D.W. Rasco, L.S. Smith, S. Gunn, L. Smetzer, T.A. Mays, B. Kaiser, M.J. Wick, C. Alvarez, A. Cavazos, G.L. Mangold, and A. Patnaik, *The Clinical Effect of the Dual-Targeting Strategy Involving PI3K/AKT/mTOR and RAS/MEK/ERK Pathways in Patients with Advanced Cancer*. Clinical Cancer Research, 2012. **18**(8): p. 2316-2325.

- 71. Braeuer, R.R., M. Zigler, T. Kamiya, A.S. Dobroff, L. Huang, W. Choi, D.J. McConkey, E. Shoshan, A.K. Mobley, R. Song, A. Raz, and M. Bar-Eli, *Galectin-3 Contributes to Melanoma Growth and Metastasis via Regulation of NFAT1 and Autotaxin.* Cancer Res, 2012.
- 72. Barondes, S.H., D.N. Cooper, M.A. Gitt, and H. Leffler, *Galectins. Structure and function of a large family of animal lectins.* J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(33): p. 20807-10.
- 73. Cummings, R.D. and F.T. Liu, *Galectins*. 2009.
- 74. Lau, K.S. and J.W. Dennis, *N-Glycans in cancer progression*. Glycobiology, 2008.
  18(10): p. 750-60.
- Barondes, S.H., V. Castronovo, D.N. Cooper, R.D. Cummings, K. Drickamer, T. Feizi,
  M.A. Gitt, J. Hirabayashi, C. Hughes, K. Kasai, and et al., *Galectins: a family of animal beta-galactoside-binding lectins*. Cell, 1994. **76**(4): p. 597-8.
- 76. Kim, H.J., H.K. Jeon, Y.J. Cho, Y.A. Park, J.J. Choi, I.G. Do, S.Y. Song, Y.Y. Lee, C.H. Choi, T.J. Kim, D.S. Bae, J.W. Lee, and B.G. Kim, *High galectin-1 expression correlates with poor prognosis and is involved in epithelial ovarian cancer proliferation and invasion*. Eur J Cancer, 2012. **48**(12): p. 1914-21.
- 77. Kim, H.J., I.G. Do, H.K. Jeon, Y.J. Cho, Y.A. Park, J.J. Choi, C.O. Sung, Y.Y. Lee, C.H. Choi, T.J. Kim, B.G. Kim, J.W. Lee, and D.S. Bae, *Galectin 1 expression is associated with tumor invasion and metastasis in stage IB to IIA cervical cancer*. Hum Pathol, 2012.
- 78. Chung, L.Y., S.J. Tang, G.H. Sun, T.Y. Chou, T.S. Yeh, S.L. Yu, and K.H. Sun, Galectin-1 promotes lung cancer progression and chemoresistance by upregulating p38 MAPK, ERK, and cyclooxygenase-2. Clin Cancer Res, 2012. 18(15): p. 4037-47.

- 79. Ito, K. and S.J. Ralph, *Inhibiting galectin-1 reduces murine lung metastasis with increased CD4(+) and CD8 (+) T cells and reduced cancer cell adherence*. Clin Exp Metastasis, 2012. **29**(6): p. 561-72.
- Lefranc, F., V. Mathieu, and R. Kiss, Galectin-1 as an oncotarget in gliomas and melanomas. Oncotarget, 2012. 2(12): p. 892-3.
- Ito, K., K. Stannard, E. Gabutero, A.M. Clark, S.Y. Neo, S. Onturk, H. Blanchard, and S.J. Ralph, *Galectin-1 as a potent target for cancer therapy: role in the tumor microenvironment*. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 2012.
- Nguyen, J.T., D.P. Evans, M. Galvan, K.E. Pace, D. Leitenberg, T.N. Bui, and L.G. Baum, CD45 modulates galectin-1-induced T cell death: regulation by expression of core 2 O-glycans. J Immunol, 2001. 167(10): p. 5697-707.
- 83. Pace, K.E., H.P. Hahn, M. Pang, J.T. Nguyen, and L.G. Baum, *CD7 delivers a proapoptotic signal during galectin-1-induced T cell death.* J Immunol, 2000. **165**(5): p. 2331-4.
- 84. Hernandez, J.D., J.T. Nguyen, J. He, W. Wang, B. Ardman, J.M. Green, M. Fukuda, and L.G. Baum, *Galectin-1 binds different CD43 glycoforms to cluster CD43 and regulate T cell death*. J Immunol, 2006. **177**(8): p. 5328-36.
- Rubinstein, N., M. Alvarez, N.W. Zwirner, M.A. Toscano, J.M. Ilarregui, A. Bravo, J. Mordoh, L. Fainboim, O.L. Podhajcer, and G.A. Rabinovich, *Targeted inhibition of galectin-1 gene expression in tumor cells results in heightened T cell-mediated rejection; A potential mechanism of tumor-immune privilege*. Cancer Cell, 2004. 5(3): p. 241-51.

- Cedeno-Laurent, F., M.J. Opperman, S.R. Barthel, D. Hays, T. Schatton, Q. Zhan, X. He, K.L. Matta, J.G. Supko, M.H. Frank, G.F. Murphy, and C.J. Dimitroff, *Metabolic inhibition of galectin-1-binding carbohydrates accentuates antitumor immunity*. J Invest Dermatol, 2012. 132(2): p. 410-20.
- 87. Tinari, N., I. Kuwabara, M.E. Huflejt, P.F. Shen, S. Iacobelli, and F.T. Liu, *Glycoprotein 90K/MAC-2BP interacts with galectin-1 and mediates galectin-1-induced cell aggregation.* Int J Cancer, 2001. **91**(2): p. 167-72.
- Brodland, D.G. and J.A. Zitelli, *Mechanisms of metastasis*. J Am Acad Dermatol, 1992.
  27(1): p. 1-8.
- Rotblat, B., L. Belanis, H. Liang, R. Haklai, G. Elad-Zefadia, J.F. Hancock, Y. Kloog, and S.J. Plowman, *H-Ras nanocluster stability regulates the magnitude of MAPK signal output*. PLoS One, 2012. 5(8): p. e11991.
- 90. Paz, A., R. Haklai, G. Elad-Sfadia, E. Ballan, and Y. Kloog, *Galectin-1 binds oncogenic H-Ras to mediate Ras membrane anchorage and cell transformation*. Oncogene, 2001.
  20(51): p. 7486-93.
- 91. Wang, W., J.W. Park, J.L. Wang, and R.J. Patterson, *Immunoprecipitation of spliceosomal RNAs by antisera to galectin-1 and galectin-3*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2006.
  34(18): p. 5166-74.
- 92. Mathieu, V., M. Le Mercier, N. De Neve, S. Sauvage, T. Gras, I. Roland, F. Lefranc, and R. Kiss, *Galectin-1 knockdown increases sensitivity to temozolomide in a B16F10 mouse metastatic melanoma model.* J Invest Dermatol, 2007. **127**(10): p. 2399-410.
- 93. Kageshita, T., Y. Kashio, A. Yamauchi, M. Seki, M.J. Abedin, N. Nishi, H. Shoji, T. Nakamura, T. Ono, and M. Hirashima, *Possible role of galectin-9 in cell aggregation*

and apoptosis of human melanoma cell lines and its clinical significance. Int J Cancer, 2002. **99**(6): p. 809-16.

- 94. Braeuer, R.R., E. Shoshan, T. Kamiya, and M. Bar-Eli, *The sweet and bitter sides of galectins in melanoma progression*. Pigment Cell Melanoma Res, 2012. 25(5): p. 592-601.
- 95. Nobumoto, A., K. Nagahara, S. Oomizu, S. Katoh, N. Nishi, K. Takeshita, T. Niki, A. Tominaga, A. Yamauchi, and M. Hirashima, *Galectin-9 suppresses tumor metastasis by blocking adhesion to endothelium and extracellular matrices*. Glycobiology, 2008.
  18(9): p. 735-44.
- 96. Beheshti Zavareh, R., M.A. Sukhai, R. Hurren, M. Gronda, X. Wang, C.D. Simpson, N. Maclean, F. Zih, T. Ketela, C.J. Swallow, J. Moffat, D.R. Rose, H. Schachter, A.D. Schimmer, and J.W. Dennis, *Suppression of Cancer Progression by MGAT1 shRNA Knockdown*. PLoS One, 2012. 7(9): p. e43721.
- 97. Tsui, K.H., P.L. Chang, T.H. Feng, L.C. Chung, H.C. Sung, and H.H. Juang, *Evaluating the function of matriptase and N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase V in prostate cancer metastasis.* Anticancer Res, 2008. **28**(4A): p. 1993-9.
- 98. Krishnan, V., S.M. Bane, P.D. Kawle, K.N. Naresh, and R.D. Kalraiya, Altered melanoma cell surface glycosylation mediates organ specific adhesion and metastasis via lectin receptors on the lung vascular endothelium. Clin Exp Metastasis, 2005. 22(1): p. 11-24.
- 99. Radosavljevic, G., I. Jovanovic, I. Majstorovic, M. Mitrovic, V.J. Lisnic, N. Arsenijevic, S. Jonjic, and M.L. Lukic, *Deletion of galectin-3 in the host attenuates*

*metastasis of murine melanoma by modulating tumor adhesion and NK cell activity.* Clin Exp Metastasis, 2011. **28**(5): p. 451-62.

- 100. Zubieta, M.R., D. Furman, M. Barrio, A.I. Bravo, E. Domenichini, and J. Mordoh, Galectin-3 expression correlates with apoptosis of tumor-associated lymphocytes in human melanoma biopsies. Am J Pathol, 2006. 168(5): p. 1666-75.
- 101. Stillman, B.N., D.K. Hsu, M. Pang, C.F. Brewer, P. Johnson, F.T. Liu, and L.G. Baum, Galectin-3 and galectin-1 bind distinct cell surface glycoprotein receptors to induce T cell death. J Immunol, 2006. 176(2): p. 778-89.
- 102. Demotte, N., G. Wieers, P. Van Der Smissen, M. Moser, C. Schmidt, K. Thielemans, J.L. Squifflet, B. Weynand, J. Carrasco, C. Lurquin, P.J. Courtoy, and P. van der Bruggen, A galectin-3 ligand corrects the impaired function of human CD4 and CD8 tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and favors tumor rejection in mice. Cancer Res, 2010. 70(19): p. 7476-88.
- 103. Prieto, V.G., A.A. Mourad-Zeidan, V. Melnikova, M.M. Johnson, A. Lopez, A.H. Diwan, A.J. Lazar, S.S. Shen, P.S. Zhang, J.A. Reed, J.E. Gershenwald, A. Raz, and M. Bar-Eli, *Galectin-3 expression is associated with tumor progression and pattern of sun exposure in melanoma*. Clin Cancer Res, 2006. **12**(22): p. 6709-15.
- Jones, C., A. Mackay, A. Grigoriadis, A. Cossu, J.S. Reis-Filho, L. Fulford, T. Dexter, S. Davies, K. Bulmer, E. Ford, S. Parry, M. Budroni, G. Palmieri, A.M. Neville, M.J. O'Hare, and S.R. Lakhani, *Expression profiling of purified normal human luminal and myoepithelial breast cells: identification of novel prognostic markers for breast cancer*. Cancer Res, 2004. 64(9): p. 3037-45.

- 105. Bresalier, R.S., P.S. Yan, J.C. Byrd, R. Lotan, and A. Raz, *Expression of the endogenous galactose-binding protein galectin-3 correlates with the malignant potential of tumors in the central nervous system.* Cancer, 1997. **80**(4): p. 776-87.
- 106. Endo, K., S. Kohnoe, E. Tsujita, A. Watanabe, H. Nakashima, H. Baba, and Y. Maehara, *Galectin-3 expression is a potent prognostic marker in colorectal cancer*. Anticancer Res, 2005. 25(4): p. 3117-21.
- 107. Wang, Y.G., S.J. Kim, J.H. Baek, H.W. Lee, S.Y. Jeong, and K.H. Chun, Galectin-3 increases the motility of mouse melanoma cells by regulating matrix metalloproteinase*l expression*. Exp Mol Med, 2012. 44(6): p. 387-93.
- 108. Kobayashi, T., T. Shimura, T. Yajima, N. Kubo, K. Araki, S. Tsutsumi, H. Suzuki, H. Kuwano, and A. Raz, *Transient gene silencing of galectin-3 suppresses pancreatic cancer cell migration and invasion through degradation of beta-catenin.* Int J Cancer, 2011. **129**(12): p. 2775-86.
- 109. Wu, K.L., E.Y. Huang, E.W. Jhu, Y.H. Huang, W.H. Su, P.C. Chuang, and K.D. Yang, Overexpression of galectin-3 enhances migration of colon cancer cells related to activation of the K-Ras-Raf-Erk1/2 pathway. J Gastroenterol, 2012.
- Shalom-Feuerstein, R., S.J. Plowman, B. Rotblat, N. Ariotti, T. Tian, J.F. Hancock, and
  Y. Kloog, *K-ras nanoclustering is subverted by overexpression of the scaffold protein* galectin-3. Cancer Res, 2008. 68(16): p. 6608-16.
- 111. Levy, R., M. Grafi-Cohen, Z. Kraiem, and Y. Kloog, Galectin-3 promotes chronic activation of K-Ras and differentiation block in malignant thyroid carcinomas. Mol Cancer Ther, 2010. 9(8): p. 2208-19.

- 112. Elad-Sfadia, G., R. Haklai, E. Balan, and Y. Kloog, *Galectin-3 augments K-Ras* activation and triggers a Ras signal that attenuates ERK but not phosphoinositide 3-kinase activity. J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(33): p. 34922-30.
- Boscher, C., Y.Z. Zheng, R. Lakshminarayan, L. Johannes, J.W. Dennis, L.J. Foster, and I.R. Nabi, *Galectin-3 Protein Regulates Mobility of N-cadherin and GM1 Ganglioside at Cell-Cell Junctions of Mammary Carcinoma Cells.* J Biol Chem, 2012. 287(39): p. 32940-52.
- 114. Mourad-Zeidan, A.A., V.O. Melnikova, H. Wang, A. Raz, and M. Bar-Eli, *Expression* profiling of Galectin-3-depleted melanoma cells reveals its major role in melanoma cell plasticity and vasculogenic mimicry. Am J Pathol, 2008. **173**(6): p. 1839-52.
- 115. Nangia-Makker, P., T. Raz, L. Tait, V. Hogan, R. Fridman, and A. Raz, *Galectin-3 cleavage: a novel surrogate marker for matrix metalloproteinase activity in growing breast cancers.* Cancer Res, 2007. **67**(24): p. 11760-8.
- 116. Nangia-Makker, P., Y. Wang, T. Raz, L. Tait, V. Balan, V. Hogan, and A. Raz, *Cleavage of galectin-3 by matrix metalloproteases induces angiogenesis in breast cancer*. Int J Cancer, 2010. **127**(11): p. 2530-41.
- 117. Piccolo, E., N. Tinari, D. Semeraro, S. Traini, I. Fichera, A. Cumashi, R. La Sorda, F. Spinella, A. Bagnato, R. Lattanzio, M. D'Egidio, A. Di Risio, P. Stampolidis, M. Piantelli, C. Natoli, A. Ullrich, and S. Iacobelli, *LGALS3BP, lectin galactoside-binding soluble 3 binding protein, induces vascular endothelial growth factor in human breast cancer cells and promotes angiogenesis.* J Mol Med (Berl), 2012.

- 118. Markowska, A.I., K.C. Jefferies, and N. Panjwani, *Galectin-3 protein modulates cell* surface expression and activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 in human endothelial cells. J Biol Chem, 2011. **286**(34): p. 29913-21.
- Markowska, A.I., F.T. Liu, and N. Panjwani, *Galectin-3 is an important mediator of VEGF- and bFGF-mediated angiogenic response*. J Exp Med, 2010. 207(9): p. 1981-93.
- Youle, R.J. and A. Strasser, *The BCL-2 protein family: opposing activities that mediate cell death.* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2008. 9(1): p. 47-59.
- 121. Ow, Y.P., D.R. Green, Z. Hao, and T.W. Mak, *Cytochrome c: functions beyond respiration*. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2008. **9**(7): p. 532-42.
- 122. Gross, A., J.M. McDonnell, and S.J. Korsmeyer, *BCL-2 family members and the mitochondria in apoptosis*. Genes Dev, 1999. **13**(15): p. 1899-911.
- 123. Fukumori, T., H.O. Kanayama, and A. Raz, *The role of galectin-3 in cancer drug resistance*. Drug Resist Updat, 2007. **10**(3): p. 101-8.
- 124. Akahani, S., P. Nangia-Makker, H. Inohara, H.R. Kim, and A. Raz, Galectin-3: a novel antiapoptotic molecule with a functional BH1 (NWGR) domain of Bcl-2 family. Cancer Res, 1997. 57(23): p. 5272-6.
- 125. Mazurek, N., J. Conklin, J.C. Byrd, A. Raz, and R.S. Bresalier, *Phosphorylation of the beta-galactoside-binding protein galectin-3 modulates binding to its ligands*. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(46): p. 36311-5.
- 126. Yoshii, T., T. Fukumori, Y. Honjo, H. Inohara, H.R.C. Kim, and A. Raz, *Galectin-3 phosphorylation is required for its anti-apoptotic function and cell cycle arrest.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2002. **277**(9): p. 6852-6857.

- 127. Takenaka, Y., T. Fukumori, T. Yoshii, N. Oka, H. Inohara, H.R.C. Kim, R.S. Bresalier, and A. Raz, Nuclear export of phosphorylated galectin-3 regulates its antiapoptotic activity in response to chemotherapeutic drugs. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 2004. 24(10): p. 4395-4406.
- 128. Yoshii, T., T. Fukumori, Y. Honjo, H. Inohara, H.R. Kim, and A. Raz, *Galectin-3 phosphorylation is required for its anti-apoptotic function and cell cycle arrest.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(9): p. 6852-7.
- 129. Mazurek, N., J.C. Byrd, Y. Sun, M. Hafley, K. Ramirez, J. Burks, and R.S. Bresalier, Cell-surface galectin-3 confers resistance to TRAIL by impeding trafficking of death receptors in metastatic colon adenocarcinoma cells. Cell Death Differ, 2012. 19(3): p. 523-33.
- 130. Inohara, H. and A. Raz, Effects of natural complex carbohydrate (citrus pectin) on murine melanoma cell properties related to galectin-3 functions. Glycoconj J, 1994.
  11(6): p. 527-32.
- 131. Pienta, K.J., H. Naik, A. Akhtar, K. Yamazaki, T.S. Replogle, J. Lehr, T.L. Donat, L. Tait, V. Hogan, and A. Raz, *Inhibition of spontaneous metastasis in a rat prostate cancer model by oral administration of modified citrus pectin.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 1995.
  87(5): p. 348-53.
- 132. Nangia-Makker, P., V. Hogan, Y. Honjo, S. Baccarini, L. Tait, R. Bresalier, and A. Raz, Inhibition of human cancer cell growth and metastasis in nude mice by oral intake of modified citrus pectin. J Natl Cancer Inst, 2002. 94(24): p. 1854-62.

- Vayssade, M., N. Sengkhamparn, R. Verhoef, C. Delaigue, O. Goundiam, P. Vigneron,
   A.G. Voragen, H.A. Schols, and M.D. Nagel, *Antiproliferative and proapoptotic* actions of okra pectin on B16F10 melanoma cells. Phytother Res, 2010. 24(7): p. 982-9.
- 134. Zou, J., V.V. Glinsky, L.A. Landon, L. Matthews, and S.L. Deutscher, *Peptides specific to the galectin-3 carbohydrate recognition domain inhibit metastasis-associated cancer cell adhesion*. Carcinogenesis, 2005. 26(2): p. 309-18.
- 135. Deutscher, S.L., S.D. Figueroa, and S.R. Kumar, *Tumor targeting and SPECT imaging properties of an (111)In-labeled galectin-3 binding peptide in prostate carcinoma*. Nucl Med Biol, 2009. **36**(2): p. 137-46.
- Salomonsson, E., M.C. Carlsson, V. Osla, R. Hendus-Altenburger, B. Kahl-Knutson, C.T. Oberg, A. Sundin, R. Nilsson, E. Nordberg-Karlsson, U.J. Nilsson, A. Karlsson, J.M. Rini, and H. Leffler, *Mutational tuning of galectin-3 specificity and biological function.* J Biol Chem, 2010. 285(45): p. 35079-91.
- 137. Cadigan, K.M. and Y.I. Liu, *Wnt signaling: complexity at the surface*. J Cell Sci, 2006.
  119(Pt 3): p. 395-402.
- 138. Lucero, O.M., D.W. Dawson, R.T. Moon, and A.J. Chien, A re-evaluation of the "oncogenic" nature of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in melanoma and other cancers. Curr Oncol Rep, 2010. 12(5): p. 314-8.
- 139. Bachmann, I.M., O. Straume, H.E. Puntervoll, M.B. Kalvenes, and L.A. Akslen, Importance of P-cadherin, beta-catenin, and Wnt5a/frizzled for progression of melanocytic tumors and prognosis in cutaneous melanoma. Clin Cancer Res, 2005.
  11(24 Pt 1): p. 8606-14.

- 140. Kageshita, T., C.V. Hamby, T. Ishihara, K. Matsumoto, T. Saida, and T. Ono, *Loss of beta-catenin expression associated with disease progression in malignant melanoma*. Br J Dermatol, 2001. 145(2): p. 210-6.
- 141. De Panfilis, G., D. Ferrari, S. Santoro, R. Ricci, M. Lombardi, G. Pedrazzi, C. Pepe, C. Cortelazzi, and M. Santini, *Cytoplasmic beta-catenin is lacking in a subset of melanoma-associated naevi, but is detectable in naevus-associated melanomas: potential implications for melanoma tumorigenesis?* Br J Dermatol, 2009. 160(3): p. 600-8.
- 142. Maelandsmo, G.M., R. Holm, J.M. Nesland, O. Fodstad, and V.A. Florenes, *Reduced beta-catenin expression in the cytoplasm of advanced-stage superficial spreading malignant melanoma*. Clin Cancer Res, 2003. 9(9): p. 3383-8.
- 143. Gallagher, S.J., F. Rambow, M. Kumasaka, D. Champeval, A. Bellacosa, V. Delmas, and L. Larue, *Beta-catenin inhibits melanocyte migration but induces melanoma metastasis*. Oncogene, 2012.
- Bittner, M., P. Meltzer, Y. Chen, Y. Jiang, E. Seftor, M. Hendrix, M. Radmacher, R. Simon, Z. Yakhini, A. Ben-Dor, N. Sampas, E. Dougherty, E. Wang, F. Marincola, C. Gooden, J. Lueders, A. Glatfelter, P. Pollock, J. Carpten, E. Gillanders, D. Leja, K. Dietrich, C. Beaudry, M. Berens, D. Alberts, and V. Sondak, *Molecular classification of cutaneous malignant melanoma by gene expression profiling*. Nature, 2000. 406(6795): p. 536-40.
- 145. Shimura, T., Y. Takenaka, S. Tsutsumi, V. Hogan, A. Kikuchi, and A. Raz, *Galectin-3*, a novel binding partner of beta-catenin. Cancer Res, 2004. 64(18): p. 6363-7.

- 146. Shimura, T., Y. Takenaka, T. Fukumori, S. Tsutsumi, K. Okada, V. Hogan, A. Kikuchi, H. Kuwano, and A. Raz, *Implication of galectin-3 in Wnt signaling*. Cancer Res, 2005.
  65(9): p. 3535-7.
- 147. Lin, H.M., R.G. Pestell, A. Raz, and H.R. Kim, *Galectin-3 enhances cyclin D(1)* promoter activity through SP1 and a cAMP-responsive element in human breast epithelial cells. Oncogene, 2002. **21**(52): p. 8001-10.
- 148. Mazurek, N., Y.J. Sun, J.E. Price, L. Ramdas, W. Schober, P. Nangia-Makker, J.C. Byrd, A. Raz, and R.S. Bresalier, *Phosphorylation of galectin-3 contributes to malignant transformation of human epithelial cells via modulation of unique sets of genes*. Cancer Res, 2005. **65**(23): p. 10767-75.
- 149. Li, L., J.E. Price, D. Fan, R.D. Zhang, C.D. Bucana, and I.J. Fidler, *Correlation of growth capacity of human tumor cells in hard agarose with their in vivo proliferative capacity at specific metastatic sites.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 1989. **81**(18): p. 1406-12.
- 150. Luca, M., S. Xie, M. Gutman, S. Huang, and M. Bar-Eli, Abnormalities in the CDKN2 (p16INK4/MTS-1) gene in human melanoma cells: relevance to tumor growth and metastasis. Oncogene, 1995. 11(7): p. 1399-402.
- 151. Verschraegen, C.F., B.C. Giovanella, J.T. Mendoza, A.J. Kozielski, and J.S. Stehlin, Jr., Specific organ metastases of human melanoma cells injected into the arterial circulation of nude mice. Anticancer Res, 1991. **11**(2): p. 529-35.
- Morris, A.J. and S.S. Smyth, *Measurement of autotaxin/lysophospholipase D activity*. Methods Enzymol, 2007. 434: p. 89-104.
- 153. Patrone, G., F. Puppo, R. Cusano, M. Scaranari, I. Ceccherini, A. Puliti, and R. Ravazzolo, *Nuclear run-on assay using biotin labeling, magnetic bead capture and*

*analysis by fluorescence-based RT-PCR*. Biotechniques, 2000. **29**(5): p. 1012-4, 1016-7.

- 154. Nangia-Makker, P., V. Hogan, Y. Honjo, S. Baccarini, L. Tait, R. Bresalier, and A. Raz, Inhibition of human cancer cell growth and metastasis in nude mice by oral intake of modified citrus pectin. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 2002. 94(24): p. 1854-1862.
- 155. Sathisha, U.V., S. Jayaram, M.A.H. Nayaka, and S.M. Dharmesh, *Inhibition of galectin-*3 mediated cellular interactions by pectic polysaccharides from dietary sources. Glycoconjugate Journal, 2007. 24(8): p. 497-507.
- 156. Inohara, H. and A. Raz, Effects of Natural Complex Carbohydrate (Citrus Pectin) on Murine Melanoma Cell Properties Related to Galectin-3 Functions. Glycoconjugate Journal, 1994. 11(6): p. 527-532.
- 157. O'Driscoll, L., R. Linehan, Y.H. Liang, H. Joyce, I. Oglesby, and M. Clynes, *Galectin-3 expression alters adhesion, motility and invasion in a lung cell line (DLKP), in vitro.* Anticancer Res, 2002. 22(6A): p. 3117-25.
- Pretlow, T.P., J.M. Bailey, G.A. Herrera, A.M. Pitts, and T.G. Pretlow, *Culture in soft agar of melanoma cells separated from human peripheral blood*. Br J Cancer, 1986.
   53(3): p. 411-4.
- 159. Cifone, M.A. and I.J. Fidler, *Correlation of patterns of anchorage-independent growth with in vivo behavior of cells from a murine fibrosarcoma*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1980. **77**(2): p. 1039-43.

- 160. Guo, L., D. Fan, F. Zhang, J.E. Price, J.S. Lee, D. Marchetti, I.J. Fidler, and R.R. Langley, Selection of brain metastasis-initiating breast cancer cells determined by growth on hard agar. Am J Pathol, 2011. 178(5): p. 2357-66.
- 161. Melo, F.H., D. Butera, S. Junqueira Mde, D.K. Hsu, A.M. da Silva, F.T. Liu, M.F. Santos, and R. Chammas, *The promigratory activity of the matricellular protein galectin-3 depends on the activation of PI-3 kinase*. PLoS One, 2011. 6(12): p. e29313.
- 162. Margadant, C., I. van den Bout, A.L. van Boxtel, V.L. Thijssen, and A. Sonnenberg, Epigenetic regulation of galectin-3 expression by betal integrins promotes cell adhesion and migration. J Biol Chem, 2012.
- 163. Stracke, M.L., H.C. Krutzsch, E.J. Unsworth, A. Arestad, V. Cioce, E. Schiffmann, and L.A. Liotta, *Identification, purification, and partial sequence analysis of autotaxin, a novel motility-stimulating protein.* J Biol Chem, 1992. 267(4): p. 2524-9.
- 164. Lee, H.Y., T. Clair, P.T. Mulvaney, E.C. Woodhouse, S. Aznavoorian, L.A. Liotta, and M.L. Stracke, *Stimulation of tumor cell motility linked to phosphodiesterase catalytic site of autotaxin.* J Biol Chem, 1996. **271**(40): p. 24408-12.
- 165. Umezu-Goto, M., Y. Kishi, A. Taira, K. Hama, N. Dohmae, K. Takio, T. Yamori, G.B. Mills, K. Inoue, J. Aoki, and H. Arai, *Autotaxin has lysophospholipase D activity leading to tumor cell growth and motility by lysophosphatidic acid production.* J Cell Biol, 2002. **158**(2): p. 227-33.
- 166. Yanagida, K. and S. Ishii, Non-Edg family LPA receptors: the cutting edge of LPA research. J Biochem, 2011. 150(3): p. 223-32.

- 167. Choi, J.W., D.R. Herr, K. Noguchi, Y.C. Yung, C.W. Lee, T. Mutoh, M.E. Lin, S.T. Teo, K.E. Park, A.N. Mosley, and J. Chun, *LPA receptors: subtypes and biological actions*. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 2010. **50**: p. 157-86.
- 168. An, S., T. Bleu, Y. Zheng, and E.J. Goetzl, Recombinant human G protein-coupled lysophosphatidic acid receptors mediate intracellular calcium mobilization. Mol Pharmacol, 1998. 54(5): p. 881-8.
- 169. Park, S.Y., K.J. Jeong, N. Panupinthu, S. Yu, J. Lee, J.W. Han, J.M. Kim, J.S. Lee, J. Kang, C.G. Park, G.B. Mills, and H.Y. Lee, *Lysophosphatidic acid augments human hepatocellular carcinoma cell invasion through LPA1 receptor and MMP-9 expression*. Oncogene, 2011. **30**(11): p. 1351-9.
- 170. Liu, S., M. Umezu-Goto, M. Murph, Y. Lu, W. Liu, F. Zhang, S. Yu, L.C. Stephens, X. Cui, G. Murrow, K. Coombes, W. Muller, M.C. Hung, C.M. Perou, A.V. Lee, X. Fang, and G.B. Mills, *Expression of autotaxin and lysophosphatidic acid receptors increases mammary tumorigenesis, invasion, and metastases*. Cancer Cell, 2009. **15**(6): p. 539-50.
- 171. Rao, A., C. Luo, and P.G. Hogan, *Transcription factors of the NFAT family: regulation and function*. Annu Rev Immunol, 1997. **15**: p. 707-47.
- 172. Shaw, J.P., P.J. Utz, D.B. Durand, J.J. Toole, E.A. Emmel, and G.R. Crabtree, *Identification of a putative regulator of early T cell activation genes*. Science, 1988.
  241(4862): p. 202-5.
- 173. Sieber, M. and R. Baumgrass, *Novel inhibitors of the calcineurin/NFATc hub alternatives to CsA and FK506?* Cell Commun Signal, 2009. **7**: p. 25.

- 174. Mattila, P.S., K.S. Ullman, S. Fiering, E.A. Emmel, M. McCutcheon, G.R. Crabtree, and L.A. Herzenberg, *The actions of cyclosporin A and FK506 suggest a novel step in the activation of T lymphocytes*. EMBO J, 1990. **9**(13): p. 4425-33.
- Loh, C., K.T. Shaw, J. Carew, J.P. Viola, C. Luo, B.A. Perrino, and A. Rao, *Calcineurin binds the transcription factor NFAT1 and reversibly regulates its activity.* J Biol Chem, 1996. 271(18): p. 10884-91.
- 176. Loh, C., J.A. Carew, J. Kim, P.G. Hogan, and A. Rao, *T-cell receptor stimulation elicits an early phase of activation and a later phase of deactivation of the transcription factor NFAT1*. Mol Cell Biol, 1996. **16**(7): p. 3945-54.
- 177. Shibasaki, F., E.R. Price, D. Milan, and F. McKeon, Role of kinases and the phosphatase calcineurin in the nuclear shuttling of transcription factor NF-AT4. Nature, 1996. 382(6589): p. 370-3.
- 178. Zheng, J., F. Fang, X. Zeng, T.R. Medler, A.A. Fiorillo, and C.V. Clevenger, *Negative cross talk between NFAT1 and Stat5 signaling in breast cancer*. Mol Endocrinol, 2011.
  25(12): p. 2054-64.
- 179. Yiu, G.K. and A. Toker, *NFAT induces breast cancer cell invasion by promoting the induction of cyclooxygenase-2.* J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(18): p. 12210-7.
- Chen, M. and K.L. O'Connor, Integrin alpha6beta4 promotes expression of autotaxin/ENPP2 autocrine motility factor in breast carcinoma cells. Oncogene, 2005.
   24(32): p. 5125-30.
- 181. Flockhart, R.J., J.L. Armstrong, N.J. Reynolds, and P.E. Lovat, NFAT signalling is a novel target of oncogenic BRAF in metastatic melanoma. Br J Cancer, 2009. 101(8): p. 1448-55.

- 182. Werneck, M.B., A. Vieira-de-Abreu, R. Chammas, and J.P. Viola, NFAT1 transcription factor is central in the regulation of tissue microenvironment for tumor metastasis. Cancer Immunol Immunother, 2011. 60(4): p. 537-46.
- 183. Perotti, V., P. Baldassari, I. Bersani, A. Molla, C. Vegetti, E. Tassi, J. Dal Col, R. Dolcetti, A. Anichini, and R. Mortarini, *NFATc2 Is a Potential Therapeutic Target in Human Melanoma*. J Invest Dermatol, 2012. **132**(11): p. 2652-60.
- 184. Klemke, M., M.T. Rafael, G.H. Wabnitz, T. Weschenfelder, M.H. Konstandin, N. Garbi, F. Autschbach, W. Hartschuh, and Y. Samstag, *Phosphorylation of ectopically expressed L-plastin enhances invasiveness of human melanoma cells*. Int J Cancer, 2007. **120**(12): p. 2590-9.
- 185. Giatromanolaki, A., E. Sivridis, C. Kouskoukis, K.C. Gatter, A.L. Harris, and M.I. Koukourakis, *Hypoxia-inducible factors 1alpha and 2alpha are related to vascular endothelial growth factor expression and a poorer prognosis in nodular malignant melanomas of the skin.* Melanoma Res, 2003. **13**(5): p. 493-501.
- 186. Matarrese, P., B. Ascione, L. Ciarlo, R. Vona, C. Leonetti, M. Scarsella, A.M. Mileo, C. Catricala, M.G. Paggi, and W. Malorni, *Cathepsin B inhibition interferes with metastatic potential of human melanoma: an in vitro and in vivo study.* Mol Cancer, 2010. 9: p. 207.
- 187. Quintanilla-Dieck, M.J., K. Codriansky, M. Keady, J. Bhawan, and T.M. Runger, *Cathepsin K in melanoma invasion*. J Invest Dermatol, 2008. **128**(9): p. 2281-8.
- 188. Lin, N., C. Huang, J. Tian, J. Tao, J. Zhang, L. Yang, Y. Li, Y. Liu, S. Chen, G. Shen, J. Li, C. Wang, and Y. Tu, *The expression of endothelin receptor B in melanoma cells*

A375 and Sk-mel-1 and the proliferative effects of endothelin 3 on A375 cells. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci, 2007. **27**(5): p. 611-3.

- 189. Montgomery, J.P. and P.H. Patterson, *Endothelin receptor B antagonists decrease glioma cell viability independently of their cognate receptor*. BMC Cancer, 2008. 8: p. 354.
- 190. Fishman, D.A., Y. Liu, S.M. Ellerbroek, and M.S. Stack, *Lysophosphatidic acid* promotes matrix metalloproteinase (*MMP*) activation and *MMP*-dependent invasion in ovarian cancer cells. Cancer Res, 2001. **61**(7): p. 3194-9.
- 191. Mu, H., T.L. Calderone, M.A. Davies, V.G. Prieto, H. Wang, G.B. Mills, M. Bar-Eli, and J.E. Gershenwald, *Lysophosphatidic acid induces lymphangiogenesis and IL-8* production in vitro in human lymphatic endothelial cells. Am J Pathol, 2012. 180(5): p. 2170-81.
- 192. Rivera-Lopez, C.M., A.L. Tucker, and K.R. Lynch, *Lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) and angiogenesis*. Angiogenesis, 2008. **11**(3): p. 301-10.
- 193. Yoeli-Lerner, M., Y.R. Chin, C.K. Hansen, and A. Toker, *Akt/protein kinase b and glycogen synthase kinase-3beta signaling pathway regulates cell migration through the NFAT1 transcription factor*. Mol Cancer Res, 2009. **7**(3): p. 425-32.
- 194. Teo, S.T., Y.C. Yung, D.R. Herr, and J. Chun, *Lysophosphatidic acid in vascular development and disease*. IUBMB Life, 2009. **61**(8): p. 791-9.
- 195. Nangia-Makker, P., Y. Honjo, R. Sarvis, S. Akahani, V. Hogan, K.J. Pienta, and A. Raz, *Galectin-3 induces endothelial cell morphogenesis and angiogenesis*. Am J Pathol, 2000. **156**(3): p. 899-909.

- Tanaka, M., S. Okudaira, Y. Kishi, R. Ohkawa, S. Iseki, M. Ota, S. Noji, Y. Yatomi, J. Aoki, and H. Arai, *Autotaxin stabilizes blood vessels and is required for embryonic vasculature by producing lysophosphatidic acid.* J Biol Chem, 2006. 281(35): p. 25822-30.
- 197. Saunders, L.P., A. Ouellette, R. Bandle, W.C. Chang, H. Zhou, R.N. Misra, E.M. De La Cruz, and D.T. Braddock, *Identification of small-molecule inhibitors of autotaxin that inhibit melanoma cell migration and invasion*. Mol Cancer Ther, 2008. 7(10): p. 3352-62.
- 198. Yukiura, H., K. Hama, K. Nakanaga, M. Tanaka, Y. Asaoka, S. Okudaira, N. Arima, A. Inoue, T. Hashimoto, H. Arai, A. Kawahara, H. Nishina, and J. Aoki, *Autotaxin regulates vascular development via multiple lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) receptors in zebrafish.* J Biol Chem, 2011. 286(51): p. 43972-83.
- 199. Nam, S.W., T. Clair, Y.S. Kim, A. McMarlin, E. Schiffmann, L.A. Liotta, and M.L. Stracke, *Autotaxin (NPP-2), a metastasis-enhancing motogen, is an angiogenic factor*. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(18): p. 6938-44.
- 200. Ptaszynska, M.M., M.L. Pendrak, M.L. Stracke, and D.D. Roberts, *Autotaxin signaling* via lysophosphatidic acid receptors contributes to vascular endothelial growth factorinduced endothelial cell migration. Mol Cancer Res, 2010. **8**(3): p. 309-21.
- 201. Brindley, D.N., F.T. Lin, and G.J. Tigyi, *Role of the autotaxin-lysophosphatidate axis in cancer resistance to chemotherapy and radiotherapy*. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2013.
  1831(1): p. 74-85.
- 202. Lee, H.Y., G.U. Bae, I.D. Jung, J.S. Lee, Y.K. Kim, S.H. Noh, M.L. Stracke, C.G. Park, H.W. Lee, and J.W. Han, *Autotaxin promotes motility via G protein-coupled*

*phosphoinositide 3-kinase gamma in human melanoma cells.* FEBS Lett, 2002. **515**(1-3): p. 137-40.

- 203. Jung, I.D., J. Lee, K.B. Lee, C.G. Park, Y.K. Kim, D.W. Seo, D. Park, H.W. Lee, J.W. Han, and H.Y. Lee, Activation of p21-activated kinase 1 is required for lysophosphatidic acid-induced focal adhesion kinase phosphorylation and cell motility in human melanoma A2058 cells. Eur J Biochem, 2004. 271(8): p. 1557-65.
- 204. Kranenburg, O. and W.H. Moolenaar, *Ras-MAP kinase signaling by lysophosphatidic acid and other G protein-coupled receptor agonists*. Oncogene, 2001. 20(13): p. 1540-6.
- 205. Van Leeuwen, F.N., C. Olivo, S. Grivell, B.N. Giepmans, J.G. Collard, and W.H. Moolenaar, *Rac activation by lysophosphatidic acid LPA1 receptors through the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Tiam1*. J Biol Chem, 2003. **278**(1): p. 400-6.
- 206. Hwang, Y.S., J.C. Hodge, N. Sivapurapu, and P.F. Lindholm, *Lysophosphatidic acid stimulates PC-3 prostate cancer cell Matrigel invasion through activation of RhoA and NF-kappaB activity*. Mol Carcinog, 2006. **45**(7): p. 518-29.
- 207. Li, T.T., M. Alemayehu, A.I. Aziziyeh, C. Pape, M. Pampillo, L.M. Postovit, G.B. Mills, A.V. Babwah, and M. Bhattacharya, *Beta-arrestin/Ral signaling regulates lysophosphatidic acid-mediated migration and invasion of human breast tumor cells.* Mol Cancer Res, 2009. 7(7): p. 1064-77.
- 208. Fukumori, T., N. Oka, Y. Takenaka, P. Nangia-Makker, E. Elsamman, T. Kasai, M. Shono, H.O. Kanayama, J. Ellerhorst, R. Lotan, and A. Raz, *Galectin-3 regulates mitochondrial stability and antiapoptotic function in response to anticancer drug in prostate cancer*. Cancer Res, 2006. **66**(6): p. 3114-9.

- 209. Harper, K., D. Arsenault, S. Boulay-Jean, A. Lauzier, F. Lucien, and C.M. Dubois, Autotaxin promotes cancer invasion via the lysophosphatidic acid receptor 4: participation of the cyclic AMP/EPAC/Rac1 signaling pathway in invadopodia formation. Cancer Res, 2010. **70**(11): p. 4634-43.
- 210. Martinez-Martinez, S. and J.M. Redondo, *Inhibitors of the calcineurin/NFAT pathway*.
   Curr Med Chem, 2004. 11(8): p. 997-1007.
- 211. Jacobs, J.F., S. Nierkens, C.G. Figdor, I.J. de Vries, and G.J. Adema, *Regulatory T cells in melanoma: the final hurdle towards effective immunotherapy?* Lancet Oncol, 2012.
  13(1): p. e32-42.
- 212. Fric, J., T. Zelante, A.Y. Wong, A. Mertes, H.B. Yu, and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli, *NFAT control of innate immunity*. Blood, 2012. **120**(7): p. 1380-9.
- 213. Sathisha, U.V., S. Jayaram, M.A. Harish Nayaka, and S.M. Dharmesh, *Inhibition of galectin-3 mediated cellular interactions by pectic polysaccharides from dietary sources*. Glycoconj J, 2007. 24(8): p. 497-507.
- 214. Platt, D. and A. Raz, *Modulation of the lung colonization of B16-F1 melanoma cells by citrus pectin.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 1992. **84**(6): p. 438-42.

Russell Ronald Braeuer was born and raised in Wharton, Texas and is the son of Rudolph R. Braeuer and Sharon A. Newsom. After graduating from Wharton High School in 2004, he began his undergraduate studies at the University of Texas at San Antonio, San Antonio Texas. During the summer of 2007 he joined the ten week summer fellowship program at the University of North Texas Health Science Center, Forth Worth Texas. During the Fall of 2007, Russell graduated from the University of Texas at San Antonio, obtaining a Bachelor of Science degree in Biology. In August of 2008, he entered the Ph.D. graduate program at the University of Texas Health Sciences Center at Houston Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences. In April 2009, he joined the lab of Dr. Menashe Bar-Eli at the university of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center to study melanoma and the molecular changes that lead to the metastatic phenotype.